This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of
to make the world’s books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was nevel
to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domair
are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that’s often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book’s long journey fro
publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belon
public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have take
prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

+ Make non-commercial use of the fild&e designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these fil
personal, non-commercial purposes.

+ Refrain from automated queryirigo not send automated queries of any sort to Google’s system: If you are conducting research on m:
translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encc
use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.

+ Maintain attributionThe Google “watermark” you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping ther
additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.

+ Keep it legalWhatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume |
because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users
countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can’t offer guidance on whether any specific
any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book’s appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in al
anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google’s mission is to organize the world’s information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps
discover the world’s books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on
athttp://books.google.com/ |



http://books.google.com/books?id=sdFczYzblKQC

Digitized by GOOSI(’,



VS 12596 - 30

Barbard College Librarp

FROM THE GIFT OF

JAMES FREEMAN CURTIS
(Class of 1899)

" OF BOSTON

FOR BOOKS ON THE WESTERN
UNITED STATES




Digitized by GOOSI(’,



Digitized by GOOS[Q










Digitized by GOOS[Q



(*4wo11931105 £183q}-] [sUONIBN U} 3|y U0 3in3did sjys3 jo £do))
pasn sem [ess Anueyg uolBuiysepy Iyl jo
uorssazdwl 381y UIYM DYPWO 8,713 £IUNo) FOLIPI1g O I01IUY



Shenandoah Valley
Pioneers and Their
Descendants

A History of
Frederick County, Virginia

(ILLUSTRATED)

Seal of Old County Cowurt, Adopted 1758

From its Formation in 1738 to 1908

Compiled Mainly from Original Records of Old
Frederick County, now Hampshire, Berkeley,
Shenandoah, Jefferson, Hardy, Clarke,
Warren, Morgan and Frederick

“7T. K. Cartmell
Clerk of the Old County Court




—

LS 1759¢. 30

g -"JJQ

\2\';'\,‘\

EG@
MAR 24 1914
LI;R——Kaﬂ.

bt

COPYRIGHT
1909
By T. K. CARTMELL

L
\

>

PRINTED BY
THR EDDY PRESS CORPORATION
WINCHESTRR, VA.




PREFACE

The title of this volume should indicate to
the reader, what he will find for his edification.
Our County has never had her history published.
Successive generations for one hundred and fifty
years, were busy in their day making history;
but no period produced the man who would turn
aside from his daily avocations, to collate the
facts and place them before the public in form
for convenience and preservation. We had such
men as Kercheval, Howe, Foote, Norris and
several others, to publish many historical facts;
but none of these writers ever gave us a history
of Frederick County. Their treatment of histor-
ical facts was so general in character, that we
gather very little from their attractive style, that
can be utilized as county history. Our County
had useful history; her subdivisions have the
same. Much of it has been gradually hidden
away in the accumulation of old files and old
records of the county and the nine counties em-
braced in Old Frederick.

The State can best preserve her history
through the labor and skill of the county his-
torian. Some of the Virginia Counties have
published histories, prepared by competent men.

The writer, many years ago, while County
Clerk, discovered so much unpublished history
of the Old County, that he was induced to adopt
some plan to preserve its identity; and out of
thé multitude of memoranda, to secure a con-
venient hand-book of reference for his office.
He had no intention to publish a history; know-
ing full well that much additional effort would
be required to gather matter for a comprehen-
sive history of the County. However, he hoped
that some gifted son would appear and take up
the matter, and in this way produce a volume of
interesting facts. For twenty-five years he wait-
ed; but no one seemed inclined to undertake the
task. In 1904, the opinion was so decidedly ex-
pressed that the Old Clerk was the proper one
to use the matter collected, that he was induced
to undertake the authorship of the volume he
now presents to the reader. The descendants
of the pioneers will find much to interest them;

and the general reader will be astonished to see

the valuable matter in easy form for his study.
The author has avoided fiction, and traditionary

history unless corroborated to his satisfaction.

He has given much from his personal knowledge
of facts, as they occurred during his long inter-
course with the people of his native county. The
work has been intensely interesting to him,
though one of great labor. In the course of
study, he has spent much time in all the clerk’s
offices of the Valley and other parts of the State.
The State Library and Land Office were syste-
matically examined, as only an old clerk could,
to obtain matter to settle long-disputed questions
pertaining to the history of Royal and Minor
Grants. Such evidence was required to deter-
mine who were the pioneers and first settlers in
the Valley. Old musty records were brought
forth, that many had thought were destroyed in
the evacuation of Richmond in the Spring of
1865; on which the author had spent several
days in finding a clue, and then many more be-
fore he found the record. (These valuable rec-
ords are now being indexed and will be more
accessible to studeats). The History Building
at the Jamestown Exposition contained much to
show who hundreds of the pioneers were, and
whence they came. Several weeks were profit-
ably spent there. This induced the author to
visit Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey and
New York, to follow clues. Ulster County, New
York, has a mine of information concerning the
early settlers in the Shenandoah. The Jerseys
gave much that the author has used in various
forms. From these sources, we have much mat-
ter not heretofore published. National and
State Libraries, through efficient officers, ex-
tended rare courtesies. The War Department
extended special privileges. Mt. Vernon was
visited, where unusual privileges were given.
In addition to thes¢ sources of information,
the author has been assisted in the preparation
of his work by a careful study of the works of
Washington Irving and Sparks’ Life of Wash-
ington; Washington’s Diary and Letters; Jeffer-
son’s Notes; Macaulay’s History of England;
Gabriel Muhlenburg’s Life of General Muhlen-
burg; Meade’s History of Old Families, Minis-
ters and Churches; Hawk’s History of Episco-
pal Church; Sprague’s Annals of the Lutheran
Church; J. F. Sachse’s German Element of Penn-
sylvania; Herman Schuricht’'s Germans of Penn-
sylvania and Virginia; Max von Eelking’s Ger-
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man Allied Troops, Hessians, etc.; (translated) ;
Kirchner's History of Emmigrants; Bishop As-
bury’s Journal; Fithian’s Journal; James R.
Graham, D.D., Planting of Presbyterianism in
the Northern Neck; Foote’s Sketches of Vir-
ginia and North Carolina; Popp’s Journal, Re-
lating to Hessian Soldiers in Virginia; Staple-
ton’s Huguenots; Bowman’s History of the
George Rogers Clark’s Expedition; Hinke’s Ger-
man Reformed Colony in Virginia; W. T. Saf-
fel’'s Records of the Revolutionary War, and
3rd Edition by Charles C. Saffell; Thirty Thous-
and Names of Emigrants, 1727—1776, published
by Leary, Stuart & Co., Philadelphia; John
Lederer’s Discoveries of Wild Countries in Vir-
ginia and North Carolina; Hening’s Virginia
Statutes; Saml. Shepherd’s List of Old Soldiers;
W. G. and Mary M. Stanard’s Colonial History;
Keith’s History of the Quakers; Calendar of
Virginia State papers; Virgil A. Lewis’ History
of the Virginias; John P. Hale, Notes of Histor-
ical Society, West Virginia; Rev. Christian
Streit’s Diary; Drs. Krauth & Gilbert's Church
History; J. A. Waddell’'s Annals of Augusta;
J. L. Peyton’s History of Augusta; W. W.
Scott’s History of Orange County; Crozier'’s Vir-
ginia Colonial Militia; Boogher, Nelson & Ro-
maine, Genealogical Works in National Library;
Henderson’s Life of Stonewall Jackson; Dab-
ney’s Civil War; Col. William Allen on Valley
Campaign; Alexander & Sorrell, Recollections of
Staff Officers; Thomas Nelson Page’s and J. Es-
ten Cooke’s Civil War Incidents; E. H. McDon-
ald’s Laurel Brigade; Generals Geo. H. Gordon &
Carl Schurz, Histories and Sketches of Union
Officers, Battles, c.c.; oldest newspapers publish-
ed in the Valley, and those of subsequent per-
iods; Holmes Conrad (of Martinsburg) Letters
and Notes; William G. Russell's Notes; William
H. English’s Conquest of the Northwest; Prof.
J. W. Wayland’s The German Element of the
Shenandoah Valley; Standard Histories of Ken-
tucky, Tennessee, Ohio, Illinois, Indiana, Mis-
souri, and North © -olina.

The study of thei.. ryof the Old County and
movements of the Shenandoah Valley pioneers,
has been fascinating. The Colonial homesteads
have been visited; many have been familiar to
the author for a half century; following the de-
scendants through many stages of development
to the present, was instructive. The author has
personal acquaintance with thousands of the
present population of the Great Valley. For
thirty years, the citizens of every community of

Frederick County have been in close touch with
him; he has enjoyed their friendship and confi-
dence. This induced the numerous biographical
sketches found in the volume. He is conscious
of the fact that some families have been over-
looked, as from his office-chair he scanned the
County from memory.

The Old County, founded in 1738—once the
home of the Redmen, with their tomahawk and
scalping-knife, saw them subjugated; heard the
tramp of Washington’s and Morgan’s men; wit-
nessed the building of Fort Loudoun in the 18th
Century, and the Star and other forts in the
19th, when she bared her breast for conflict be-
tween the armies of the North and South, mar-
shalled by Stonewall Jackson and his dauntless
leaders on the one side, on the other, by Banks,
Sheridan and hosts of others;—witnessed the
burning of the Valley by Hunter.

The history now offered, gives organization
of first courts in all the counties in the Lower
Valley; origin of the towns; sketches of their
growth; the ferries, when and where establish-
ed on the Shenandoah and Potomac; old and
new roads, when, where and by whom opened;
turnpikes, their charters and when first used;
railroads, data in full; old homesteads and fami-
lies; personal sketches of men of all classes;
history of the princely estate of Lord Fairfax
in the Northern Neck; sketch of the Fairfax
family; history of Winchester from formative
period to date; the old market and public square,
that caused litigation of rights between the coun-
ty and city; history of the celebrated suit and
results; Indian, French, and Revolutionary Wars;
study of military engagements in the Shenan-
doah Valley during the Civil War; location of
battle-fields; dates of battles; lists of Valley
Regiments; closing scenes at Appomattox; the
John Brown raid; history of the churches, show-
ing when and where the first was located West
of the Blue Ridge; old courts, their officers,
legal battles fought in their forums; history of
the Fairfax & Hite suits, and many other nota-
ble suits and criminal trials; gleanings from old
courts from their first organization.

The author commends his effort to the stu-
dent of history or casual reader, who will find
it a store-house of information, and a hand-
book of reference on all subjects pertaining to
the counties of the Lower Valley,

“Ingleside,” near Winchester,

December, 1908. T.K. C.
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CHAPTER 1

How and by Whom the Shenandoah Valley was Settled

The first families to settle in the Lower Shen-
andoah Valley, were generally known as the
sixteen families who came with Joist Hite in
1732. None questioned this for many decades.

The Valley historian, Kercheval, and others
following him, gave Hite credit as the first settler;
and from this standpoint we introduce him as
such. Though it may appear in the study of this
question, that he had contestants, their claims
will be treated later on.

Hite and his colony crossed the Cohongoroota
River, where a village was started named Meck-
lenberg. Old records confirm this. The village
bore this name for many years, until finally
changed to Shepherdstown. Closely following
Hite, Scotch-Irish Presbyterians began to settle
in other sections within the boundaries of Old
Frederick County, which then embraced all that
is known now as Shenandoah, Page, Warren,
Clarke, Jefferson, Berkley, Morgan, Hampshire
and parts of Hardy and Rockingham Counties. The
families who came with Hite, have caused untold
trouble to the enquirer, as to who they were.
Some have thought the record of their names and
dates of arrival could be found in the records of
Old Frederick County; and resorted to them, to
be disappointed by not finding individual grants
to these families. Hite held a grant to enter
and locate twenty families, survey his tracts, and
then give them his certificate, which the Colo-
nial Council would ratify; and then, for the first
time, the family name would appear. At the
same time, just prior to 1734, we find many deeds
to settlers who were not of the sixteem other
families, who soon became landowners in the
new settlements, as shown by court records. We
may be pardoned in heading the list with the
name of Fairfax as one of the actual inhabi-
tants, though not the first.

One source of valuable and interesting facts,
for which the author is indebted to Mr. Marion
Bantz, concerning this family, is in his posses-
sion. He has quite a treasury of antiquities,
kindly placed at the writer’s disposal, of what
can be termed Lord Fairfax’s papers. Mr. B,
a resident of Winchester, was present during
the demolition of the well-known house on Pic-
cadilly Street in Winchester, in which had been

stored for many years relics of Fairfax's prop-
erty. The new owner cared nothing for what
he termed “rubbish;” and the original owner
being long since dead, one of his surviving child-
ren, who had occupied the house during her entire
life and only left it because of changed conditions,
gave Mr. B. permission to search through the old
wasting papers; and out of the wreck, he found
the original “patent for the Northern Neck,”
and many other papers not recorded in any office.
From these relics, the author will avail himself
in the proper place, under the subject head of the
Fairfax Family.

Next we might add thename of Washington,—
George being the first member, coming as a strip-
ling sixteen years old, ‘(1748) “to measure out
plantations for Thomas Lord Fairfax, the reputed
owner of the northern neck.” It was due to a
desire on the part of Thomas Lord Fairfax, that
young Washington became identified with Frederick
County; for we find it recorded that in 1748 he
visited his estates in Virginia, which he desired
to “explore and lay out plantations.”” Lord
Fairfax was not the first. Fairfax to come to Vir-
ginia. Several of them lived in the section ad-
jacent to the Mt. Vernon estate. An attachment
between them was soon apparent to all;
and none were surprised when his Lordship pro-
posed to the stripling to undertake the work.
Washington accepted, and together with an assist-
ant, proceeded to Frederick County and took the
buildings at Greenway Court for their headquart-
ers, Lord Fairfax not yet having taken his abode
at that historic and secluded place. His Lordship
returned to England about this time, to prepare
for his residence in the wilds of the new country;
so we find him at Greenway Court in his mansion
house in 1750, terming it “ The Lord Proprietor’s
Office;” executing leases to many new settlers,
and having same recorded in his own office.

The writer, in his experience among the
old records of the County, found many traces
to the history of the Northern Neck of Virginia.
Many people have regarded the original grant for
this proprietary, as from some crowned head
in England to our Lord Fairfax, who bestowed
upon him the title of Lord. We will have occa-
sion to mention this more fully in a personal
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sketch of the Virginia Fairfaxes. The present
object is simply to show where the family settled
in Frederick County and what they settled on;
to give the true history of this grant, and the
reasons for Lord Fairfax’s visit to England.
His Lordship found his title in Virginia disputed
by many persons, who produced what were
distinguished as Minor Grants. He hoped to lay
this matter before the Crown, and have his rights
definitely settled.

The grant from King Charles II, March 12,
1664, to Lord Colepepper, was at an early day
in the history of the Virginia Colony, and meant
much for the settlers at Jamestown, and other
places along and near the James, and York Rivers,
and other streams that had confluence with the
majestic Chesapeake. We are often asked, who
was Lord Fairfax? Of course, the answer is
promptly given: He was the proprietor of the
Northern Neck of Virginia and Baron of Cam-
eron in that part of Great Britain called Scot-
land, which answer is not sufficient in many
tases. To one who by his education and associa-
tion with historical events is already informed,
these notes perhaps will convey no new knowl-
edge; but the compiler hopes to place before all
readers, facts that will easily answer such ques-
tions.

Lord Fairfax, as we will show later on, ar-
rived in America for the first time in 1736, when
he visited his agent, William Fairfax, who was
located in the region later known as Mount
Vernon, Virginia. William Fairfax, the agent,
erected a house that became not only his resi-
dence, but also the Lord Proprietor’s Office. His
Lordship spent nearly three years at this court,
which the owner called Belvoir; and then re-
turned to England to present his grievances to
the Crown. He desired fuller definition of his
grant. During his stay in England, he learned
the conditions of the Colepepper Grant, which
became one of the holdings of the Barom of
Cameron.

Lord Fairfax was born in England. His fa-
ther was Thomas Fairfax, who married Lady
Catharine Colepepper, the daughter and only
heir of Lord Thomas Colepepper, who was last
surviving heir of the Lord Colepepper to whom
King Charles granted “all of the country known
atthat time as the Colony of Virginia; except-
ing therefrom such other grants theretofore
made” and “other reservations,” boundaries of
which were set out and required to be entered
in the record of the infant colony at Jamestown,
and subsequently at Williamsburg. Though many
of the old records were destroyed, the writer
now has in his hands the original Colepepper

Grant, found among the old papers previously
mentioned. Our Thomas, however, was the
Seventh Fairfax to inherit the title of Lord
Cameron, a title of which he ever seemed proud,
and never failed to mention in all his papers
relating to his holdings in America.

As has been stated, there were special grants
for certain parts of Virginia; but Lord Fairfax
believed he was the owner of all. The King had
reserved for himself certain quit rents, not only
from the special patents, but also from Colepep-
per. The latter, however, exercised arbitrary
rule and power in his proprietary, collecting
rents and gathering much from the parish allow-
ances. This tyrannical treatment aroused the
American blood; and petitions went to the King;
and in consequence, the Great Grant was limited
to the Northern Neck. (See boundaries else-
where: also Hening’s Statutes, 1748, pp. 198-9,
confirming smaller grants to settlers.)

So far as known, Lord Thomas Colepepper
had but one brother, Alexander, who was joint
heir in the great grant. But the two brothers
had an agreement that Thomas was to take in
his name the entire grant, and then convey to
Alexander a certain interest in the vast territory
embraced in the original grant. But Thomas,
the father of Catharine, died before this con-
veyance was completed; so this explains the
sweeping conveyance made to Alexander Cole-
pepper by Catharine Fairfax, sole heir of her
said father, “reserving to herself what she term-
ed the Northern Neck in the Old Dominion of
Virginia in America.” This deed of conveyance,
dated 1710, contained some geliable history con-
cerning the early settlers. She recites many
things that throw light on the holdings of many
families in large tracts of lands all over Vir-
ginia. Our valley settlers have the history of
their grants fully set out therein. It was held
at one time, that the first settlers had poor title
to their homesteads; but this voluminous deed,
starting out to convey a large and well-defined
territory in the Tidewater country to her uncle
Alexander, explains the case fully. Lord Fair-
fax, having possessed himself with this knowl-
edge, was content to take his grant for the
Northern Neck, understanding that the minor
grants must be respected. He returned to Amer-
ica, as already stated, in 1748; and, upon his
arrival, proceeded to Greenway Court, a point
12 miles southeast from Winchester, Virginia,
where he established his home and offices. There
he lived and there he died, according to reliable
information, in 1782, at the advanced age of g2
years—not in Winchester, in 1781, as so often
stated in magazine articles.
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We are indebted to Mr. William C. Kennerly,
whose grandmother lived at Greenway Court
at that time, for his inimitable reproduction of
what she related to him: “The hearse was
brought from Alexandria. The cortege was com-
posed of relations and friends from Fairfax
County, and his neighbors from every settlement
along the Shenandoah, and proceeded to Win-
chester with considerable pomp. His remains
were placed in the Episcopal Church Yard on
Loudoun Street, now the site of the business
block on east side of the street, north of the
corner of Water and Loudoun streets.”” When
Christ Church (Episcopal) was erected on the
corner of Water and Washington Streets, his
remains were removed and buried ’neath the
chancel of that church.

‘The boundaries of the Northern Neck, as re-
served by Catharine, the mother of Thomas
Lord Fairfax, are as follows—(actual survey
too lengthy to be given): Beginning on the
Chesapeake Bay, lies between the Potomac and
Rappahannock Rivers, crossing the Blue Ridge,
or rather passing through the Gap along the
Potomac at Harpers Ferry, then with the “Co-
hongoruta” to its source in the Alleganies;
then by a straight line, crosses the Great North
Mountain and Blue Ridge to the head waters of
the Rappahannock, wherever that might be.

We will find the closing up of the boundary
lines resulted in serious trouble to Fairfax, for
at that point he runs against the large grants
to the VanMeter brothers, Carter, Hite and
others. As previously stated, the Fairfax con-
veyance recognizes the rights of certain inhabi-
tants, sparsely settled throughout the Virginia
domain. In many cases, names are given (See
Call. 4, 42), stating that many persons had ac-
quired rights to hold vast tracts by reason of
special grants from the Crown at different stages
in the history of the country, so as to encour-
age emigration to the New World, when it was
found desirable for England to enter in and
possess the land, and no longer allow the Ply-
mouth and Jamestown Colonists to feel they had
any right except such given and granted them
by the Crown. And thus we have such settlers,
with special grants, for slices out of what had
already been embraced in the original grant to
Lord Colepepper for Virginia, Lord Baltimore,
for what is now Maryland and Delaware, the
Duke of York for all the territory lying between
the Connecticut and Delaware Rivers. The last
named was James Duke, of York, and brother to
King Charles II, who, growing tired of his wild
and far-away estates, conveyed his entire inter-
est in what is termed the Territory above the

Hudson and Delaware Rivers, to John Lord
Berkeley and Sir George Carteret, with the ap-
proval and confirmation of the King.

Some digression is usually allowed all writers;
and as Virginia was to become the home of
many inhabitants of numerous Maryland and
Jersey grants, it is well to give brief mention
of certain conditions prevailing in those sec-
tions.

King Charles II, March 12, 1664, saw his op-
portunity to parcel out in the New World, large
estates for his nobility; and, as already stated,
the grants referred to soon grew to be powerful
aids to his plan of making a New England on
this side the Atlantic. This encouraged emigra-
tion, not only from England, but from Ireland,
Scotland and France. The Dutch, Swedes and
Hollanders soon sought homes in the new world
—the last named landing on the Jersey coast;
the former, chiefly looking for those who had
settled along the Maryland, Virginia and Caro-
lina Coasts, found homes among the early set-
tlers. Now began a new trial. These settlers
desired titles to their homes; and much confu-
sion arose. We find King Charles in the latter
part of his reign, and James II, who ascended
the English throne in 1685, making special
grants to families who had become permanent
settlers in Lord Colepepper’s dominion, but de-
clining to do so in the domains of Lord Balti-
more and the Duke of York. The Duke of
York adopted the plan of subdivision of his
grant, and conveyed to Lord John Berkley and
Sir George Carteret what was above the Hudson
and Delaware Rivers. This appears to have
been at the suggestion of the King; for the
Duke seemed displeased, and pleaded with the
King to know “what he did own in America.”
Accordingly we find in 1674, Charles renewed
his grant to the Duke for the remainder, who
was “to hold under such terms as he prayed.”
Lord Berkley and Sir George Carteret soon
divided their grants into what they termed East
and West Jersey, and a boundary was establish-
ed between them which shows its line of monu-
ments to this day. Then was formed the Proprie-
tor’s government,—to own and control the soil
without taxation, so long as they held in their
own right, or their heirs, but not so with any
purchaser, under whom it became taxable by the
State. This proprietary ownership and govern-
ment of vast tracts in America, was extended not
only to those of Jersey and York, but to Lord
Baltimore in Maryland and Delaware, and to
Lord Colepepper in Virginia. Lord Berkley
offered inducements to immigrants. One, John
Fenwick, induced Lord Berkley to allow him to
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establish a colony,—which was then and is now
known as Fenwick Colony. The deed was re-
corded at old Salem by John Fenwick, March 1,
1682, for a moiety of his Proprietary which he
originally purchased from Lord Berkley. This
deed of conveyance is to Governor William Penn
for this moiety, reserving for himself the said
John Fenwick, all the tract called Fenwick
Colony, supposed to contain 150,000 acres. Men-
tion is made in these pages of this Fenwick
Colony, by reason of its having furnished many
emigrants to the Valley of Virginia in the early
part of the Eighteenth Century, when its dis-
covery had been made by Governor Spottswood—
he of the Golden Horseshoe Expedition. What he
saw filled his party, not only with wonder and ad-
miration, but a desire to hastily return and spread
the news, inviting immigration from the settlement
lying along the Jersey coast and the more thickly
settled parts of Pennsylvania. These Northern
settlers soon began to seek the wonderland;
and at this point we must state, many of these
settlers were beginning to feel oppression from
the Lord Proprietors. And as they had learned
through Governor Penn, that King William III,
during his reign from 1638, for thirteen years,
had offered grants to a certain number of famil-
ies who wanted to go into Virginia and make
homes out of the forests, Mary II joined the
king in this new effort to people the new lands.
This was carried into effect; and good Queen
Anne, in her reign of fourteen years beginning
1701, confirmed all such grants, and promised
to protect them. So we find about 1725, many
persons in those northern settlements seeking
information how they could obtain grants in the
new country. The tide set in about 1730; some
crossing the Potomac East of the mountains, and
a few families crossing the Cohongaroota West
of the mountains. The latter made a settlement
in 1732 near the river, and called it Mecklen-
berg. As has been stated, others followed the
Opecquon Creek, and settled about thirty miles
further South; others at the confluence of the
two rivers, Potomac and Shenandoah. Some
writers on the subject of the first settlement in
the great Valley, think it was at the latter place
where Robert Harper and others in 1736, stop-
ped and built log cabins, and a ferry boat to
accommodate those who were still coming and
often found no way to cross over. Now we
have come to the point, who were these people
who came from the cold North? We have
recorded evidence of their courage, ambition,
energy, skill, good morals and sufficient means
to develop the newly discovered valley; so that
it was possible for its hills and dells to become

renowned for their fertility, and afford homes
for the thousands who fill every avenue of life;
and its history shows who were jurists, states-
men and professional men of every class, and
whose farmers have in trying times, made it
possible for armies to subsist and recruit their
depleted stores, while her artisans and inventors
furnished other sinews of war. These will ever
be recognized as equal to any other people; and
as for the warriors, who have won fame from
friend and foe, beginning with the invincible
Morgan, and coming on down through every
military exploit of the country, to Stonewall
Jackson and his foot-cavalry—none suggests the
thought that their fame will ever fade or be
forgotten by succeeding generations.

The reader will excuse such digressions as
may seem too often to creep in, as we attempt
to lead him along through the various phases of
the history of Old Frederick County.

Joist Hite has had the credit given him by other
writers, of being the first white man to settle
in the Lower Valley, which was then known as
Spottsylvania, In 1734, Orange was formed from
Spottsylvania. In 1738, an Act of the House of
Burgesses directed two new counties to be form-
ed, one to be Frederick and the other Augusta,
and taken from Orange, as was stated in the
opening of these sketches. Hite also has the
credit of bringing sixteen families with him;
but since no court was organized until Nov. 11,
1743, we have no record of the minor gramts
referred to in the records of Frederick County
prior to the first court. Many were recorded in
old Spottsylvania and also in Orange. We will
for the present, treat this as the first immigra-
tion, and endeavor to name them all and locate
them in the sections of the County where they
began their work as pioneers. It must be borne
in mind, that so soon as they crossed the Poto-
mac at what is Harpers Ferry, or at some point
West of the Blue Ridge, they entered the country
to be known as Old Frederick County. We
must not forget that these first pioneers had en-
tered the proprietary of the Colepepper grant,
which at this coming had descended to the Fair-
fax, who was to bring contention and confusion
to many whom our Lord Thomas found, as he
thought, squatters in his realm. So having this
understood, we will start with the Hite settlers.
Some of the sixteen families were Joist Hite’s
immediate family, for he had several sons of
full age and three married daughters. Thus
we have four out of the sixteen within his own
circle, which enabled him to assert a right to
rule and direct the movement of his new colony.
His sons inter-married with the other families.
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Hite speaks of his sons-in-law, Paul Froman,
George Bowman and Jacob Chrisman.

While Hoge, Allen, Wilson, White and others,
represent in part the English contingent, and
Van Swearingen, Van Meter and others, repre-
sent the sturdy Dutch, Germans, Swedes and
Hollanders, a more extended notice will be given
in this work of all the families referred to and
their descendants, in a chapter on schools and
churches. Our attention at present must be
given to the location of the sixteen families, and
what they had in their hands to give them a
legal right to enter at will the new country, and
possess the land and build a log cabin. So, as
has been previously stated, William Penn had
pointed the way. He it was and the good John
Fenwick, who had secured from the English
rulers the minor gramts referred to; and when
they started out for their new home, Joist Hite
carried with him the “parchments,” granting
rights to such families as could find suitable
location; then to survey their homestead, de-
scribing accurately and erecting monuments of
boundaries, so that it could be shown the king
who the actual settler was and his name. And
the crown recognized these in treating with Lord
Thomas Fairfax. (Hen. Statutes, 1748, p. 198).

As has been intimated, many of these grants
gave Fairfax much trouble later on, and annoy-
ance to the settlers. Many ejectment suits were
instituted by his Lordship, availing him nothing,
however, in any claim against the settler, where
he had fully complied with the provisions of
the grant. But where he failed to set out fully
his boundaries, so that his lines could be fully
established, then he suffered loss. Many of the
ejectment suits of Fairfax against the settlers
in the Valley and elsewhere, grew out of the
leases that had been made by William Fairfax
as the agent of the actual heir and owner of the
Colepepper grant, so far as it applied to the
Northern Neck. Many such leases had been
made by him and other agents previous to the
time of vesting the title in our Lord Thomas.
And be it remembered, the latter emanating from
the Fairfax family, were only temporary leases
to run for a term of years, mostly twenty years,
yielding to the proprietor “On each recurring
Lady’s Day one Pepper Corn.” The lessee to
use his tract as he saw, to his own interest: the
object being to encourage settlement and offer
inducements for substantial development of much
of the trackless waste. Some of these short
leases were renewed by Fairfax when he landed
at the Greenway Court and took control in
1750; the other leases mentioned were the stum-
bling blocks to the new Proprietor; for when

he, with his youthful surveyor, began to make
surveys for tracts to persons to whom he was
making leases for a term of one hundred years,
and to be renewable under certain complied con-
ditions, he found other claimants who had long
before become actual settlers and standing on
their “Clearing” beside their own “Log Cabins,”
as they exhibited their leases bearing unmistak-
able evidence of authority, not only from the
Colonial authorities, but with the stamp and ap-
proval of the reigning Monarch of England.
Fairfax could not have been unaware of the
legality of the last-named leases for in his in-
heritance of the Northern Neck, he took what
his mother, Catharine Colepepper, had under the
great Colepepper grant, with its provisions: the
King reserving the right to make grants within
the territory to settlers, requiring in each case
that proof should be given the government that
such person had settled on his great tract with
so many families, and that the tract had been
subdivided, and surveys of the subdivisions
actually made and conveyance made to an ac-
tual settler on his part. Such grants were to be
perpetual, and not to be interferred with by
Fairfax or his heirs.

The original plan of the King, “ordained for
the purpose of planting colonies in America,”
worked well, and was the cause of large de-
velopment of many sections of Virginia. So this
condition of the settlement should not have sur-
prised Fairfax; but it apparently did; for he
treated such as squatters on his soil, who must
yield to him a rental and take his lease, and be
subject to his demand or vacate. This meant
much to these families who had felled the for-
est for the good homes they had planted, with
virtually the rifle in hand, to protect the settle-
ment from the powerful tribes of Indians, who
were disputing every effort to make white set-
tlements. We find when this demand was made
by Fairfax through his agents, he met opposi-
tion. He was confronted by men who knew
they were right; who, in full faith in their
claims, had not only builded their homes and
reared sturdy families, but had organized
churches and schools, which at that period were
flourishing. Many things occurred to mar the
peace of his Lordship. He soon found litiga-
tion on his hands. In his surveys to lessees,
he found monuments marking boundaries of
large and extensive areas, such as were claimed
by Joist Hite and his settlers, and those of Van
Meter, Russell and Carter; the latter resulting
in the most famous legal battles fought to a
conclusion in the early history of the Virginia
Colonies.
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As this chapter is intended to mention Hite
and his colonies, we will dispose of Hite’s claim
as the first settler, and then give names, so far
as we know, of the families who came with him.
We may appropriately state here that Hite, in
failing to comply with his agreement made
through Governor Penn, suffered much annoy-
ance in holding to his claim when attacked by
Fairfax. For when it was developed that he
obtained his grant, stipulating that twenty fam-
ilies was to be the number, while he could only
show sixteen, he at once began repairing his
weak points. Being a man of gieat nerve, and
of no small ability as a lawyer without the pro-
fession, he at once undertook to cure in part the
mistake he had made, and to fortify against the
attacks of Fairfax. Thus we find him recogniz-
ing the Van Meter grants to be, not only better
than his, but ante-dating his. The writer is well
aware how this statement will be received by
many readers; but he must endeavor to state
facts in this history of the early and first settlers
of the Lower Valley; and if it detracts from
the glory of Hite, who has always had the credit
of being the first white man to plunge into the
unexplored forests of the Old County of Fred-
erick, even before its formation in 1738, it must
be done; though the writer was tempted to pass
it by, desiring this old pioneer should have all
the glory. He believed he was the first to con-
front the savage tribes on their native soil;
and over many “Clearings” did he and his neigh-
bors contend with the warriors of “Opek-
enough”—he who held sway along the streams
of his own naming, which afterwards the white
man abbreviated to what we have to-day—
“Opeckon”—a stream to become famous, not
only for struggles made by the Redmen in pro-
tecting his wigwams and hunting grounds from
the White invaders, but in later years when the
descendants of these invaders were compelled
to take their stand in battle array along its his-
toric banks to stem another invasion from the
same country from whence the first invaders
came, and in their peculiar way accomplished
the object sought—both being for subjugation:—
the first driving before them the wigwam and
tomahawk, to result in subjugation only after
nearly two hundred years of steady warfare and
treaties ;—the new invasion requiring only four
years of terrific carnage and bloodshed to dev-
astate the Lower Valley, ultimately resulting
in the subjugation planned from the first. How
strangely differing the causes of the invasions
and their results! The former came to do their
part in developing a continent in the wilds of
America, offering an asylum for liberty-loving

people from every clime and nation, to be one
of the mighty host sweeping Westward, to some
day land upon the shores of the Pacific Ocean,
leaving marks of civilization in their wake, as
the states and cities with their teeming millions
were ever attesting the wisdom of the first in-
vader. Not so with the last! They swept the land
with a besom of destruction—they leveled homes
as well as forests; but never builded homes and
cities. They invaded for desolation! And in
their wake, as they pressed southward and
westward, left ashes and ruin. But the descend-
ants of those grand old first settlers, followed
the example of Joist Hite, and made the best
of their mistake. Hite had underestimated the
strength of his contestants. And when he
found his position, the wily old chief used his
diplomacy and held his ground. Referring again
to Hite and the Van Meter grants, we will state
here that Hite obtained by purchase forty thous-
and acres of the Van Meter grant, and imme-
diately began to make deeds for tracts of land
to the many settlers who were now, in 1734,
seeking homes; and having located many who
had come subsequent to the arrival of his colony,
thus showing his good intentions to carry out
his agreement to locate at least forty families.
Then he turned his attention to the Hite grant,
as it has been called,—to have it renewed, so
as to protect those of the sixteen families he
had located before Fairfax raised his point for
ejectment. Many suits followed, as has already
been stated; and Fairfax prevailed in some of
the latter class; so that some of the sixteen will
not appear in the list of those who owned their
own land.

Lest there be confusion in regard to the hold-
ings of Hite, the author deems it best to give
a condensed statement at this point. Hite,
through the influence of Governor Penn, receiv-
ed a conditional grant from the Virginia Coun-
cil in 1730, for one hundred thousand acres of
land, to be located West of the Great Mountains,
not therefore granted,—upon which he was to
locate forty families, within a certain time.
This number was reduced to twenty families—
and not sixteen, as has been so often stated by
tradition. Finding the Van Meter grant in his
way, he purchased from them, and proceeded
to comply with the conditions,—~which required
the Van Meters to locate one hundred families.
This seemed a prodigious undertaking; and he
went to the Governor’s Council for an extension
of time. This he obtained. He now had vir-
tually about two hundred thousand acres of
land. He saw his chance to comply. Immi-
grants had followed in his wake, seeking land
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for homes. Hite at once located many families
on the previously surveyed tracts of forty thous-
and and thirty thousand acres, known to him
as the Van Meter tracts; and then proceeded
to complete his survey for the one hundred
thousand acres, and also for an additional twenty
thousand acres South of the North fork of the
Sherando River. Later on it will be shown to
whom he parceled out this vast territory; and
this will give the location of his Great Grant.
Joist Hite continued to look after the interests
of his colony—and helped his sons and sons-in-
law to build their homes, which were substan-
tial, and surrounded by some of the richest and
best located lands in the County. Several well
built stone houses on these tracts were erected
during Hite’s lifetime.

There is something peculiar about the elder
Hite in the way he managed his estates and
business. He died comparatively a poor man—
as will be seen by his will; while his children
grew rich, and continually increased their hold-
ings. As has been stated, Hite lived and died
in Frederick County. He changed his residence
frequently; living at one time where he first
stopped at Shepherdstown,—then moving to the
Opecquon Creek, at what is now Bartonsville.
There he built a stone house on the West side
of what is the Valley Turnpike. At the same
time, he and other settlers built a stone fort
due East from what was to be .his residence, the
ruins of which can be seen to-day on the East
side of the said pike. Later on, 1753, one of
his sons, Col. John Hite, aided by his father,
built the splendid stone house now occupied by
Mrs. Harry Hack ‘(Mrs. Arbuckle). Joist Hite
lived for some years in his stone house,—and
lentaid to the settlement of the Opecquon Valley.
This will have fuller mention with other famil-
ies. We find Hite once more building a large
house and living with his son Isaac Hite, near
the Shenandoah River, known as “Long Mead-
ows.” He then changes his residence, and is
found living at Shepherdstown, and making
deeds to purchasers for small tracts of land in
that section, and part of (as he recites) the
Patent Deed. We locate him there as a resident,
at least temporarily; for, in his acknowledgment
of these deeds, the certificates are signed by
Justices of the Peace living at and near Shep-
herdstown. We find him again at the Old
House on the Opeckon; and there seems to be no
doubt that he died there, the exact date not
fully shown; but, as his will is dated April 25th,
1758, and was probated at a County Court held
7th day of May, 1761, it is very evident that his
death occurred a short time before 1761. Where

the old worn-out man was laid to his final rest, .
has often been the subject of enquiry. Some
have it that he was buried near his old Home
at Bartonsville, in a family “graveyard,” which
for a long time, from its close proximity to the
Valley Pike on the East side and North of his
son’s residence, was calculated to fix that as his
burial place. A few old slabs mark several
graves. No one ever saw the name of Hite on
any.

During the writer's experience as Clerk of the
County Court, he was drawn into a correspon-
dence with Hon. William H. English, of Indian-
apolis, Ind.,—he being President at the time, of
the National Historical Society. He will be re-
membered by many as the candidate for vice-
president on Hancock and English ticket at
the Presidential election. Mr. English was a
lineal descendant of Joist Hite, and desired some
information about the question of the “last rest-
ing place of his old ancestor.” This correspon-
dence resulted in his visit to the writer in 1895.
His son, Hon. William E. English, accompanied
him,—and we spared no effort to settle the ques-
tion. [Evidence was obtained that Hite was
strongly attached to the Opeckon Church, with
its five acres,—part of which had been in use
for years as the burial place for early settlers,—
this being almost in full view from Hite’s home:
Such proved conclusively that Hite was buried
at the old Churchyard. This Yard was occupied by
the church, one large graveyard in the north-
east corner, and by two small plots lying on
the North and South end of the church. These
plots had substantial stone walls to protect them,
and remained intact until the battle of Kerns-
town, when they were somewhat battered, and
later on the stones were carried into Gen. Sheri-
dan’s camp and used as chimneys for winter
quarters. Then the grave marks were soon de-
stroyed. This occurred in the case of the large
cemetery in the northeast corner of the five acre
lot. It was well remembered by many, that the Plot
on the North end was used by the Hite family,—
and slabs at one time marked their graves. The
writer well remembers his early visits to this
far-famed spot, and had often related incidents
occurring during these boyhood visits. It was
the custom, as well as the rule, in that day for
the families in the surrounding country to at-
tend that church; and on one of the occasions,
the writer saw and heard many things to make
lasting impressions on his young mind. One
touched him closely; and it was while his fa-
ther, in company with Dr. William Hill, the
pastor, Col. John Gilkeson, and several others
just before service, stood leaning over the stone
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wall of the Plot on the North end of the church
that the boy’s quick ear caught much to interest
him,—for Dr. Hill remarked: “There is the
grave of the wonderful man, the old German,
Yost Heite.” This had a double interest for
the boy,—for he often heard strange stories at
home, in the old negro cabin, where the old
Auntie, who had been a slave in the Hite family,
had become the property of the writer’s grand-
father, when he married the granddaughter of
Joist Hite. So on his arrival at home, he soon
rushed to the old cabin to startle the old Auntie
with his story. She received it calmly,—and
replied that she knew that; and also, that right
by his side her Mistus was buried in 1792
Such incidents often give such strength to tradi-
tional history, that the student finds it more
reasonable and correct than many of the com-
pendiums of data and chronology through which
he has spent much time to settle the question.
Much comment on the old man’s name has been
made by many writers—it being spelled differ-
ently. This may be accounted for by different
ideas of translation of the German he wrote;
for no writing of his has been seen in all the
writer’s research of the records, where he ever
wrote English. So when making records of his
writing in English, the Clerk, if not acquainted
with the German, would call upon some one for
its translation, and they differed in their ver-
sion,— so this no doubt accounts for the name
appearing in print in so many different ways.
The writer in his early life never heard his name
called but the one way, and that Joss Hite. But
the translations referred to, make it appear fre-
quently as Yost Hite—Yoist Heite, Joss Haite,
Joist Heighte, Just Heite; but in the latter part
of his career, the record was chiefly made by
the same clerk, and it was invariably written in
a large hand Josst Hite.

Joist Hite, Anna Maria his wife, and their
children John, Jacob, Isaac, Abram, Joseph, his
sons; daughters: Mary Bowman, Magdelena
Chrisman, and Elizabeth Froman, and their chil-
dren will receive fuller notice elsewhere. Hite’s
wife died in 1738. He married again in 1741,
the marriage contract follows at this point.

“IN THE NAME OF JESUS

WHEREAS, WE, two persons, I Just Heite
and Maria Magdalina Relict, and widow of
Christian Nuschanger, according to God’s Holy
Ordinance with the knowledge and consent of
our Friends and Children and Relations are go-
ing to enter into the Holy State of Matrimony.
We have made this Nuptial part one with the
other. First promise to the aforesaid Maria

Magdalina all the Christian Love and faithful-
ness. Secondly, as neither of us are a moment
secure from death so I promise her that my
House shall be her Home or Widow Seat so
long as she lives and the Heir to whom the said
House shall fall shall provide her necessary Diet
and Cloathes and of that do not please but that
she rather desires to have her commendations
in any other place, so shall the aforesaid Heir to
the House yearly pay her Six pounds ready
money and this is my well considered desire.
Jost Hite
And Likewise wife I, Maria Magdalina prom-
ise the aforesaid Just Hite, First all Love and
Obedience, Secondly I am designed to bring with
me to him some Cattle, money, household stuff
which in an Other Agreement with Attested
Witnesses shall be Described and should I die
before the said Hite so shall the said Hite have
the half thereof and the other half shall be de-
livered back again to my heirs and this is allso
my well considered desire Thirdly and Lastly,
whoever of the aforesaid persons shall die forst
the half of the portion the Woman brings with
her shall go back again to her heirs.
her
JouN Hire. MAry X MAGDALENA.
Jacos Hite mark
Isaac Hrte
Joserr Hite.
his
JacoB IN NisswANGER
mark
In the Contract of Just Hite and Mary Magda-
lena his wife, married persons made the 10 of
November, 1741, the following goods were
brought in to-wit:
1. In ready money twenty-two pounds, Seven-
teen Shillings and four pence.
2ly. Two mares one colt of the value of four-
teen pounds.
3ly. Two drawing steers value three pounds,
ten shillings.
4ly. To Course Bed Cloathes in all three
pound, Sixteen Shillings and six pence. And
the said money is adjudged to be in Virginia
Currency the 16th of November, 1741, also one
horse mare Six pound.

Witnesses : Just Hite
PETER STEPHENS
LeEwis STEPHENS
his
Jacor IN NISWANGER
mark
Translated and Copied from the German ori-
ginal by James PorTEUS.
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At a Court held for Frederick County on Tues-
day the Third day of September, 1745.

Jost Hite in Open Court acknowledges these
his Articles of Agreement made between him
and Maria Magdalena his wife before marriage,
which on his motion is admitted to record to-
gether with an account of goods brought by
the said Maria Magdalena Endorsed on the back
of said Articles.

TEST: Tros. Woop, Cl! Cur.”

The original is in German, signed in German;
was recorded first in Orange County, then in
Frederick, 1744. We find no evidence of any
children born by this marriage.

The reader will excuse this extended notice
of the famous Joist Hite, since he was the chief
figure in the early settlement of the Lower Val-
ley; and also excuse the brief notices in the fol-
lowing pages of many other settlers who became
far more famous in their lives, as they struggled
to plant the colony under so many adverse cir-
cumstances.

Having thus briefly disposed of the Hite fam-
ily, we will turn attention to some of the other
families who came with Hite. We mention

merely the names of those who settled upon
tracts of land that Hite set off for them from
the original grant to him for himself, and the
twenty families he was to locate. We find Wil-
liam Hogue on the Opecquon, John White on
Hogue Creek, Nathaniel Thomas at the head of
the Opecquon, Benjamin Borden near Shepherds-
town, “binding with its western line on the Bull-
skin Run,” David Vaunce on the Opecquon, Steph-
en Hansbella, Christian Nisewanger, etc., (fuller
mention later on.)

Hite located the Irish immigrants on the
Opecquon. This was known as the Irish immi-
grant party that arrived between 1737 and 1740.
This is somewhat misleading; for the ships’ lists
show the English, Irish, French, Scotch and
Welsh made up the list; and those who sought
homes in the Shenandoah under the guidance
of Hite’s son, were John Bruce, Patrick Berry,
Denis Dough, Patrick Daugherty, Thomas Dos-
ter, John Littler, John Fitzsimmons, ..........
O'Guillon, and three Riley families representing
the Scotch, English and Irish, the Morgans from
Wales; Louis Dumas and his two sons, Charles
and Thomas, the French;—many more of this
class, eighty in all: not a German among them.



CHAPTER II

The Minor Grants

In the preceding pages, mention has been made
of Minor Gramts. The author finds in unravel-
ling many incidents of the early settlement of
Frederick County, that so much inconsistency is
revealed in writings claiming to be historical
facts that it becomes necessary to give the his-
tory of these minor grants, and thus prove who
were the first settlers. It must be remembered
that the reigning English Monarch always claim-
ed the right to create colonies in the New World;
and form colonial governments, and did so exer-
cise this right; and Virginia being the colony
with which we are now treating, these notes ap-
ply to this colony. Large grants emanating from
the Crown direct, were chiefly to that part of
the colony known as Tidewater. One large grant,
known as the Colepepper Grant, embraced what
is generally called the Northern Neck. As al-
ready stated, the Crown always reserved the
right to make special grants to certain companies
or individuals who could give some assurance of
becoming actual settlers;and when this was shown,
such persons were even allowed to enter the
domain of the large grants. There had to be
some tribunal in the colony to regulate this: so
at an early day, the Governor was associated
with certain gentlemen to be known as his coun-
cil; and persons desiring to locate in the new
country, must secure from the Governor and
Council an order to have surveyed for settle-
ment, a certain number of acres of land, stating
the locality; and this order required that fam-
ilies should be located within a specified time;
and when so proven to the Governor and Coun-
cil, a grant or deed should be made to the ap-
plicant or his assigns, or such persons as he
would name. These individual grants or deeds
were known as the Minor Grants.

We find that Isaac and John Van Meter as-
signed their order, dated 17th of June, 1730, to
Joist Hite in 1731, who was required to seat his
requisite number of families; and when this was
done, Hite filed his surveys with the Secretary
of the Council, and a list of persons to whom
he desired patents, deeds or grants to issue; and
thus we have a number of such grants, that will
receive fuller mention later on: Hite had grants
made to himself for many thousand acres; and

from these tracts he made many deeds himself
to certain families. A list of such will be given
later on. In executing the order of Governor
and Council, Hite was not required to locate his
surveys and families in one tract of forty thous-
and or one hundred thousand acres, but allowed
to make selections from Cohongoruta on the
North, southward through the Shenandoah Val-
ley. There were large intervening tracts, left as
ungranted land, afterwards granted by Lord
Fairfax to other immigrants, after 1744 We
now approach an interesting period in the his-
tory of the early settlers, for when Hite entered
upon the subdivision of his grant of one hun-
dred thousand acres of land, to be entered by
actual settlers on tracts not heretofore granted
in the special grants already mentioned, for be
it remembered, Hite held no such grants as has
often been stated by persons not fully informed,
“that he had a grant of one hundred and fifty
thousand acres in one body, and this had as its
southern boundary the Shenandoah river.”
This is mere fallacy; yet many believe it. He
found obstacles that were almost as troublesome
to the pioneer as the Indian. He found “blazed
trees,” planted monuments, and other marks, in
the forests and along rivers and creeks, which
indicated to him at once, that some surveyor had
‘been on the ground before his entry. This was
appalling to Hite and his people, but he was
equal to the occasion; and as stated in the early
part of this subject of Hite and his grants, we
find him diligently at work repairing his fortune.
He soon found from other immigrants coming
in, who had run these strange lines; for these
new people carried with them deeds from Isaac
Van Meter, for tracts of land to be measured
out of his grant. Hite at once saw from reci-
tals in these deeds, that some one had the prior
right; and when he saw that Isaac Van Meter
was the man to deal with, he knew what course
to pursue. He had known Van Meter back in
old Salem, New Jersey, where Isaac was a
prominent resident. How, when, or where Hite
had his first interview with Van Meter as to
what was apparent to him: (A dispute over
their titles), is not known. Sufficient for our
purpose, however, we can assert they had an in-
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terview in some way; and as evidence of this,
we find a compromise settlement between them
in 1731, by which Hite became the purchaser of
the celebrated grants, which he takes in regular
conveyances from the Van Meters, and also as-
signment for grants to issue from the Governor
and Council, and enters them for record at
Williamsburg and Orange Courthouse, seven
years before the court of record was organized
in Frederick County. Hite, in order to carry
out his original plans, began the work in 1736
of making deeds to certain of the settlers who
either came with him in 1732 or soon followed

in his wake. Such deeds are to be found re-
corded in the Clerk’s Office of old Orange, thus
giving the names of many of these first settlers
which will appear in these pages, so as to show
clearly who many of the people were who first
settled West of the Blue Ridge and North and
West of the Sherando River. We have stated,
under the head of Hite and his family, that he
found it necessary to purchase the Van Meter
Grants. In the next Chapter, we will show what
these grants were, and more fully prove that
Hite was not the first white man to plant his
foot on the soil.



CHAPTER III

The Van Meter Grants, their History and the Proof
that Van Meter preceded Hite — as the First
White Man to Cross the Potow-mack

The records of the two grants of forty thous-
and acres each, to John and Isaac Van Meter,
as will be seen in this Chapter in the original
grants to both are dated 17th June, 1730, and are
of record on page 363 of the Mss. Journal of the
Governor and Council of Virginia, 1721-1734.
Isaac Van Meter at this time lived in Old Salem,
New Jersey, (as heretofore stated), while his
brother, John Van Meter, was living on a tract
of two hundred acres granted him by Lord Bal-
timore, November 3rd, 1726, which he located
at or near what is now Monocacy Junction, near
Frederick, Maryland. Lord Fairfax’s grant from
the crown ante-dated these and all other grants;
but at that date it was supposed that the great
Colepepper Grant, which had been curtailed to
the Northern Neck, then Fairfax’s grant, did
not extend beyond the Blue Mountains, and that
the Potow-mack River was wholly East of these
mountains; and it was not until about 1736-7,
that Lord Fairfax, the father of our Lord
Thomas through his agents, discovered by sur-
vey that his grant covered an empire, more than
he supposed. This will be better understood by a
study of his map made at that time, a photo
copy of which the writer has and hopes to have
appear later on. From a careful study of this
question, the writer has no doubt but that the
Van Meters well knew what Lord Fairfax and
Governor and Council of Virginia did not know
at that time, as to what was the extent of the
Fairfax Grant; hence Van Meter resorted to
what would be called to-day “sharp practice,”
by transferring his entire grant into the posses-
sion of an innocent third purchaser, Joist Hite,
and then to become holders of such portion
as they desired for themselves by transfer and
purchase from Hite. This became later, as Van
Meter no doubt anticipated, a subject of litiga-
tion—and it was not finally settled until after
principals and their children had been dead
many years. The courts sustained Van Meter,
and confirmed title to all assigns for interest in
the Van Meter grants purchased from “Jost
Heitd,” the legal battles were fought to a finish

in 1800, which the author hopes to treat fully if
space will admit. There are many details in this
transaction that could be more fully set forth in
this work, which would lend a tinge of romance
to this interesting period, but we must avoid ro-
mancing, and try to state facts in a brief and plain
way. But, inasmuch as Van Meter is to be
proven an actual first settler, though it has often
been asserted that Van Meter never lived on his
grants, it might be well to sketch his movements
at this point, trusting to give them more prom-
inence in another Chapter. John Van Meter was
an interesting character he and his family,—his
own ancestry and his descendants, will make a
most interesting chapter, giving the details of his
life, leading as they do from Marbletown, Ulster
County, New York, where he was born in 1683,
following his removal down through New Jer-
sey into Maryland in 1726, and his final settle-
ment in the Valley of Virginia soon after 1730,
where he died in 1745. “Jost Heyt” is also
traceable in like manner, almost year by year,
with such minute detail as to show conclusively
that he followed John Van Meter, who led him
into this land of promise.

(Here follows the copy from the original Van
Meter Grants). MSS Journal of the Governor
and, Council of Virginia, session 1721-1734,
page 363.)

“On reading at this board the petition of John
Van Meter setting forth that he is desirous to
take up a tract of land in this colony—on the
west side of the great Mountains for the settle-
ment of himself and eleven children and also
divers of his relations and friends lving in
the government of New York are also desirous
to move with their families and effects to settle
in the same place if a sufficient of land may be
assigned them for that purpose and praying
that ten thousand acres of land lying in the
fork of the Shenado River including the places
called by the names of Cedar Litch and Stony
Lick and running up between the branches of
said river to complete the quantity and twenty
thousand acres not already taken up by Robert
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Carter and Mann Page, Esqus. or any other
lying in the fork between the river Shenado:
and the river Cohonguroota and extending there-
to to Operkon and up the South branch thereof—
may be assigned for the Habitation of himself
his family and friends.

The Governor with the advice of the Council
is pleased to give leave to the said John Van
Meter to take up the said first mentioned tract
of ten thousand acres for the settlement of him-
self and family; That as soon as the petitioner
shall bring on the last mentioned tracts twenty
families to inhabit: or that this board is satis-
fied so many are to remove thither: Leave be
and it is hereby granted him for surveying the
last mentioned tract of twenty thousand acres
within the limits above described in so many
several Dividends as the petitioner and his part-
ners shall think fit; and it is further ordered that
no person is permitted to enter for or take up
any part of the aforesaid Land in the mean-
time: Provided the said Van Meter and his
family and the said twenty other families of his
Relations and friends do settle thereon within
the space of two years according to his proposal.”

(“MSS: Journal of the Governor and Coun-
cil of Virginia, 1721-1734, page 364.)

“Isaac Van Meter of the Province of West
Jersey having by petition to this Board set forth
that he and divers other German families are
desirous to settle themselves on the West side
of the Great Mountains in this colony; he the
petitioner has beem to view the lands in those
parts and has discovered a place where further
such settlement may conveniently be made and
not yet taken up or possessed by any one of the
English Inhabitants and praying that ten thous-
and acres of land lying between the lands sur-
veyed for Robt. Carter, Esq., and the fork of the
Shenado river and the river Operkon in as
many several tracts or Dividends as shall be
necessary for the accommodation and settlement
of ten families (including his own) who pro-
poses to bring to the said Land:

The Governor with the advice of the Council
is pleased to order as it is hereby ordered that
the said Isaac Van Meter for himself and his
partners have leave to take up the said quantity
of ten thousand acres of Land within the limits
above described and that if he bring the above
number of families to dwell there within two
years; Patent be granted him and them for the
same in such several tracts or Dividends as they
shall think fit and in the meantime the same
be referred free from entry of any other per-
son: Dated at Williamsburg, 17th June, 1730.”

These Van Meter grants in themselves prove

that they preceded Hite and his colony. Since
the best we can do for Hite is, that he started
from his last stopping place in Pennsylvania in
1731, and as the grant to Isaac Van Meter re-
cites conclusive proof, the Council sitting at
Williamsburg from 1721 to 1734 expressly sets
forth in their order dated 17th June, 1730, that
Isaac the Petitioner had been to view the lands
in those parts—‘‘those parts”— are described in
the survey made within the two years—as lying
along both sides of the Shenandoah—one to John
and one to Isaac. And these surveys embrace
forty thousand acres each, and were confirmed
to these brothers, May 12th, 1732—(See old files
in State Library, Richmond, Virginia). John
must have spied out the land about the time
of its first discovery by the Spottswood expedi-
tion—for in tracing John from Ulster County,
New York to his stop on the Monocacy River in
Maryland, the writer finds him in 1727, over in
Old Spottsylvania, lending his advice to the
German settlers at Germania,—“skilled artisans”
who had come in answer to the scheme adopted
by the Governor. And it is barely possible that
John, in his desire to roam and find new places,
was tempted to try the summit of the Blue
Mountain lying to the West, and see what was
beyond. Tradition tells us that he blazed his
way through the dense forests, so as to point
his way of return to the Germana settlement;
and, as he and Isaac represented to the Council
afterwards, that they viewed the lands. They
surveyed their lands chiefly from the forks of
the Shenandoah (near Front Royal) westward;
thus showing that they entered the valley through
the gaps of the Blue Ridge at that point, hugging
the line forming the northern boundary of the
Robt. Carter and Mann Page grant. This set-
tles the question as to whether he or Hite was
the first white man to visit the country South
of the Cohongoroota; so while giving Van Meter
credit for this honor, it leaves the impression,
then, that Hite was the first man to cross the
Potomac. We would be glad to give him this
honor without further question, but, as we are
trying to state facts in relation to these old
pioneers, all bent upon finding the promised
land, the writer must confess that in all his
investigations and careful study, he finds some
circumstantial evidence that almost settles the
questions. We have seen that Hite purchased
large portions of the Van Meter grants, and the
records show that Hite in 1734 conveyed land to
purchasers for tracts in the vicinity of Shep-
herdstown, and recites that the lands conveyed
by him were parcels embraced in the Isaac Van
Meter Patent; thus showing that Van Meter’s
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grant also embraced land near the Potomac,—
and the question naturally arises, how did Van
Meter first reach that point—Did he cross the
Potomac West of the Blue Ridge in the vicin-
ity of Shepherdstown, and there locate part of
his patent? If so, he crossed the Potomac be-
fore Hite; thus leaving Hite with a doubt as to
whether he is entitled to what we hope to give
him,~— the credit of being the man who first
stood on the South banks of the Potomac West
of the Blue Ridge. And may we not pass this
and record it as a fact; for we have this lan-
guage in the survey of Isaac Van Meter’s grant:
“Survey extended from the north bank line of
the Sherando river northward to the Operkon
river then following its flow embracing the land
and prairies, forests and streams and their sources
lying betwixt thereof—said Operkon and ye said
Sherando: Both lines showing monuments for
courses and measures.” This certainly is the
patent referred to in Hite’s first deed to settlers;
and we may conclude that when the Van Meters
entered the Valley at the forks of the Shenan-
doah, that Isaac proceeded northward to lay off
his patent; and ultimately found himself on the
Potomac near the site of Shepherdstown, having
“followed the flow of the Operkon river.” As
already stated, it has been the desire of the wri-
ter to settle this moot question; but to do so
and give sufficient proof, required the most dili-
gent search and investigation, with the assis-
tance of old Virginia Clerks, Librarians of sev-
eral states, Secretaries of Historical Societies,
and welcome access to the files of the colonial
days. And these aids, helping to verify the hun-
dreds of incidents recorded in various forms in
the old County Clerk’s office, where the writer
has spent more than a quarter of a century, is
his reason for submitting the foregoing to the
casual reader, or to the student of history of this
part of the Valley known as Old Frederick
County, as satisfactory proof as to who should
have the credit for blazing the first tree in the
Virginia forests or crossing the Potomac. While
many may feel disappointed that the case has
been so proven against the claim so long made
for Hite, we hope they will find in these pages
full proof that he was ever at the front, and did
more than any one in planting colonies and
bringing civilization out of the newly discovered
country; and to prove this, we will now pro-
ceed to state who composed his colonies, start-
ing with those whom he first located on land
through the deeds he executed.

We find in the old records of Orange County,
that Hite started the work of parceling out to
the families who claimed to belong to his colony,

tracts of land all located West of the Blue Ridge,
making forty-six conveyances, and all admitted
to record in March, 1736. Some refer to his own
grants, dated June 12th and Oct. 3rd, 1734; some
to his grants through his Van Meter purchase,
dated 17th June, 1730; in the proper place, will
appear names and location of families who came
with Hite and also those who followed and en-
tered the Country about that time, and awaited
grants to come through him, no grant being
made to any one prior to 1734, at which time
Hite and the Van Meter Grants having matured,
the seating of the one hundred families and
even more, is fully proven by the records.

We must take it for granted that many of
these conveyances were made to the sixteen
families so often spoken of as coming with Hite;
as it was understood by the terms of Hite's
grant that he would be required to locate twenty
families and convey to them the tracts of land
they could select and have surveyed, and as this
was done, the same must be certified to the gen-
eral Council at Williamsburg.

The first deed from Hite referred to, was to
one of his German friends, Stephen Hansonbella
(afterwards written in the Frederick County
Records, Hotsinpeller) and four hundred and
fifty acres near head of Opecquon Creek, next to
Christian Nisswanger, four hundred and thirty
five acres to Thomas Wilson for one hundred
and sixty-seven acres on Operkon Run to John
Van Meter for four hundred and seventy-five
acres, being the lowermost part of that tract
whereon John Lilburn resided on Operkon
Creek, part of the Van Meter Grant; to Thomas
Chester one hundred acres on North side of
North River; to Louis Stuffey for three hundred
and thirty-nine acres on West side of Sherando
River near head of Crooked Run to Robt. Desarfe
for three hundred acres near place called Long
Meadows adjoining Isaac Hite, son of Joist
Hite, to Christian Blank, for sixty acres on
North side of North branch of Sherando River,
“being within the bounds of ten thousand acres
granted to John Van Metre on June 6th, 1730,
and sold to Hite, Oct, 1734;” from Hite to
Hendery Hunt for one hundred and twenty
acres on West side of Sherando River “being
part of the forty thousand acre grant purchased
by Hite from John Van Meter, (Note: part
of the sixteen families and Hite’s six families
and the full number of sixteen is obtained.)
This brief mention of the conveyances by Hite
at that period, is given here for two reasons: it
settles one point, that Hite actually purchased
the Van Meter grant which ante-dated his by
four years, and that he also found it necessary
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to use the same to give title to his fellow-
colonists. As has been stated elsewhere, the
specific terms of the original Hite grant required
him to make a settlement in the new country
of not less than twenty families; and having
this accomplished, he must allow them to make
selection for their habitations such parcels of
land not theretofore granted to actual settlers, and
then convey to them, out of his grant, good
title for their home. When some of these selec-
tions were made and reported to the Council at
Williamsburg for approval, Hite was informed
that his grant could not embrace many of these
tracts,—as they were either within the Van Meter
grants already surveyed, or they were parts of
tracts leased by agents of the Fairfax estate.
These leases were to run twenty years in most cas-
es;and just at that point began the question of
who was owner. Some of the colonists preferred
to take their chances with the Fairfax claim;
and held on to their selection, and became what
was known after as squatters; and they and
their descendants were at law with Lord Fair-
fax after his arrival in 1749. Many of these
suits were pending in our courts after Lord
Fairfax’s death, many of them losing their
homes.

The names of the grantees from Hite, as
has been stated, were familiar in that day, and
are given to show who composed the twenty
families. No record was ever made by Hite,
who his colonists were, except by such convey-
ances mentioned; and we have sufficient of
these to prove that he had more families on the
ground as settlers in 1736,—and they West of
the Blue Ridge than his grant required,—most
of them taking their deeds through the Van
Meter Grant, the conveyances to Christian Blank
and Hendery Hunt were dated and admitted to
record in February, 1739. These conveyances
disclose to us some interesting facts. Several
writers on the subject of the coming of Joist
Hite and, as they stated it, “with his sixteen
families, fixed his settlement on the Opequon in
the vicinity of Bartonsville and Kernstown; and
this seemed reasonable enough. As we have
already shown, Hite and many of the people
coming to the Valley about that period, settled
on land along the Opecquon Creek principally to-
wards its source. This, then, would embrace
the Cartmell and Glass family with their large
grants of land lying on either side of the stream,
beginning at the head and following its course
eastward to the Bartonsville neighborhood,
where Hite had chosen his home. But we can-
not claim that Hite settled the two last named
families in 1735,—the emigrant, Samuel Glass,

and his family coming direct from the North
of Ireland—and Nathaniel Cartmell and his
large family coming from Westmoreland Coun-
ty, England, who at once entered upon their
lands and were entirely independent of the Hite
emigration. But it must be admitted that they
followed in the wake of Hite. Glass secured a
minor grant through Hite for nine hundred
acres of land at the head springs of Opecquon
Creek; Cartmell relied upon his entry, and was
never disturbed but once by suit of ejectment by
Fairfax, and then won the case. The convey-
ances referred to show where the families were
located, extending from the junction of the
North and South branches of the Shenandoah,
near the present site of Front Royal,—westward
towards the Little North Mountain and along
the Opecquon towards its mouth near Shep-
herdstown. This indicates that the twenty fam-
ilies were not settled in close proximity for
mutual protection from attacks from Indians,
but they were locating in good sections on good
lands, and willing to take their chances with the
denizens of the virgin forests, whether wild ani-
mal or Redskin. It is fair to claim, however,
that the first conveyances made by Hite in
March, 1736, and recorded in the old Orange
court, were made to his colonists, who compris-
ed his twenty families; and for this reason the
names of the grantees have been given. We
will give the names of the grantees at this point
who subsequently received deeds for their
tracts, as their surveys had been reported to the
Governor and Council; they having made their
selections and ‘reported that they “were seated.”
All of the following deeds were recorded in the
Orange Court prior to the holding of the first
term of court in Frederick County, and are from
Joist Hite:

Oct. 26th, 1737, to John Seaman for one thous-
and acres adjoining Benj. Borden—James Wood
April 25th, 1738, for one hundred acres on West
side of “Opequon run.”

William Williams, April 27th, 1738, for two
hundred and twenty-five acres on “Opequon run.”

Louis Stevens, April 28th, 1738, for three hun-
dred and thirty-nine acres—Crooked run.

Peter Writtenhouse, May 21st, 1740, for four
hundred and fifty acres adjoining Long Meadow.

Jacob Christman, May 14, 1740, for seven
hundred and fifty acres.

John Hite, May 21, 1740, for five hundred
and sixty-eight acres, part of Hite’s grant and
also one hundred acres adjoining, purchased by
Joist from Richard Pendall on “Opequon.”

William Reed, May 14, 1740, for two hundred
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and ten acres on southwest side of “Opequon
run,” part of Hite’s grant—1734.

John McCormick, May 26, 1740, for three
hundred and ninety-five acres adjoining the Bor-
den, Griffith and Hampton, etc. tract of eleven
hundred and twenty-two acres. This grant was
for land north of the point where White Hall
village stands.

Samuel Walker, May 21st, 1740, for one hun-
dred acres on “west side of Sherrando river.”

Chas. McDowel, July 20, 1740, for six hun-
dred acres.

James Burns, May 24, 1741, for one hundred
and twenty-eight acres on “west side of Sher-
ando.”

Robert Allen, May 21, 1742, for six hundred
and eighty-five acres on “south side of Opequon
run.” This tract was west from the Bartons-
ville section.

John Harrow, May 19, 1742, for two hundred
and ninety acres on “north side of Opequon run.”

Abram Wiseman, June 23, 1734, for one hundred
and seventy-two acres on “west side of Opequon
run”—part of the five thousand and eighteen
acres Hite Grant. It will be seen that some of
the descriptions fix the North, South and West
side of Opecquon. It must be remembered the
Opecquon flows nearly due East from its source
for about four miles, and along this course lie
the tracts described as on the North and South
side; then the general course is North, and this
accounts for certain tracts mentioned that lie on
the East, North and West sides of the Opecquon.

“James Vance, June 25, 1742, for two hundred
and fifty acres on both sides of small meadow
near Opequon Presbyterian meeting house.”

Peter Make, June 23, 1742, for one hundred
and sixty-eight acres on “Opequon run.”

David Vance, May 20, 1742, for one hundred
acres on both sides of the “Opequon run.”

James Hoge, May 26, 1742, for seven hundred
and sixty acres. This was near the present site
of Kernstown, lying West—and was part of
Joist Hite’s grant for thirty-three hundred and
ninety-five acres, known as the Springdale Set-
tlement, where Col. John Hite lived.

Jacob Hite, October 20, 1742, for twenty-six
hundred and sixty-eight acres on “south side of
Opequon.”

John Pentz, Oct. 20, 1742, for one hundred
and eighty-nine acres on “north side of Sherando
river.”

Thomas Brown, Oct. 20, 1742, for eight hun-

dred and eighty-two acres on west side of Sher-
ando river.

Samuel Glass, Nov. 26, 1742, for nine hundred
acres on the head of Opequon on west side of
said creek, meaning south at that point.

David Logan, Nov. 26, 1742, for eight hun-
dred and sixty acres on “west side of Bufflow
Meadow”—known for years as Buffalo Marsh.

Paul Froman, Nov. 22, 1742, for one hundred
and twenty acres on North fork of Sherando
river, adjoining Thomas Chester.

Emanuel Grubb, Aug. 26, 1742, for two hun-
dred and fifty acres on north side of Shenandoah
river.

John Grubb, Aug. 26, 1743, recorded same
day, for two hundred and sixty-five acres on
“north side of S. river.”

Thomas Ashby, Feb. 1, 1742, for two hundred
acres on north side of Shenandoah river.

Robert McKay, from Just Hite, William Duff
and Robert Green, June 28, 1744, for five hun-
dred acres on Linvell's Creek, being part of a
grant to Robert McKay, Just Hite, William
Duff, and Robt. Green for seven thousand and
nine acres, dated March, 1736.

This makes it appear that part of this grant
was located in the lower and western part of
Rockingham County,—before the Augusta line
was established. The larger part of this grant
embraced the vicinity of Front Royal. The
grant made as late as 1739, was peculiar in its
provisions, in that this company had a grant
for land wherever they could locate a survey
on land not theretofore located. Several other
small tracts were afterwards surveyed and con-
veyed by the company to purchasers; but it does
not appear that the company ever fully complied
with the terms, which were, that as they found
unsettled lands and a settler to take tracts, to
report the survey to the Council, and then the
Company to make deeds; until they thus used
up the seven thousand and nine acres, for which
the order was made. A number of minor grants
were issued to the Shepherd, Morgan, Swearin-
gen, Stephen, Boyd, Dark, Harper, Porterfield,
and other families, as early settlers, on the
South side of Cohongoroota River, now embraced
in the Counties of Berkley and Jefferson, while
Joliffe, Lupton, and others, in the north end of
Frederick; Helm, Calmes and others, along the
Shenandoah; Wlood, Rutherford and others near
Winchester, had their experience with the “Mi-
nor Grants,” and as the first settlers will receive
fuller notice in this volume.



CHAPTER IV

Old Frederick County

To write the history of Frederick County in
Virginia, which at one time embraced so much
of the territory lying East of the Blue Ridge,
the writer finds its early history so closely in-
terwoven with Tidewater Virginia, that he can
scarcely make it complete, without introducing
much that may appear at many stages as an
attempt to give the history of Lower Virginia.

The reader must at the outset rest assured,
that incidents are only mentioned when they con-
nect the two sections, so that the formation of
the new County of Frederick could become a
fact. Tidewater Virginia referred to, must not
be considered as only the territory embraced in
the original creation of the first colony, which
included all of North America between Nova
Scotia on the North to Florida on the South,
and for many years after the first English land-
ing, was known as Virginia.

Indeed, it may be said this title dates from the
discovery of the Carolina coasts by Sir Walter
Raleigh; for we have English history recording
the pleasure afforded Queen Elizabeth when
Raleigh gave his report of that celebrated sea-
going expedition, when he had named that great
territory Virginia, in honor of the Virgin Queen.
This was in 1585. The failure of Sir Walter
to colonize the Carolina shores, and the myster-
ious disaster to what was known as the “Roan-
oke Colony”—a disappearance so complete, that
no ray of intelligence has ever thrown light on
their fate—chilled the spirit of adventure.
Other efforts of the Virgin Queen to colonize
the shores of America, were dismal failures; and
it remained for James I to successfully plant the
first English colonies. The Virginia Company
of London, obtained a charter in 1606, for one
hundred miles square of the territory lying be-
tween Hudson River on the North, and Cape
Fear River, North Carolina. The Virginia
Company of Plymouth, obtained a charter for
one hundred miles of territory between the Po-
tomac River on the South and Nova Scotia on
the North. Of course, the geographical lines
were destined to overlap, and produce conten-
tions between the chartered companies. On
this, we have no comment to make here. The
first named companies developed Tidewater Vir-
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ginia, and discovered the country West of the
Blue Ridge, some of which became Frederick
County, the subject of the present study. The
author deems it proper to outline the first steps
of this Company. The first settlement made at
Jamestown, May 13, 1607, was attended with
difficulties, privation and destitution, until about
1620. The London Company seemed determined
to secure a foot-hold; and obtained a second
charter in 1609, extending their holdings for
two hundred miles North and South from Point
Comfort—“up into the land throughout from
sea to sea; west and northwest; and also all
the islands within one hundred miles along the
coasts of both seas.” The general reader knows
this Company never extended its rights from sea
to sea. The immigration that subsequently
sought homes in the new world, pushed slowly
westward and southward, until the tide not only
reached the great mountains, but swept over
them shortly after 1732. That tide, which ex-
tended into the northwest territory, untimately
gave to Virginia what was called The North-
west, which Virginia soldiers penetrated, and
founded the Ohio and Illinois country under
the leadership of Col. George Rogers Clark, who
planted the Virginia standard on the border
posts; and reported to Patrick Henry, Governor
of the Colony, the result of his expedition.

It will be shown in other chapters what was
acquired, and what was ceded to the Govern-
ment in 1784, after reserving what would be
necessary to satisfy the officers and men, for
their services. This is more fully treated in
chapters on the Valley Men during the Colonial
wars; where it will appear who many of the
men were, and amounts of land granted by the
Colony.

In Vol 1, p. 224, Hening’s Statutes, we have
the first legislation in reference to a subdivi-
sion of the Virginia Colony into counties, enact-
ed in 1634. “The country was divided into
eight Shires, which were to be governed as the
shires in England, and Lieutenants to be appoint-
ed the same as in England; sheriffs to be elect-
ed as in England, to have the same powers
as sergeants and bailiffs needs require.”” The
list of shires, or counties, formed in 1634, viz.:
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James City County, Warwick, Elizabeth City
County, North Hampton, Isle of Wight, Henri-
co, York and Mecklenburg, is inserted here to
lay the foundations for subdivisions that made
it possible to create counties one hundred years
later West of the Blue Ridge. It may be of
interest, as matter of reference, to trace the
dismemberment of the old Colony, starting
with York County, from which New Kent was
erected in 1754:

Old Rappahannock #rom Lancaster.. 1656

Essex from Old Rappahannock .... 1692

King and Queen from New Kent.. 1601

King William from King and Queen 1710

Spottsylvania from Essex, King Wm,,

and King and Queen .............. 1720

Orange from Spottsylvania .......... 1734

Frederick and Augusta from Orange.. 1738

Referring again to Hening’s Statutes, Vol. IV,
p. 450, we quote from Act of General Assembly,
1734, the following, to define the boundaries of
Orange so far as it relates to the territory so
soon to be known as Frederick and Augusta:
“Bounded northerly by grant of Lord Fairfax;
and westerly by utmost limits of Virginia, to be
called and known by the name of Orange.” And
as Frederick in her first formation, embraced
the country comprising all of the Shenandoah
Valley from the Augusta line, which crossed the
Valley near the site of Harrisonburg, we must
treat all of the Valley thence northward to the
Potomac, and then westward to the French
boundary, to give a history of Old Frederick;
this would include the history of a large part
of West Virginia. This volume will not claim
to be a complete history of Old Frederick to its
western boundary. Only a few incidents will
appear which connected that section with the
Lower Valley. The writer is well aware that
. some reader will regard the statement as infring-
ing upon the rights of the West Augusta Dis-
trict. This, however, will be fully explained.
Much conflict of authority appeared between
Augusta and Frederick, all of which was ami-
cably determined by legislation when the divid-
ing lines were defined.

When we come to chronicle many incidents in
the development of the Lower Valley, the wri-
ter may often appear as writing the history of
the Lower Shenandoah Valley, so attractively
written by J. E. Norris, 1890. The writer knew
Mr. Norris well; and was associated with him
for more than six months, giving him the bene-
fit of his long experience in the old clerk’s of-
fice, as he prepared his work, regarded by many
as valuable for any library. To aid Mr. Norris
in his effort to give us a history of the Lower

Valley, the writer freely gave him the use of
a large collection of notes he had constantly
made, as they would be unfolded to him in his
daily routine of searching titles to estates, or
for incidents of interest to correspondents; and
thus in this gradual way, he possessed the chief
material used in his History of the Lower Val-
ley. The writer since that day found much un-
written history, which will be embraced in these
pages. Some incidents may differ from those
given by Mr. Norris; but we must use many of
the original notes in this work; and if the reader
should feel that we fail to credit Mr. Norris as
our authority, he should remember that Mr.
N. seldom referred to his authority in using
the notes of his author. The writer has in his
hands a letter from Mr. Norris, written from
Texas, where he died shortly after, stating that
a large collection of the notes furnished by the
writer, was in his trunk at Hagerstown, Md,
and that his son would return them to the au-
thor. With this explanation, we will now pro-
ceed to condense incidents, and so weave them
into a book of reference. The public feels the
need of a volume that will quickly answer the
many questions daily asked concerning the for-
mation and development of the county, so it
may be a ready hand-book for all.

By an Act of the House of Burgesses,
Nov., 1738, Old Orange County, which embraced
so much more territory than we can compre-
hend, was divided into three counties—viz.:
Orange, Frederick and Augusta, Frederick being
named for Frederick, then Prince of Wales;
Augusta for Princess Augusta, the wife of the
Prince, who was the oldest son of George II,
but died before his father.

“Owing to some delay of the population in
these parts, not being able to report a sufficient
number of competent men able to officer the new
County,” the Courts for all this section were
held at Orange C. H., until Nov., 1743, when
the first Court was held for Frederick County;
and as this was an important feature in the
organization of Frederick County, embracing (as
will be more fully shown elsewhere) the terri-
tory afterwards subdivided into thé counties
of Rockingham, Shenandoah, Jefferson, Berkley,
Morgan, Hampshire, part of Page, part of
Hardy, and finally Clarke and Warren Counties.
And when we remember that only a few settle-
ments were to be found at that time, and they
considerable distances apart, we need not be
surprised that the “population” was slow in
reporting a sufficient number of men from these
settlements for Justices and other officers, and
preferred to attend court at Orange C. H. for
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five years after their formation. We give the
authority for holding this first court, as entered
at that time in the old records of the county; and
as it was beyond any doubt the first record made
in the courts of Frederick County, it is well
worthy a place in this work, in all the style of
that period and apparent dignity of the occasion;
and we can readily imagine the Gentlemen Jus-
tices who appeared at that time in answer to
the distinguished authority, exhibited much
dignified solemnity in assuming the judicial con-
trol of the growing population. The record is
in the hand writing of one who became familiar
in the history of the State, and is well preserved
in a well bound volume, with the simple words
on the cover: “Order Book No. 1, 1743.” This
order book, comprising 480 pages, is altogether
in the handwriting of James Wood, the Clerk.
He dignifies his first entry by using the large
size letters, sometimes called “German Text.”

FREDERICK COUNTY Sct

“Be it Remembered, That on the eleventh day
of November, Anno Domini, MD,CCXLIII-
1743.

A commission of the Peace dated the twenty-
second day of October, MD,CCXLIII, under the
hand of the Honorable William Gooch, Esq.,
His Majesties Lieutenant Governor and Com-
mander in Chief of the Colony and Dominion
of Virginia, and the seal of this Colony; Di-
rected to Morgan Morgan, Benjamin Borden,
Thomas Chester, David Vaunce, Andrew Camp-
bell, Marquis Calmes, George Hoge, John White,
and Thomas Little; Gents, and a Dedimus for
administering the oaths to said Justices being
read, the said Morgan Morgan and David
Vaunce, pursuant to the said Dedimus, adminis-
tered the oaths appointed by Act of Parliament
to be taken instead of the oaths of allegiance
and Supremacy, and the oath of abjuration unto
the said Marquis Calmees, Thomas Rutherford,
William McMahon, Meredith Helms, George
Hoge and John White, who severally subscribed
the Test and then said Morgan Morgan and
David Vaunce administered the oaths of a Jus-
tice of the Peace and of a Justice of ye County
Court in Chancery unto the said Marquis Cal-
mees, Thomas Rutherford, William McMahon,
Meridith Helms, George Hoge and John White,
and afterwards the said Marquis Calmees,
Thomas Rutherford, William McMahon, Meri-
dith Helms, George Hoge and John White
pursuant to the said Dedimus, administered all
and every the said oaths unto the said Morgan
Morgan and David Vaunce, who severally sub-
scribed the Test and were sworn in the Com-
mission accordingly.”

Court Proclaimed

At a Court held for Frederick County on Fri-
day ‘the Eleventh day of Nov., 1743.

Present :

Morgan Morgan,
David Vaunce,
Marquis Calmees,
Thomas Rutherford,
William McMahon,
Meridith Helms,
George Hoge,
John White.

Gent Justices.

A Commission to James Wood Gent under
the hand and seal of the Hon. Thomas Nelson,
Esq., Secretary of Virginia, bearing date twenty-
second day of October, MD,CCXLIII, to be
Clerk of County Court of this county being
produced and read in Court the said James
Wood having taken the oaths appointed by Act
of Parliament to be taken instead of the oaths
of allegiance and supremacy, and the oaths of
abjuration made, and subscribed the test, was
sworn Clerk of this court accordingly;”

And the Court being thus organized by “all
of the Justices then present taking their seats,”
proceeded to qualify court officers as provided
for in the Commission from the Governor;
James Wood was sworn Clerk of this Court,
Thomas Rutherford—High Sheriff, and George
Home, County Surveyor. As it may be of inter-
est to many, the names of the first Lawyers to
appear in the court to practice their profession
will be given at this point, though they will ap-
pear in their proper order in the list of attorneys
of the county Court throughout its history to
the present date: James Porteous, John Steer-
man, George Johnston, and John Newport—
strange names to the people of this day. These
gentlemen appeared and “being duly qualified to
practice the art of the law,” desiring that privi-
lege be entered in the minutes of the court that
they be granted the use of the courthouse to
attend to legal wants of such persons who may
desire professional service.” Some will enquire
where and what was the Courthouse mentioned
in this order! This will be treated under the
head of the Courthouse and Market Place.

The business at the first term was confined
chiefly to making orders to put the government
in motion. The clerk was ordered to procure
books for the purpose of keeping a minute of
the proceedings—and to enter orders of court
and this rule held for fifty years of keeping two
separate books for the court, one called “Min-
utes,” and the other “Court Order Book.” Many
enquiries have been made of the writer as Clerk,
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to explain this; and much of the unpublished his-
tory of the early days is found, in the Minute book
—We will have occasion to quote frequently, inci-
dents from their musty leaves. Few persons
have ever seen them; for one hundred years
they were packed away, out of sight and out
of use. The Clerk was directed to “employ a
suitable person to fetch the law books from
the house of Mr. Parks for the use of the Jus-
tices;” and this order was entered “that no con-
stables or overseers of the poor be appointed
at this term, but those who have been serving
as such officers of the Orange Court as it ex-
tended within the limits of Frederick County,
be continued in their respective offices until an-
other term of this court.” We will use some
space in producing copies of other orders, that
doubtless will contain matter of interest to some
readers who may chance to read these pages.
The reason will appear satisfactory, when we
consider that only about ten years had passed
since the first settlements were made;—and the
reader of the old “minute book” of that period
will be astonished to see how many names ap-
pear—some to reveal the fact, for the first time,
to many a far-away descendant, whose ancestor
was prominent in the organization. Some names
within a few decades entirely disappeared from
the “population;” others became still more prom-
inent in the affairs of their State as artizans,
statesmen, soldiers, etc. Taking this order enter-
ed at this term, we find names then prominent—
some afterwards more so—but to-day not one
of the names are to be found in our records
as citizens of the county, except the well-known
Robinson family. One name, however, that of
McNamee is now known in the county as a
resident, but not on any record; and it seems
strange that this name is represented in the
person of a widow, connecting the incidents
with this late day. The minute shows it to be
the first will probated in Frederick County;
“The Last Will and Testament of Bryant Mc-
Namee, dec’d, was presented into court by
Elizabeth McNamee, Executrix therein named,
who made oath thereto according to law, and
being proved by the oaths of Israel Robinson
and William Richie, two of the witnesses there-
to, the same admitted to record; and the said
Israel Robinson and William Richie also further
made oath that they saw Edward Hughes, an-
other witness to the said will, sign the same
as an evidence—and on the motion of the said
executrix her performing what is usual in such
cases, certificate is granted her for obtaining a
probate thereof in due form; and the said Eliza-
beth McNamee together with Evan Watkins and

William Richie her securities, acknowledged
their bond for the said Elizabeth McNamee’s
faithful and true administration of the estate
of “said Bryant McNamee dec’d, which Bond is
admitted to record.”

The next order was a grant of Letters of Ad-
ministration to Elizabeth Seaman, on the estate
of Jonathan Seaman, “she being the widow and
relict of the dec’d, with John Denton as secur-
ity.” The appraisers named for the McNamee
estate are Morgan Bryan, Richard Beason, Ed-
ward Hughs, and Israel Robinson—all new names
to this generation except the numerous families
of the last named.

The next minute—“Abram Pennington in open
court acknowledged his Deed of Lease for land
to Christopher Beeller”—no such names in Fred-
erick at this date.

At the December Term of this court. held on
“Fryday the ixth day of December, MD,CCXLIIL,”
four of the Justices were present: Morgan Mor-
gan, Wm. McMachen, David Vaunce, and
George Hoge. It will be observed the clerk
learned how to spell the name of McMachen,
the name will appear later on as McMickin. The
writer had a personal friend many years ago—
Mr Samuel McMicken of Moorefield, West
Virginia, and he claimed his line of descent
from the old Justice.

First minute at this Term is the filing of a
petition by John Wilcox and others for a Road
from John Funks mill to Chesters Ferry—and
from thence to where the road takes out of
Chesters Road to Manassas Run. Viewers were
appointed. Many readers will have no difficulty
in locating the route for this new and first road
asked to be opened. Starting from what was
soon known as Funkstown, now Strasburg, and
the heading for the celebrated Gap in the Blue
Ridge to the historical “Manassas.” How many
old comrades can be named who are survivors
of many weary marches over this well known
road! Few realized its importance when it was
“marked” and laid off by “Thomas Chester,
John Wilcox and Jacob Funk.” Observe how
careful the Court was in the selection of the
viewers, starting with Thomas Chester at one
end, coming to the forks of the Shenandoah
River near Front Royal, and then to West end
of Funks Mill. This road was used in various
ways by the contending armies during the Civil
Wiar. Other mention of this road will appear
in Chapter on Battlefields. The next minute
should be of interest from the fact that the
principal features relate to the first settlers near
Shepherdstown. The next minute shows that
the last will and testament of Benjamin Borden
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was presented by his widow, Zeruiah, and Ben-
jamin Borden—his son—who it will be seen was
then, in 1743, of lawful age. The father without
doubt being the Benjamin Borden who followed
the Hite Colony. This will should have been
read and studied by historians of Augusta Coun-
ty. The celebrated Burden Grant located on
the “upper” James River, is disposed of by the
testator, and settles many errors in relation to
this grant. At this Term, James Porteous was
named as King's Attorney—“until his honor, the
Governour’s pleasure is known.” At the January
Term (13th) the following order is entered
“Ordered that the Surveyor of this county run
the dividing line between this and Augusta coun-
ty, according to the Act of the Assembly, from
the head springing of Hedgeman river to Patter-
sons Creek.” Referring to the “Act of Assem-
bly,” we find very little to determine either its
starting or terminal points. Many persons differ
as to what is the head springs of a river. Suffi-
cient for our purpose, however, that the spring
mentioned was in the mountains East of the Luray
Valley, and point of Pattersons Creek, West from
Moorefield,—while supposed to be a straight line
and “marks erected,” many are confounded when
they consider certain high mountains encounter-
ed, some summits of which had not been scaled
until in recent years.

We find in the minutes of this Term, evidence
of settlements on Capon River,—this one entry
being sufficient: “On petition of Noah Hamp-
ton and others for a road from Noah Hamp-
ton’s mill into a road on Great Ca-Capon near
James Coddy’s Ftt, ordered that Jonathan Co-
burn, Isaac Thomas, Peter Kuykendall and
James Delheryea, or any two of them, view,
mark and lay off the road petitioned for by the
said Hampton &c., and make return of their
proceedings to this court.” When we consider
in this day of rush and bustle, the brief period
since Governor Spottswood proclaimed to the
world what he had discovered beyond the Great
Mountains,—we must be impressed with the
quick attention people gave to his glowing de-
scription of the wonderful land, abounding with
game, studded with virgin forests, and watered
with mountain streams. They seemed to be
settling everywhere. On the Great Ca-Capon—
we find they had a mill, and needed roads for a
growing settlements, and mention Coddy’s Fort,
standing to this day—a suitable fortress—Na-
ture’s own formation—which answered well their
purposes as a place of safety in defending the
settlements from frequent attacks of roving tribes
of Indians. This historical Rock, known to-day
as “Coddy’s Castle,” offered nothing as a place

of safety from other hands during the Civil War.
At same term, James Wood presented a bill for
plank he bought of Isaac Perkins for use of the
court.

We also have in evidence the first appearance
of a “Pedlar,” in Frederick County; and it might
be well to give a copy of the order: “John
Dooues on his motion is permitted to Trade as
Pedlar in this Colony, he having paid the Gov-
ernor’s fee and together with Thomas Ruther-
ford Gent, his security entered into Bond ac-
cording to law and acknowledged the same, the
said Bond is admitted to record.” The Pedlar
in that day was a much needed trader in the
Colony—and most likely, as he sold his wares,
he proved very often an interesting visitor; for
he travelled from settlement to settlement; and
no doubt his news of the distant neighbors, as
he imparted it, was of much interest to his will-
ing listeners. At the same court, License was
granted for the first Ordinary—or House of En-
tertainment, in the county. “On the petition of
William Hoge, Jun. for leave to keep Ordinary
at his House in the County, License is granted
him for one year, he having paid the Governor’s
fees, together with James Wood Gent, his se-
curity, entered Bond according to law.” Where
this first “Ordinary” afterwards called “Tav-
ern” was located, we only have to find he was
located and is shown in his deed, as being about
where Kernstown now stands, and very near the
old Opeckon Church.

Second day of same term, January, 1744, Pat-
rick Riley, was granted a similar license, also
Tomas Hart, Lewis Neil, Andrew Campbell,
and Morgan Morgan were granted licenses to
keep Ordinaries at their respective houses, all
located in the county, and were required to “fur-
nish lodgings and food and Liquors at prices fixed
by the court.”

We have more attorneys appearing at this
term, offering their services, viz.: William Rus-
sell, John Quinn and Gabriel Jones,—having
taken the oaths, took their places at the Bar.
On another day of the same term, William Jol-
liffe and Michael Ryan appeared and having tak-
en the oaths, took their places at the bar; one
Constable was appointed for each Justice—Ben-
jamin and Robert Rutherford qualified as Deputy
Sheriffs. Business for Lawyers and Constables
came very fast;—many petty depredations com-
plained and actions to recover from some fleeing
debtor,—all small amounts, however. No crime
of any importance. When these cases were ex-
amined by the court “and evidence being suffi-
cient,” the defendants were committed to Jaoil
until they could furnish security for their ap-
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pearance “before His Magestys Court holden
at Wms Burgh.” No trial of felony by the new
court. The first Coroner for the new County
was qualified, he having produced his Commis-
sion from the Governor, dated Oct., 1743. At
this Term, we have this about the first Ferry—
the County Court takes interest in. Such grants
may have been made by the Court at Orange:
“John Kersey by his Petition set forth that by
an order of Orange county Court he had leave
to keep Ferry over Sherandoe river near the
wagon Road where he liveth, and Prayed leave
to continue the said Ferry; Its ordered that same
be continued accordingly.” Upon enquiry, we
are led to believe that this Ferry was below
Front Royal. However, we will let some des-
cendant of the enterprising Mr. Kersey follow
this out. Another road is requiring attention
of the Court,—thus showing that the settlements
were desirous of opening communication with
each other,—bringing about much intercourse
and trade; and to locate these sections for the
reader of to-day, we give a few orders of Court,
which show in some cases a little light that may
do much to answer inquiries from so many per-
sons to know. “If the old Plantation still stands
on the old wagon Road from Winchester to other
parts; that their ancestors had often told them
of such old places they left behind them when
they sought new homes in the West.”

“On petition of John Wood, it is ordered that
John Hardin, Samuel Timmons, and Edward
Rogers, or any two of them, view the Road from
Blue Ball to Ashbies bent branch and make
Report.” “On petition of Patrick Riely, its or-
dered that the Road be cleared from the head
of the spring by The Chappel to Johns Evans,
as it has been formerly laid off by order of
Orange Court,” where this Chappel was in 1743,

(We will treat this under the head of Churches,
etc.)

“On petition of Thomas Province and others
for a Road from John Frost’s mill to the main
road between John Littlers plantation and John
Millburns”—Ordered John Littler, William Dil-
lon, and Joseph Burchham—Ilay off the same &c.”

An order was made at this term requiring
Ordinary keepers to sell “Liquors” at same rating
granted by the Orange court—to continue until
a rating is fixed at the next Mch ct. Richard
Morgan moved the court to “discharge him
from the bond as surety for Elizabeth Perkins,
as she was squandering away the estate of her
Father,” the bond having been given in the
Orange court—The case was continued to next
term,—when we find the Court repremanding
Mr. Morgan for having made statements to the

court without first ascertaining what the Oranke
Court would show, and confronted him with a
copy of a satisfactory accounting by said Eliza-
beth—of her administrators estate, and that he
be adjudged to pay all costs of this enquiry.
At the next term, Feb, 1744, we find another
road is needed. The minute is copied to show
the locality, “Ordered that George Bowman, An-
drew Falkenborough and Robert McKay Junr—
view and lay off the road from John Funk’s mill
across Cedar run Creek ford, to the said Robert
McKay's junr and to Branston’s Gap, according
to the petition of Jacob Teeters.” At the next
term we are informed of the localities through
which this road passes. This minute is entered;
George Bowman and Robert McKay, jur.—made
their report for viewing and laying off the road
from John Funks mill,—“have laid off the road
from John Funks mill back of George Helm’s,
and from thence to Cedar Creek ford and Rob-
ert McKays, thence Gregories’ ford upon the
River.” “George Dellener, (Dellinger) Robert
McKay, and George Bowman, appointed Over-
seers.” In the report of commissioners to open
the road from Funks Mill to Chester’s Ferry, to
where the road takes off to Manassas Run,—
Jacob Funk, overseer, seems to be another road,
heading from Cedar Creek Settlements towards
the Manassas Settlements, than the road petition-
ed for in the first minute given. At the Febru-

ary term we find a long order, directing John

Littler—the Yorkshireman and Wm. Dillon to
lay out the road from John Frosts Mill to the
main road between Littlers and Millburns, in
these words:—“We have laid off the road from
Captain Frosts mill thence to Buffler-lick, thence
to the Backside of John Bossers’ field, thence to
David Shringers, thence to the usual ford, thence
on east side of Wm. Frosts’ Plantation, thence
along a good Ridge by a course of marked trees
to Matthias Elmores, thence along said Elmores
creek to the head—the best conveniensts way
that can be had by widow Dillons, by the said
marked trees to the main road leading to Rap-
pahannock—between John Littlers and Mill-
burns.” This road started from the settlements
along Red Bud and that part of Opecquon Creek,
passing them, and now found on the two streams
in that section, crossed the Opeequon at Dix’s Eord,
at the farm now owned by Lucien Carr, of Win-
chester, and thence along the main road leading
to one of the gaps in Blue Ridge. We think
it well to take some space along the line of
opening roads,—because in this simple way we
locate many families, giving their names in the
petitions and orders; and may thus awaken en-
quiry and such investigation along such lines,
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that will tend to unravel many mysteries sur-
rounding the old ancestors regarding their homes,
etc. The road asked for at a former term,—
to run through the Ca-Capon country, is heard
from again at this term. The Report, which was
confirmed,—says “that a road from the north
Branch of Ca-Capon to James Cody’s is needed.”

Here is authority shown by the Court in the
matter of handling Liquors. It seemed to be
much needed in that day so that the retailer of
the beverage should be regulated to suit the re-
sources of those who cared to indulge in a so-
cial glass; the long order will be abbreviated.
The court fixed a price on every class of drinks;
and a very important rule was made: the bever-
ages must be pure, and were to be inspected
regularly. We may infer that the honorable Justices
placed this burden on themselves; for they failed
to name the inspector, possibly one of the at-
torneys relieved them; for it will be seen later
on that Gabriel Jones and his lusty friend of
the Emerald Isle were concerned about the wel-
fare of those who handled the spirrits; Heavy
bonds were required for a full compliance with
the law.

February 11, 1744, Gabriel Jones was recom-
mended as Kings Attorney, and proceeded to
prosecute—Dooues for assault and battery on one
Samuel Isaacs; the firsttrial in the new court.
March Court, 1744—Henry Munday was admitted
to practice law. The Clerk was directed to pro-
cure from England setts of standard weights
and measures. One of the new attorneys, Mich-
ael Ryan, was debarred the practice of law for
two months, for “drunkenness.” At this term,
March 10, Gabriel Jones presented his commis-
sion as Kings attorney for this court; and having
taken the oaths of office—which were very bind-
ing and impressive—we soon find him busy pros-
ecuting every offender of the law, and became
such a successful prosecutor,—that page after
page of the old minute books for a long time
are taken up in recording who the offenders
were, nature of the offense, and ultimate results
of many interesting trials. The efficient Kings
Attorney not only changed the order of the trans-
gressors living, but had the court adopt the
new style for computing time—or at least the
change was made, and from that time courts
began the year on the first day of January in-
stead of the first day of April. At the April
term, 1744, we have the first mention of a Jury,
which was called to actually try a ‘“charge” of
Commonwealth versus Michael Ryan, for assault
and battery. The minute reads thus: “This day
came the parties by their attorneys, and a Jury
also came, to wit: James Hoge, foreman, (no

other Jurymen named) who being Tryed and
sworn to try, &c., &c., one of the Indictments for
a Felony, etc.” At this term occurs an incident
that will be of interest to many, as it meant much
to the whole “Population,” as we have occasion
to treat more fully under head of Churches, etc.

“Ordered that the Clerk of this court write to
his Hon., the Governor, for a power to Choose
a Vestry for the Parish of Frederick, in this
County.”

The Court having in their first experience
found the Jury system some relief in deciding
questions of facts,—the Hon. Justices to pass
upon the law points—we find them ever ready
to call a Jury. At another day of this term we
have for the first time the names of a Jury, and
give them here as a matter that may be of interest
to some; Edward Rogers, Robert Allan,
Thomas Cherry, Thos. Berwick, Morgan Bryan,
John Bruce, Peter Woolfe, John Olford, George
Hobson, Colbert Anderson, Gerge Martin,
James Bruce, James Hoge, Robt. Smith, John
Linzey, John Hite, Francis Ross, Samuel Isaacs,
Robert Willson, William Davis, Jno. Frost, and
John Richardson; they were all land owners.
This gives the reader the names of families
then resident of the county, and he may get a
clue to his old ancestor.

“At the May term (11) 1744, a Commission
from Governor Gooch—was presented to the
court by the Clerk. This was the appointment
of the Justices for ensuing year, the old Jus-
tices being reappointed and others newly com-
missioned. We give the names of the new Jus-
tices: Thomas Little, John Linzy, Jacob Hyte,
Thomas Swearingen, Israel Robinson, Solomon
Hedges. The first Grand Jury for the county
was summoned for this term. Their names and
their findings, are given in full and show many
new names coming to the front to make history
for the county:—John Hardin, foreman; Robt.
Allan, George Hobson, James Vance, John Wil-
cox, Peter Woolfe, Isaac Pennington, David
Logan, Robert Worth, Joshua Hedges, Robt.
Willson, Samuel Norris, Hugh Parrell, James
Hoge, Jacob Niswanger, Charles McDowell.

The following persons were indicted “for sell-
ing liquors without License: Robert Craft, James
Findley, Shinn, and Cuthbert Harrison, and
James Burns, a Constable, for swearing oaths
and otherwise disturbing the peace and dignity
of the Community; Jonathan Curtis, for plow-
ing on Sunday;” the old Justices seemed deter-
mined to maintain a rigid observance of the
Sabbath. Noah Hampton, who succeeded at a
former term in having a road opened from his
mill on Great Capon, was presented for taking
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more toll from his customers than the law al-
lowed. Omne other deserves special mention, and
the minute is copied: “We present Coll. James
Wood for getting drunk and swearing two oaths
within six months.,” It is surmised, the Clerk
was then reformed, as in his long service after,
he was noted for his dignity and decorum.

“June term—8,—” Duncan Oguillion was grant-
ed a license to keep an Ordinary, and since he was
awarded the contract for building the jail, we
may assume he was a resident of the village. It
appears later on that Duncan partook too freely of
his refreshments; for we find him imprisoned
in the jail he had recently built. At this term
we find the Sabbath-breaker, Jonathan Curtis,
in deep trouble. He was indicted for writing
and publishing several articles against the Es-
tablished Church. Evidently this Quaker was
not willing to be governed in his new field of
freedom. At the same court we have this inci-
dent: Rev. Wm. Williams was fined 4 pounds
and costs, to pay for “joyning in the holy bonds
of matrimony, several persons, he being no or-
thodox minister,” the minute shows that he re-
sented the unjust action of the court, and he was
fined 26 shillings for “behaving indecently be-
fore the court.” Doubtless he was a visiting
Presbyterian minister, and joined in wedlock
some of the Scotch-Irish in the vicinity of
“Old Opeckon” meeting house. The Church of
England at that time recognized no Ministers
other than those ordained by that Church; as by
reference to chapter on churches is more fully
explained. On the same day, two Attorneys in-
curred the displeasure of the justices,—the
court fined James Porteous and John Quinn
for “indecently behaving and swearing before
the court;” caused by disagreement of the at-
torneys over the trial of a case. At this term,
the first naturalization papers were granted;
Peter Mauk, a German, being the first. He was
one of the Adam Mueller Settlement in the
“Massanuttin” region, fully treated elsewhere.
Not long after this act of the old settler,
quite a number of Protestants appeared and sub-
scribed to the oaths prescribed by Acts of Par-
liament. Some of their names are given; Philip
and Michael Boucher (afterwards written
Boogher) ; Henry and George Lough Miller,
Valentine and Christopher Windle, John Har-
man, George Dellinor, John Frederick, V. Helm.
One of the minutes of this term must be given
by reason of the significant allusion to where
the first Courts were held: The court laid the
first Levy at this term and specified how the same
should be distributed:

To James Wood, Clerk, extra services
tobacco
as per account

“ same for four record books and one
law book from Wm-burgh 8 shill-

----------------------

INES O ..iveriieinerinnnonnnenns 128 “
“ James Wood, 6 Webbs Justices for

use of county £3, §s. or ...... 1040 “
“ Mr. Secretary Nelson ............ 670 “
“ James Wood, for use of Court house,

E > T 1280 “
“ Thomas Rutherford, Sheriff—extra

SETVICES .. ..iieiieniiiiiennenn 1248 “

as per account ................ 20923 “
“ Isaac Perkins for 526 feet of plank

for use of court house........ 315 “
“ Gabriel Jones as Kings attorney.. 2000 “
“ John Bruce, for building the Stocks

& Pillory .....covvvvininnan.... 1840 ¢
“ John Harrow, for iron work on

Stocks & Pillory .............. 320 “
“ James Porteous, for public services 1000 “
“ Andrew Campbell, pay for three men

going to South Branch concern-

ing Indians ................... 960 “
“ John Jones, constable ............ 211 “
“ James Wood, for standard weights

and measures .................. 5440 “
“ George Home, for running dividing

line .. .. iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee 24416 “
By 1283 tithables at 59 lbs, Tobacco

per poll ... .. ..iiiiiiiiiiils 75697

This minute is a valuable record, showing the
number of persons who had been found by dili-
gent officers and required to pay the poll tax.
The number 1283 shows the county to be sparse-
ly settled; for it must be borne in mind, the old
County had not yet been subdivided, then again
that Tobacco was a staple crop, and also a legal
tender. The minutes will repay careful reading
and study. The minutes of court for several
subsequent terms contain many interesting in-
cidents. We will add this minute, “Mr. James
Wood produced his commission as Surveyor,
signed by the President and Masters of William
and Mary College.” At this term George Home
surveyor cf the county, made return of his
report. “That he had run the county line ac-
cording to an order of this court, marking the
Augusta line, same is admitted to record.” The
writer has been unable to find this record. The
original was returned to Williamsburgh and later
destroyed by fire in Richmond. This court for
the first time made an order for having person-
al property “Listed for Taxation;” and certain
of the Justices to take these “Lists.”” Later on,
the office “of Comr. of the Revenue” was created,
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—but we find Justices continued to perform this
service—of course they were not required by
Statute to perform it. They seemed to treat the
office as one of the emoluments of the Hon.
Court. This was the case in the office of High
Sheriff; the senior Justice always being named
by the Governor for this office after the Justices
had formally recommended one of their number
for appointment. This gave the court the right
to pass upon the fitness of their President. We
find the court asking the High Sheriff to re-
commend several persons for Deputies; the
court would then appoint one of the Justices who
seemed willing to help along, for many were
needed to serve processes in the sparsely settled
country :

At the October Term, 1745, we have this
minute to show how work on the public build-
ings is progressing:

“Levied to James Bruce for mending
the seats in the Court house to be
paid in Tobacco .............. 64 pounds

To John Littler for plank for prison.. 8goY,
“ Marquis Calmes for iron work on the

Prisons ........ ....cciiena... 3200 “
“ Duncan O’Guillon for work on Goal,

tobacco .... ..iiiiiiiiiiinennn 6400 “
“ Hugh Campbell for digging the Dun-

geon of the Prison .......... 1120 “

We are unable to account for the distinction
between the Prison and Goal, doubtless the one
building embraced both. From the next item,
we infer the Justices were fortifying their judi-
cial positions;

“Levied to Giles Chapman for bringing to the
court 13 Acts of Assembly.”’ The foregoing min-
utes clearly indicate a completion of the Jail or
prison just prior to this term. Norris in his
History, gives the date of completion Septem-
ber 8th 1748 (an error;)

The Court held Monthly terms; and from this
period each term indicated new settlements
springing up, to receive attention from the courts.
The tide of immigration had turned towards
the famed country lying South of the “Cohon-
guruta,” where families were seeking homes
West of the Blue Ridge. As has already been
said, petitions for opening roads were pouring
in at every term; and the ten years succeeding
this term from which the last minutes were
gathered, witnessed enormous development, A
full list of roads opened prior to 1753, is given
in chapters on the topography and physical fea-
tures of the County. The court was also grant-
ing mill rights on the various streams. A num-
ber of superior mill sites were soon appropriated;
and rude, but useful structures sprang up in

all sections. We will try to locate the more
prominent as this study progresses. The nucleus
for villages being formed will be located—
Churches or Meeting Houses were going up
which will be found in Chapters on Churches.
The Field notes of Washington show many sur-
veys for tracts of land which were returned to
Court, and ordered to be recorded or filed.
Deeds were then made to many settlers at vari-
ous places, extending from the Shenandoah to
Great Capon, and along South Branch, Some
were located in what is called, “Washington’s
Pattersons Creek Survey,” embracing many
thousand acres. Many found homes in what was
known as “South Branch Manor,” the old sur-
veys are very instructive. They locate the tracts,
names of grantees, and dates of entry. As it
may serve to show who many of the arrivals
were, brief notices of the names and regions
where they settled about 1749-50, will be given,
though some doubtless had erected the sguatters
cabin several years previously, and waited for some
Lord of the Manor to come and give them title.
Some names appear with surveys, who had other
tracts and resided on such as the very earliest
settlers. Andrew Campbell, one of the Justices,
lived in the vicinity of the Baths northwest of
Winchester; George Wm. Fairfax, survey for
land on Long Marsh, John Anderson on same,—
Captain Thos. Ashby on Shen. River above Bur-
rells Island, Henry and Robt. Ashby on the Fair-
fax Road, Jas. Blackburn lived on his land on
Long Marsh, Capt. George Neavill had survey
on Long Marsh, Thos. Colston’s survey on same,
John Cozen’s on same, Richard Carter for sev-
eral large tracts on same, Isabella Jump, survey
on same, John Vane and John Madden at Joe's
Hole on Long Marsh, Saml. Isaacs and Isaac Pen-
nington on Long Marsh, Thos. Johnston owned
land on same, adjoining Col. Blackstone; George
Smith, on the same; Jeremiah Wood, Patrick
Rice, Nathaniel Daugherty, John Loftin, Hannah
Southerd, Maj. L. Washington, had surveys on
Long Marsh made by Washington and his chain
carriers. Long Marsh has ever been noted for its
fertile soil and Colonial Homesteads, and is to-
day the name of one of the Magisterial Districts
in Clarke County. The Bullskin Creek offered
attractions for the following named persons, who
were settling in that section, and the Washing-
ton surveys, embraced them. Henry Bradshaw,
Lawrence Washington, Marquis Calmes, the Jus-
tice; Richard Stephenson, Wm. Davis; G. W.
Fairfax; Joshua Haynes, George Johnston (in
another tract he is mentioned as Capt. George
Johnston) Thos. Lofton, & Dr. James McCor-
mick are mentioned as “abutting owners” to
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Capt. Johnston’s tract. Johnston sold his tract
to George Washington. Patrick Mathews was
on the South side the Bullskin; Capt. Isaac Pen-
nington, mentioned as a resident, on the Bull-
skin :—Washington in his notes says, “I lodged
there, the first night in first survey cam-
paign,” and Anderson Pitts had been pre-
viously on his patent, also Capt. Thos. Ruther-
ford “was seated and desired no survey,” like-
wise Nathaniel Thomas, also Saml. Walker
(written in notes Waker,) Robt. Worthington
was on a large grant. The following surveys
were along the Shenandoah River; Robt. Fox,
Edward Musgrove, George Neavill, adjoining
Wm. Vestal who owned the Vestal Iron Works
at base of Blue Ridge; Saml. Knisman, Henry
Enoch, John Newton; Henry Harris's survey
near the “Manor Line,” “John Vestall, previous-
ly seated on Pattent.”” The following named
persons had surveys made them on the South

Branch. Washin‘gton, says John Collins had -

settled in the Manor—near the Indian Village
(North of site of Moorefield,) and that he and
Mr. George Wm. Fairfax spent the night with
Collins. This note also appears “James Rutledge
was settled about seventy miles above mouth of
South Branch, where they spent a night. Mich-
ael Stump, Henry Venable, need surveys, for
lands settled on prior to 1748. This note is
dated April, 1758. The young surveyor evident-
ly made one mistake in his life; for at that date,
Col. Washington was in the Fort Duquesne cam-
paign, and also interested in his election cam-
paign on his return in June. This survey must
have been made in 1753, while on his surveying
expedition. In same note book this appears:
“surveyed a tract of land——acres for William
Baker on Lost River, November 10, 1749, which
adjoins Barnaby McHandry,” John Kinson had
his survey on Lost River, several surveys are
mentioned. Jonathan Arnold and David Woods

on North River of Ca-Capon, Darby McKeever,
Sen., for survey on Ca-Capon River, and several
others; Abram Johnston and others were on
Pattersons Creek in 1748, supposed to have come
from Penn, via, Fort Cumberland. That was
dangerous ground at that period, for many im-
migration trains were attacked by roving bands
of Indians, as will be shown later on. Washing-
ton and Fairfax name their chain carriers and
markers for each tract, and this will furnish
some names that will not appear elsewhere. The
list is given for reference. Frequently he select-
ed men who were adjoining owners; the follow-
ing represent several sections; John Anderson,
Henry & Robt. Ashby, Capt. M. Calmes, markers
on their own lands, Francis & Thos. Carney,
Joshua Haynes, Henry Henricks, Tos. Jones,
John Keith, Timothy McCarty, Thos. McClana-
han, Dr. James McCormick, John Miller, Jno.
& Ned Musgrove, Hgh. Rankin, Ruben Ruther-
ford, Stephen Sebastian, Richard Taylor, Lewis
Thomas, Owen Thomas, Jno. Urton, Alexander
Vance, Wm. Wiggons, Jeremiah Wood, and
Worthington. For much interesting matter re-
lating to surveys, the old deed books deserve
careful study; and for personal matter relating
to Surveyor Washington—see Field Notes,
among the Washington Papers, and especially,
one marked “A Journal of my Journey over the
Mountains.” His companion in this “Journey”
was George Wm. Fairfax. There is some evi-
dence that he was Senior Surveyor in this work,
begun in 1748, one year prior to Washington’s
appearance with Lord Fairfax. One other field
book and journal, contains notes indicating that
Washington’s first appearance as a surveyor was
in 1749, where he continued in the work until
1753. We offer this for no speculation, but sim-
ply quote from old Washington papers, as
matter that must interest the reader.




CHAPTER V

Boundaries of Old Frederick County

The last Chapter, with gleanings from Old
Courts, brought us to 1750;—and as settlements
were rapidly forming over the vast territory,
the author deems it wise to suspend notices of
the proceedings of the Court, and endeavor in
this Chapter to give more definite description of
the old County. The importance of this will be
seen in the study of the following Chapters.
The settlements were already harrassed by In-
dian raiders, and the time drawing near when
the old County was to be the scene of Indian
Wars; and soon came what were known as the
French and Indian Wars.

A considerable digression may be instructive
to the reader, whose ancestors probably were on
the frontier in 1750; Chapters on these wars will
follow in proper order. Frederick County, at
its formation in Nov., 1738, was distinguished
in the Act, as “Everything west of the Blue
Ridge—north of a certain line.” This always
seemed so indefinite, and has occasioned much
confusion even in the experience of the author,—
that he felt it his duty in preparing these pages,
to give a more definite boundary to the great
Territory embraced within the limitations of the
County,—or more strictly speaking her limits
on the East, North and South. As to her west-
ern limits—which seemed to have no limit, much
speculation has been written and said concerning
it; some insisting that it only ended at the shores
of the Pacific Ocean. Others were willing to
confine it to the territory East of the Mississippi
River; while others gave the Ohio River as the
western boundary, and still others fixed the Al-
legany Mountains, as the western line. Of
course all these geographical questions have been
laid open to the eye of the student who has in-
formed himself of these boundaries. But neither
the general reader, nor the school children ever
meet with the matter so condensed, as to give
any satisfactory settlement of the question. As
has been stated elsewhere in this work, the
boundary on the East is plainly defined by the line
of mountains or range of hills, called the Blue
Ridge, the northern boundary followed the Po-
tomac River to a point in the “High Moun-
tains,”—meaning a point beyond Cumberland,—
then in a straight line to the “Great Waters,”

meaning the Ohio River at a point above Wheel-
ing. To understand what this meant, one must
see the Map of that section and follow this
straight line, and he will find many encroach-
ments on what is Maryland and Pennsylvania.
At that time the lines between the three States
had not been fully determined; and, we might
add, never have been settled to the satisfaction
of the incredulous. Not all the solemnity and
dignity attaching to the “Mason and Dixon” line
could fully please everybody. The Congress,
Courts of Justice and State Legislatures, have
worked over it, and still the line in some meas-
ure is incomplete. Recent legislation in the
three States sustains this claim. A Commission
has been, and is now, engaged in erecting monu-
ments of division line.

The Author had his curiosity aroused years
ago by contact with officials and citizens of sev-
eral border counties of Pennsylvania,—finding
among the files and records of those Counties, the
final disposition by the District Court, of suits liti-
gated in what was in that day regarded as Vir-
ginia territory, of course within the bounds of
Frederick County, and what was at one time re-
garded as West Augusta District. Of course, this
was interesting ; but it was perplexing, and the
question arose, how came those papers there? The
answer is, the old border Counties along the
supposed Pennsylvania and Virginia line, em-
braced much Pennsylvania territory, which was
regarded as being within the jurisdiction of our
District Courts; and when the line was run to
determine the question in 1776-178s, the territory
lying on the Pennsylvania side, within those Coun-
ties continued to hold the “Files,” etc. of old suits,
which more nearly affected the Pennsylvania citi-
zen than those on the Virginia side. The running
of this line suddenly stopped all suits pending
between Fairfax and the squatters on his “North-
ern Neck.” He discovered that his “Neck” must
be confined to Virginia. Some interesting his-
tory is connected with those squatters on the
Pennsylvania side,—requiring many Acts of the
State Legislature, and even the Congress, to deter-
mine their rights, but of their history, this work
need not further treat. We will now follow the
line westward, as then claimed by Frederick Coun-
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ty from its point on the Ohio above Wheeling, ex-
tending northwestward to the Great Lakes, un-
til a point is fixed on the line of Longitude 87
degrees West from Greenwich (now 10 degrees
West from Washington) West and North of the
present site of Chicago, thence South to the 37th
degree of Latitude; the point on the Lakes, and
the line South, being along the boundaries of
the “French Possessions,” questions then un-
settled—and only determined later on by the cap-
ture of “Old Fort St. Vincent”—now “Vincen-
nes,” by the celebrated Clark’s French and In-
dian Campaigns. Then it became desirable to
move the line further West, so as to include the
latter point, so the Frederick and Augusta County
line was extended to the 8gth degree of Longi-
tude;—and this latter was adhered to for many
years,—and was frequently the subject that Con-
gress felt called upon to enact some unwarrant-
ed laws governing the Virginia territory of the
Great West. It will be seen on our present
Maps, that these lines embraced nearly all of
Ohio, all of Indiana, and about half of Illinois.
Following the line from about where Cairo on
the Mississippi River is to-day, eastward, we take
nearlyall of Kentucky. It was believed at that time,
to be all of that territory, and the question was
not raised ;—but subsequent claims of West Au-
gusta County,—so-called—resulted in a division
line being established between the Magisterial
Districts of Tennessee, and Kentucky,—which
resulted in Frederick County losing a portion of
the “dark and bloody battle ground.” We now
have the geographical position of Old Frederick
County, including part of Augusta;—and for
many years her authority was respected within
this vast territory; frequent mention being made
in old records of her jurisdiction in her “Ken-
tucky Magisterial District,” and of her Colonies
in the “Ohio portion,” and those at “St. Vincent.”
Old Order Books show that processes were serv-
ed on “dwellers in the Ohio portion,” and those
within the Illinois District.” Frequent orders
appear in the old Minute Books of the old Jus-
tices’ Court, continuing Court from day to day,
to await the arrival of the Justices from the
Kentucky District, who had been delayed by re-
ported high waters,” or of Indian hostilities.
Often additional Deputy Sheriffs were appointed
by the Court and ordered “to proceed to render
such aid as might be required to escort the
honorable Justice to this Worshipful Court.” In-
vestigations clearly prove that the Justices men-
tioned, did not live in Kentucky proper; they
resided somewhere in Western Virginia, and their
jurisdiction was supposed to embrace the regions
referred to. Augusta County exercised similar

jurisdiction. This produced confusion, and was
cured finally by the General Assembly defining
the lines of the Districts. When the line entered
Virginia from the Kentucky region at a point
on the Kanawha River, it intersected the bound-
ary line of Augusta County through the moun-
tains, to a point on the South Branch, below
the present site of Moorefield in Hardy County,
then following an unsettled line between the two
counties,—“to a head Spring of Robinson river
east of the Blue Ridge.”” This answered the
purpose for awhile. There seemed to be a desire
for an established line between the Counties,—
and that Augusta should extend her terminal
point on the Ohio River to a point up that stream
a greater distance, as is shown by extracts from
the MSS Journal of the House of Burgesses. We
find in 1744, an Act directing the Courts of the
two counties to have their County Surveyors run
and establish the line. So, as already stated, at
the January term of the Frederick co. ct.
1744, the order was promptly entered; but as
will be seen, this order directed the Surveyor
to run the dividing line between this and Au-
gusta County—from the Head spring of Hedge-
man river, to Pattersons Creek; and a report
later on shows this line to have been run. Noth-
ing to show of any effort to run the
line through the unsettled mountains “beyond
the power of man to penetrate and scale.” Some
years later, these difficulties were overcome; and
the line was established,—even changing the
point on Pattersons Creek; and starting from
that point higher up the stream, found a new
point on the Ohio, and the new territory taken
from Frederick was styled and recognized as
West Augusta District. Soon this vast territory
was opened up for White settlers; and Colonists
appeared on Pattersons Creek, and other water
courses, and “grew strong along the Ohio river,”
and formation of new Counties desired. So we
find the first lopping process, to reduce the size
of Old Frederick took place in May, 1753, when
an Act of the Assembly at Williamsburgh, direct-
ed a new county to be formed, and to take it
from the western parts of Frederick & Augusta,
and named it Hampshire. Doubtless many of
the good people of that section were thinking
of their “Hampshire Hills” in England—from
whence many of the Colonists came, chiefly pre-
ferring to locate among the hills and mountains
that constantly reminded them of the appro-
priateness of the name for their new county.
We find in their Petition, many English names
of the actual citizens,—requesting the name of
Hampshire be given their new County. As this
is an important event in the history of Frederick
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County, and certainly of Hampshire, we give a
copy of the Act relating to this matter.

In the General Assembly Of Virginia,
November, 1753, 27th yr. of the Reign of
George II.

“An Act for adding part of the county and
parish of Augusta that lies within the territory
or tract of land, called the Northern Neck be-
longing to the right honourable Thomas Lord
Fairfax, Baron of Cameron, and it will be more
convenient, if the dividing line between the said
territory, and the other part of the said county
be added to the county and parts of Frederick,
and, whereas, the said county and parish of
Frederick are of a very long and large extent,
and inconvenient to the inhabitants thereof,—

“II. Be it enacted by the Lieutenant Governor,
Council and Burgesses, of this present General
Assembly, and it is hereby enacted by authority
of the same, That on the first day of May next
ensuing, all that part of the county of Augusta
which lies within Northern Neck, be added to,
and made part of the county of Frederick; and
that from and immediately after the said first day
of May, the said county of Frederick and the
said part of the county of Augusta so to be added
to, and made part of the county of Frederick, as
aforesaid, be divided into two counties; and
all that part thereof, lying to the westward of
the ridge of Mountains, commonly called and
known by the names of the Great North Ca-
Capon mountain and Warin Spring mountains,
extending to the Potomack river, be one dis-
tinct county, and called and by the name of
Hampshire; and all that other part thereof, lying
to the eastward of the said ridge of mountains
be one other distinct County, and retain the
name of Frederick;—"“III. And for the due ad-
ministration of justice in the said County of
Hampshire, after the same shall take place. Be
it enacted by the authority aforesaid, That after
the first day of May, a court for the said county
of Hampshire, be constantly held by the Justice
thereof, upon the second Tuesday in every month
in such manner as by the laws of this Colony is
provided, and shall be by their Commissioners
directed, IV. And be it further enacted by the
authority aforesaid, That all that part of the
parish of Augusta in the county of Augusta,
which after the division aforesaid, will be with-
in the said counties of Frederick and Hampshire,
shall be added to, and made part of the parish of
Frederick.

“V. Provided always, That nothing herein con-
tained shall be construed to hinder the sherriffs
or collectors of the said counties of Augusta

and Frederick, or the collectors of the parish of
the county of Augusta, as the same now stands
intire and undivided, from collecting and making
distress for any public dues or officers fees,
which shall remain unpaid by the inhabitants of
that part of the county of Augusta to be added
to the county of Frederick, as aforesaid, and the
inhabitants of the said county of Hampshire,
respectively, at the time the same shall take
place; but such sherriff or collectors, respectively,
shall have the same power to collect and dis-
train for the said fees and dues, as if this Act
had never been made.

“VI. Provided also, That the courts of the
said counties of Augusta and Frederick, shall
have jurisdiction of all actions and suits, both in
law and equity, depending before them, respec-
tively, at the said division shall take place, and
shall try & determine such actions and suits, and
issue process and award executions against the
body or estate of the defendant in any such action
or suit, in the same manner as if this act had
not been made, any law usage or custom to
the contrary.

“VII. And be it further enacted, That from
and after the first day of May, which shall be
in the year of our Lord, one thousand, seven
hundred and fifty-six, the said parish of Freder-
ick shall be divided into two district parishes, by
the line dividing the said county of Frederick,
from the said county of Hampshire, and that
all that part of the said parish of Frederick,
which, after such division, will be within the
said county of Frederick, shall retain the name
of the parish of Frederick; and all the other
part thereof, shall be called and known by the
name of the parish of Hampshire;

“VIII. Provided always, That nothing herein
contained shall be construed to hinder the officers
the benefit of the law as herein provided, ;

“IX. And be it further enacted by the author-
ity, aforesaid, That the freeholders and house-
keepers of the said parish of Hampshire, shall
meet at some convenient time and place, to be
appointed and publickly advertised at least one
month before, by the sherriff of the said county
of Hampshire, before the first day of July, 1756,
and then and there, elect twelve of the most able
and discreet persons of the said parish to be
vestry men thereof, which said persons so elected
having in the court of the said county of Hamp-
shire, taken and subscribed the oaths appointed,
to be taken, by an act of Parliament, made in
the first year of the reign of his Majesty King
George the first, “intitled” An act for the further
security of his Majesty’s person and Govern-
ment and the succession of the crown in the
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heirs of late princess Sophia, being Protestants,
& for extinguishing the hopes of the pretended
prince of Wales, and his and secret abettors, and
taken and subscribed the oath of abjuration and
repeated and subscribed the test, and also sub-
scribed to be conformable to the doctrine and
discipline of the Church of England shall to all
intents and purposes be deemed and taken to be
vestrymen of the said parish;—X. And be it
further enacted by the authority aforesaid, That
upon the death, removal or resignation of any
of the said vestrymen, the remaining vestrymen,
shall be, and they are hereby impowered to
choose and elect another vestryman, in the room
of such vestryman, so dying, removing or resign-
ing—;—This act was not fully applied to Hamp-
shire county until 1756—when the new county
organized its Court—and proceeded to execute
its orders and judgments without the aid of the
Frederick county sheriff &. The county seat was
established by an act of the Assembly in 1762,
and chartered as the borough of Romney. Ref-
erence has been made to some confusion about
Courts on the Pennsylvania border. In the con-
struction of Augusta and Frederick, the line
between the two counties was not understood
by them. Augusta construed the northern line to
be, that it took a straight course due northwest
from the head springs of Hedgeman River to the
Ohio, and claimed her terminal was on the river
at a point above Pittsburgh; while Frederick
was described in her northern line, as extending
to the Great water beyond the Ohio. Of course
this was confusion; the territory of one over-
lapping the other; and as both courts had co-
existent legal rights along the Pennsylvania bor-
der, this is why orders of both courts appear as
above mentioned. This was all cured when the
line was finally run; when the Augusta line ter-
minated far down on the Ohio, while the Freder-
ick Territory beyond the Ohio was not affected ;—

In 1772—Frederick was called upon to lop off
more of her vast territory., We find the Genl.
Assembly entertaining petitioners from both the
southern and northern borders, resulting in an
act to form the County of Berkley on the North,
and the County of Dunmore '(Shenandoah) on
the South, Dunmore embraced the territory South
of Cedar Creek and the North Fork of the
Shenandoah River from its junction with Cedar
Creek, to its junction with the South Fork, near

the site of Front Royal, (this line was in dis-
pute several times, but finally settled by legal
survey.) A change of name was made in 1777,
on motion of one of the members of the House
of Burgesses, under peculiar circumstances—
Lord Dunmore was regarded as a Tory, so offen-
sive to the loyal citizens of Virginia, who had
grown weary under his tyranical usurpation, that
before the moving member could take his seat,
his resolution was adopted, and the name of Dun-
more, ordered to be obliterated from the records,
and substituted Shenandoah in its stead, giving
the county a name after the historic river passing
through it. The town of Woodstock which had
been established in March, 1761, by Act of the
Genl. Assembly, was chosen as the county seat,
and the county government was soon under way.

Berkley embraced what is now Berkley, Jef-
ferson and Morgan Counties,—the boundary line
defined by survey. No such natural boundaries
of water courses or mountain ranges, as was
the case in other subdivisions of the old county.

Martinsburg was a small town at this forma-
tion, being laid out by Adam Stephen, and was
adopted as the county seat. Clarke County was
formed from Frederick in 1836; the Blue Ridge
forming its eastern boundary, and the Opecquon
mostly its western boundary, giving it an area
of 17 miles in length and 15 miles wide; the
Shenandoah running along and near its eastern
boundary. Berryville was the county seat.

Warren was formed in 1836, from Frederick,
taking in a portion of Shenandoah to give it an
area of 20 miles in length by 12 miles in width.
The Shenandoah River runs through it at the
base of the Blue Ridge, and takes in its course
the waters of the north fork coming out of Shen-
andoah County. Cedar Creek runs through its
northern border. Front Royal, established in
1888, on 50 acres of land taken from the Van
Meter Grant, became the county seat.

Having briefly given the boundaries of Old
Frederick, as well as the subdivisions, thus re-
ducing the Old County to its present area,—26
miles in length and 22 miles for its mean width,
Winchester being the county seat, a distinction
she has held for 165 years, we may now regard
the geographical position settled, and proceed in
the next chapter to dwell at some length upon
many of her celebrated physical features.
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CHAPTER VI

Physical Features of Frederick County

The reader must not expect to find in this ef-
fort a description of the vast territory: of Old
Frederick County, as this would detract seriously
from the value of this work, as the author has
endeavored in all cases to confine himself to
simple facts, that may make it useful to the en-
quirer when seeking information concerning his-
torical incidents of the county. Be it remembered
that, since the county’s early history, great States
have been formed out of her territory. Behold
Ohio, Indiana, Illinois and Kentucky, and, can
we add without regret, West Virginia, with their
teeming populations, the original stock of which
planted their homes in the undeveloped country,
having received their love for adventure in their
mother State, Virginia. Regard the phenomenal
progress in development,—not only in the rise of
great cities, her arts and sciences, agricultural
results, places of learning,—her product of schol-
ars, statesmen and heroes, but actually lining up
at every opportunity to supply the whole coun-
try—not with corn, but with the Chief Magis-
trates of the Nation! So with these intimations
of our intention to let others tell of Old Freder-
ick’s northwest territory, with its accumulating
millions of money and citizens, we will confine
the effort to a more contracted part of her origin-
al domain, only briefly touching upon the rapid
development of Western Virginia.

It was known to the ecarly settlers that the
“Great Waters,” so frequently mentioned by Acts
of the old House of Burgesses, promised in that
early day, wonderful systems to utilize the re-
sources of the mountain sections. Much money
and effort was spent along this line; but not until
within the memory of the writer did the hidden
wealth begin to reveal itself. Some discoveries
of coal and valuable iron ores were made in the
early days; but seckers of wealth had not yet
learned the way of converting the limitless for-
ests of finest varieties of lumber into easy money.
Nor did it seem possible that the successive
mountain ranges could ever be made to yield
up the coal and ores of which they were largely
composed ; but such has been done; and to-day,
who can enumerate the coal, oil corporations and
private enterprises of this class, or the immense
lumber companies. All of these enterprises soon
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found the bold mountain streams inadequate to
move the new products into the commercial
world, ever waiting for more supplies. This
soon attracted the railway capitalists who, after
they saw the demand for increasing transporta-
tion, had their experienced men on the ground
to trace out ways for the massive locomotives
that must come to the help of the natural water-
ways. Take a railroad map of to-day, and we
find railroad lines threading their ways along
the valleys and through the mountains, until we
have such a network of railroad systems, that
we are unable off-hand to estimate their number,
much less their miles of trackage. All this has
resulted in untold wealth; and makes West Vir-
ginia hardly second to any State in the iron and
coal belt in the country. West Virginia has
made herself well known to the world since the
Dismemberment Act; taking her place in the
halls of national legislation; assuming the du-
ties and share of the higher judiciary of the
nation; furnishing on demand men capable to
take high rank in the Supreme Court, who are
rendering useful service as wise and fearless
judges. Her students and scholars are com-
manding recognition. Her rapid advance is wit-
nessed in her growing colleges and university
seats of learning, well known now to the world
at large. Not to make invidious distinction, we
find one of the wonders of the age in Elkins
College, an institution rising in splendid form
among the mountains, as a result of the endow-
ments of Senators Davis and Elkins, whose muni-
ficent gifts and fostering care of the young plant,
made it shine forth as a gem in what only a
few years ago was a wilderness. The College,
with its possibilities, has been offered by these
gentlemen to the “Winchester Presbytery” not
for any special religious or denominational con-
trol, but to place it under the benign influence
of this well-known Church government. No un-
certain plans surround its future work. Success
must attend its further efforts.

Coming still nearer to Old Frederick, the In-
stitution for the “Deaf, Dumb and Blind” at
Romney, has a national reputation for not only
a beautiful location, splendid buildings, but pro-
ficiency in the system of educating a helpless
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class of boys and girls, so as to make them enjoy
useful lives. Much good will result to visitors
who may chance to look in upon this “Institu-
tion,” seeing for themselves what has been done
in our nearby Hampshire Hills.

At this point, we may as well continue a notice
of Old Frederick. The reader must remember
the warning heretofore given, that no attempt
will be made to give even a condensed history
of what became Hampshire—nor even since that
period. We have no need of such effort; for
West Virginia has supplied this want through
her Historical Society, giving to us several his-
tories of her physical features. Wle must be con-
tent with a partial description of the old County,
lest we weary the reader, who maybe has scaled
her mountains for game or pleasure, or hooked
the trout from the hidden streams, and knows
more about the surface of that country than
the writer. So we will compromise by giving
just enough, not to weary the one, but gladden
the heart of the other. As already stated, the
larger part of Hampshire is of that mountainous
character peculiar to all of West Virginia; and
many thousand acres of the high mountain land
has never been brought into cultivation, indeed,
never can be. The eastern boundary is a range
of hills of considerable altitude, known as Big
Timber Ridge, though in truth, they are properly
the ranges of the Great Ca-Capon Mountains
that run about North and South, at whose base
flows the stream from which the mountain takes
its name. This rugged river flows through the
county and into the Potomac. West of these
are mountain ranges with local names—Big Sandy
and other ranges. Passing through these, we
enter the North River Valley, through Blue’s
Gap, over the Northwestern Turnpike, passing
almost under the Hanging Rock. Crossing soon
the North River, with its narrow Valley, and
through to Capon and its rugged Valley, we have
left Bear Garden Mountain and “Tear Coat,’—
the latter a dangerous and turbulent stream in
rainy seasons. The celebrated turnpike wends its
way through other mountains, over North River,
Little Capon, and Jersey Mountains, until we
suddenly emerge from their wilds into the hospi-
table and attractive town of Romney, well known
for its location on the South Branch of the Po-
tomac. Running just West of the town at the base
of the South Branch Mountain, of peculiar attrac-
tions, is the fast flowing river. Here the tourists
and seekers of pleasure find cool nights in sum-
mer, and glowing hearthstones in winter; wild
game in the mountains for winter sport, and
abundant fishing in the far-famed river. Cer
tainly, no sportsman can be found who is in

ignorance of the “Branch” and its stories. We
are now in the heart of natural beauty, and the
picturesque locality of historic Romney. Over-
looking this lovely river, as viewed from “Yel-
low Banks” or “Indian Mound Cemetery,” where
its broad sweep of water at this point, slowly
moves away northward to the Potomac, through
those rich alluvial South Branch bottoms, as
they are called, cover in some places with waving
harvests, in others, fine herds of short-horns en-
joying the rich pasturage peculiar to the low-
lands of this river. From source to mouth, from
these points, the tourist has a sweeping view of
the river. Four miles below are the famous
hanging rocks; about the same distance above
is seen the “Trough,” where the river has torn
its way through high mountains. The scenery
here becomes so entrancing, that the tourist hesi-
tates whether to detour or proceed through
Mechanicsburg Gap, and penetrate still further
the mountain wilds. One tourist did thus hesi-
tate, while in reverie, and was aroused by one
who drew his attention away from the lovely
scene, to behold a face that has left its picture
in memory’s cabinet since thatday. Standing
there before him, was one who had been long
regarded as the inflexible judge; but here he
cast off the ermine of his high office, and stood
on these “Banks” free from his daily routine, a
pure, noble man—(James W. Armstrong).
Plans were soon settled. He drew the young
tourist away and into his own hospitable home;
and the familiar faces found there, and the in-
tellectual, cordial and happy hours spent under
that roof-tree, repaid him with memories that
can never be effaced.

The scenery of the river must be taken first.
The passage of the river from Moorefield through
the Trough, where the river has for ages with its
swirling waters, made but little change through
this narrow gorge, for the same old rocky walls
are there. Following the river in its flow, the
tourist sees the great hanging rocks, where the
river grows bold and turbid as it washes the
rocky shores, until in the sweep of centuries, the
walls have been worn away, and we have the
rocks hanging in majestic wonder,—forming a
canopy of mountain granite along its base. Along
the river's rim, skillful engineers have given to
the traveller a good driveway and tracks for the
railroad from Green Spring Station on the B.
& O. Railroad to Romney. These highways have
opened up the resources of South Branch Valley
to the markets of the country. From Romney
Station, herds of export cattle are shipped averag-
ing 2,000 lbs. Other natural wonders attract our
attention. We now cross the river over an iron
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bridge, where the Northwestern Turnpike enters
Mechanicsburg Gap—the first step of the Alle-
ganies. True, all other mountains which we
have left behind us, are known as the Allegany
Ranges. This gap shows that the mountains
round about us, must have met with some terri-
ble flood of pent-up waters away back of the
memory of man, cutting the mountain in twain,
and leaving perpendicular sides of gray granite
and mountain sandstone, strange to the eye of
the geologist, to remind the traveler that nature
has been subjected to enormous convulsions,—
doubtless for the use of man. Here the road
leaves the mountain walls for a short space, to
enter the approaches to Pattersons Creek Valley.
From here, a highway leads to Moorefield in
Hardy County, and also to a point on the B. & O.
Railroad. We follow this Northwest Turnpike
into and up the narrow Pattersons Creek Valley
for miles, when we gradually reach the base of
the Alleganies proper; then for a climb of
several hours. Once on the summit, we find a
great sweep of table-land, stretching out in every
direction for miles around. This is the renown-
ed “Glades,”—an oasis in the mountain wilder-
ness, affording most abundant pasturage for'
thousands of cattle. On, and still further into
other mountains—on, towards Cheat River and
the multitude of mountains around and about
in confusion of both location and names. In the
early days of Old Frederick, the mountain coun-
try was but little known to the outside world;
but to the bold mountain dwellers in their rude
cabins, who hewed their way, and whiled away
the days in hunting for the furs that gave them
good returns. Their patient waiting brought
marvelous returns to many of their descendants,
who to-day possess their wealth in the mine, oil-
well or forest.

We must now return and take a glimpse at
what lies East of the South Branch:—Lost River,
in the southern part (now Hardy County), the
Ice Mountain to the North, and other natural
curiosities that deserve special mention. Taking
Lost River as a starting point, which for a long
time was regarded as a distinct stream, but later
on it was discovered that it became part of the
Great Ca-capon River, flowing along the base
of a mountain for many miles. Lost River has
its source in the mountains South of the point
where its name is changed to Ca-Capon, distant
about twenty miles, starting from the “divide”
of the waters of the Shenandoah and the Poto-
mac, heading near the head springs forming the
stream, running on through Brocks Gap to the
North fork of the Shenandoah River in Rock-
ingham County. Along this Lost River are

many interesting natural features, such as ‘Cold
Spring Cave, which is at the base of Lost River
Mountain, about twelve miles below the source
of the river. Many grand mountain views are
to be seen from the river, as it runs through
the narrow but fertile valley, winding up with
its wonderful disappearance under Lost River
Mountain (Timber Ridge), to reappear as Capon.
One must view this struggle between river and
mountain, to appreciate this natural wonder. It
is stated by those who have so viewed and in-
vestigated this freak of nature, that this passage
is fully three miles from entrance to outlet. This
river and many large springs form the first we see
of what is called Capon River. About four
miles from this New River, as it was once call-
ed, there is a cove in the western side of Great
North Mountain, of wondrous grandeur, cele-
brated for its cool atmosphere in summer. With-
in this cove are clusters of springs, gushing from
the base of the mountain, some of which have
become famous for their medicinal qualities. It
was claimed at one time that these springs were
the head springs of Capon River; and to fix
their location they were called “Capon Springs”
by some enterprising gentlemen who had formed
a company for their development and improve-
ment. The writer was informed many years
ago by Mr. Westphall Frye, then a large land-
owner and resident of Wardensville, that his
father Henry Frye had some prior claim of dis-
covery and ownership, and called them Frye’s
Chalybeate Springs. The contest for ownership
between the new claimant and Frye, resulted
in the State retaining an interest in the “Medi-
cinal Springs,” and denying grants to both par-
ties. Frye relinquished his claim, and a grant
was made to the trustees of Watson-Town (See
Hen., 1787) for a number of acres surrounding
the springs, reserving the springs for the use of
the general public. Cabins were erected. Soon
a small establishment was erected for the ac-
commodation of visitors. From this small be-
ginning, changes were rapid, and more accommo-
dations required, until the place became so fa-
mous, that it was found necessary to erect what
was known for many years as the “Mountain
House.” Then it was this mountain resort at-
tracted great crowds every summer;some of the
most distinguished statesmen seeking its attrac-
tive inducements. In more recent years, the
Mountain House became the central figure of a
great group of attractive cottages; and through
the skill, taste and lavish expenditure of effort
and money by its owner, Capt. Wm. H. Sale,
the place has become so renowned, as to need no
further description. Its present owner and pro-
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prieter, Charles F. Nelson, son-in-law of our
deceased friend, Capt. Sale, is successful in
maintaining its enviable reputation as one of the
best summer resorts to be found in the Vir-
ginia mountains. We must pass on to other
features, from this attractive place, for a stop
at the celebrated “Ice Mountain,” already al-
luded to. This is a veritable mountain, and is
found on North River a branch of Ca-Capon,
about 27 miles northwest from Winchester, ten
miles north of Capon Bridge, and is entitled to
mention as a natural curiosity. The reader must
not be incredulous. While it is not an “iceberg,”
it is entitled to the name borne by it for genera-
tions. This mountain is composed chiefly of
loose mountain rock, rising to a height of about
80 feet from its western base on the river.
From this point we have the best view of this
wonder. By its peculiar shape and general for-
mation, with but little shrubbery or vegetation
on its rocky sides—nearly perpendicular on the
river side, one is reminded of Old Storm King
Mountain on the Hudson above West Point.
The stupendous grandeur of both, impresses the
beholder. Some good climbing is required to
scale the steep sides and be rewarded by dis-
covering actual ice in mid-summer. Upon re-
moving some of the loose, heavy sand, and gray
granite stones, you will find this strange, natural
phenomenon—pure and perfectly formed pieces of
jce, weighing often several pounds. As might
be supposed, a very strong spring of cold water
gushes from near the base of the mountain,
where doubtless at this day is an ideal place for
picnic parties. The writer remembers several
such parties that he joined in the long ago. It
is easy to recall these incidents in his life, but
not so easy to find the survivors of that company.
He knows of but three of that party of forty
who enjoyed the day at the Ice Mountain!
Another natural curiosity of Hampshire is
found about two miles above the forks of Capon,
and it is known to-day as Caudy’s Castle.
Strange stories are told of this real curiosity,
which stands out independent and alone from
other mountains scattered around. Its eastern
base rests upon the river, and, similar to the
Ice Mountain, is a solid mass of granite, per-
pendicular to the height of at least 500 feet.
Kercheval gives it this description: “A line drawn
around its base, would probably not exceed one
thousand or twelve hundred yards. From its
western side, it may be ascended by a man on
foot to within about ninety or one hundred feet
of the summit; from thence the rock suddenly
shoots up something in the form of a comb,
which is about ninety or one hundred feet in

length, eight or ten feet in thickness, and runs
about North and South. Onthe eastern face of
the rock from where the comb is approached,
a very narrow undulating path is formed, by
pursuing which, active persons can ascend to
the summit.” On this table rock several feet
square, and from this point, the author was in-
formed by several venturesome mountain climb-
ers, that the view of the little valley, the winding
river and broken mountain ranges, can only be
surpassed in beauty by similar scenes in the great
mountains of New Hampshire. We find in Ker-
cheval’'s study of Caudy’s “Castle” he treats it
as a tradition. Can it be possible that so pains-
taking a compiler of interesting incidents of the
early history of Old Frederick, which then in-
cluded this very wonderful castle, could have
mistaken actual fact for tradition! as the records
of the Old County have revealed to the writer
of these pages. If the reader will refer to the
chapter on the organization from Orange, he
will find a copy of the order of our County
Court held Dec., 1743, directing that a road be
opened on the petition of Noah Hampton, James
Coddy &c., from Hamptons Mill into a road,
&c. near Col. Coddy’s Fort, &. Later on we
find the House of Burgesses and the General
Council of Virginia, voting him a grant of his
tract of land, in consideration of his founding
and maintaining a post of protection on Ca-
Capon at Coddy’s Fort. This establishes beyond
any doubt the connection between Caudy’s Cas-
tle and “James Coddy’s Ftt.”

We will now briefly touch upon the develop-
ment of the County, as it relates to towns, vil-
lages, highways, minerals, etc. As already stated,
Romney was the county seat, located in the heart
of the County on the eastern bank of the South
Branch, forty-three miles distant from Winches-
ter, by way of the Northwestern Turnpike. Other
towns in the county that started in its early his-
tory, were Frankfort, Springfield, Cold Stream
Mill (Bloomery in later years) and Paddy Town—
none of which have grown in importance, hin-
dered doubtless by the innumerable cross-roads’
stores found in every section. In later years,
quite a village started at Capon Bridge, where
the Northwestern Turnpike crosses Capon River
over the wooden-covered bridge. Several stores
—one owned by Samuel Cooper—the post office,
stage office, shops, etc. made it a village offering
inducements to a traveler to stop and rest; and
this he was sure to get in the early days at old
Mag. Bell's Tavern; still later on, at the delight-
ful hotel owned by our old friend John A. Smith,
the stage-line man frqm Winchester to Romney.
The traveler would forget his weariness while



PHYSICAL FEATURES OF FREDERICK COUNTY

Mr. Smith recounted his experiences as an old
stage driver; in more recent years this Hotel
has undergone changes that make it a real home
for the guest who stops with Mrs. Smith and
her estimable daughters. Many other places of
interest along the line of development of this
large county could be mentioned. Local histor-
ians have covered the ground in this respect;
and the author can well afford to trust to their
fuller description, and not cumber these pages
with what is familiar to many. However, it may
be well to make a note of the comparatively new
industries. Large veins of Bituminous coal have
been found, and are receiving the attention of
miners who hope to reap fortunes for themselves
and work wonders for the population of that
section. Some years ago, Mineral County was
formed from the northwestern part of Hampshire
and its wealth of ore and coal deposits are fast
becoming famous. The Hampshire County Fruit
Growers’ Association—have for several years en-
joyed the distinction of having converted many
of the Hampshire hills and mountain tracts of
land into a wonderful network of orchards,—
where the peach, plum and similar fruit has been
produced in abundance. Having thus briefly
sketched the outlines of the topography of the
first county formed from old Frederick, along
with glimpses of its development. We will treat
the remaining portion of old Frederick as a
whole in the following chapter.

To write an outline of the natural features of
The Valley—embraced in old Frederick County,
is no light task;—but to write an intelligent and
comprehensive description of the physical fea-
tures of this immense territory,—her surface so
diversified with river, mountain, valley and glen,
is a prodigious task—and the author makes the
attempt with misgivings. To many of our read-
ers, this part of his work will appear unnecessary
—for everything is familiar to their eyes and they
have no need to search these pages for a de-
scription of the scenes about them. But we must
not forget, that if this effort to produce a history
of this historic section is even a partial success,
we must recognize the fact that these pages will
be searched by many readers, more for a descrip-
tion of the land than of the men who have develop-
ed the resources of the County. So understanding
this as a duty imposed on author and reader, an
effort will be made to point out and briefly de-
scribe many such natural features, presenting
the topography of the country—in simplicity of
statement. One needs no spur to the imagina-
tion, to picture scenes of wonder, as we behold
the natural points of interest from some well
selected point; and when this point is found, no
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pen can describe the scenes that lie before him
in quiet grandeur; nothing short of the talent
found in a gifted landscape painter, could do
justice to the vision presented to one who may
chance to try the summit of Massanuitis, or the
cone of the old Round Hill, northwest from
Winchester—both presenting views North and
South. Isitany wonder then, when one who has
no such talent for painting pictures,—find him-
self on the summit of the Blue Ridge—looking
over the picture that filled the soul of the chiv-
alrous Spottswood and his knights of the Gol-
den Horseshoe with awe, wonder and gladness,—
hesitating for fear of failure, and retiring to his
former place in the valley—as those spirited
knights and bold Leader returned to their places
in Tidewater, to exclaim “Too wonderful to
describe, is that country beyond the mountains!”
we who have never known any other place as home
but the home our ancestors, located in some de-
lightful spot out yonder in the Valley—find
pleasure and profit in lingering on this summit
of the celebrated Blue Ridge. From this sum-
mit can be seen the four grand boundaries of
the county—the summit of this Ridge being the
dividing line between old Orange and Fairfax,
on the East side southward lining up to the
summit, are Madison, Rappahannock, Fauquier
and Loudoun; these four having been formed
from the two first named ;—Loudoun 1757, Madi-
son, 1792, Fauquier, 1759, Rappahannock, 1831.
Orange and Fairfax are mentioned as the coun-
ties from which the present neighboring counties
were taken to make them join old Frederick
along this summit. It must be remembered that
Prince William and Spottsylvania had a claim
to this boundary long before Orange and Fair-
fax, Madison and Green brings us to the old
line between Augusta and Frederick; Loudoun
resting on the Potomac, makes the North
and East corner of Old Frederick in the vicinity
of Harpers Ferry; the river thence westward
for the North boundary, with the State of Mary-
land to the line of old Hampshire, about 40 miles
distant; thence along mountain and stream to
form the western line in the distance between
Hampshire and Frederick. This chain of moun-
tains, sometimes called Big North, Big Sandy,
and other misapplied names. Big Timber Ridge
being more properly the accepted name, as the
divide of waterways that flow East and West—
those on the West to Great Capon, and those on
the East forming Back Creek flowing into the
Potomac many miles away—while on this moun-
tain boundary we find the four Knobs, between
this point and Paddy Mountain are two coves, one
noted for its walled mountains on every side,
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except the narrow entrance on the North, within
which natural enclosure are hundreds of acres
utilized by the owners for grazing purposes. The
other cove further South is a complete fastness,
and affords a home for sturdy hunters, many
of whom will be mentioned in another chapter.
The county line continuing South along another
range of mountains called the Divide, extends
to the old Augusta line. This water-shed sending
its streams into Cedar Creek and North branch
of the Shenandoah. On the West side, the waters
find their way from the divide to Lost River.
Having thus given the grand outlines of the
old county, we will now locate and describe
some of the natural points within these lines,
that can be seen from the Blue Ridge summit.
Looking southward along this eastern line, the
eye takes in a chain of mountains forming the
western line of what is known as Page—or Luray
valley, extending upwards of forty miles to a
point called Swift Run Gap, thence southward,
to the Port Republic Battlefield, where we find
the Old Augusta line. Keeping now within this
line, we have enough in the Page Valley to fill
much space. The chain of mountains—has been
known to some as the Fort Mountains—to others
as the Massanuttin Range; locally it has several
names. At its eastern base, flows the South
River for about fifty miles. The Blue Ridge Range,
forming the eastern line are mountains with
many local names,—well known for rich depos-
its of mineral ores—some of which have been
converted into iron by the prosperous smelting
furnaces in that vicinity. This Valley is of rare
beauty, with its fertile river bottoms—flowing
streams, famous springs and clustered mountains.
Following the western side of this valley,—the
mountain range seems to have been thrown into
great confusion at sometime in their history;—
many groups of high mountains rising from the
plain to bewilder beholders. This range of
mountains abruptly terminates on the North bank
of the Shenandoah where it flows eastward, soon
to unite near Front Royal with South River.
The Massanuttin and Fort mountains, mean all
the mountains in the main valley lying south-
east of the North Fork, where it flows down the
valley East of Woodstock and Strasburg. Of
course this chain has its local names, chief of
which must be Massanuttin, as it is seen from every
point in the Valley, rising in abrupt grandeur
to an altitude of nearly two thousand feet at
several points—breaking off to the right and left
into strange and peculiar formations presenting
a scene that tempts the imagination to fix a
cause for this sudden ending of the great range.
It may be that in some great upheaval of nature,

the cluster of mountains was formed by the dis-
placement of the regular range, and the ponder-
ous masses torn from their original lines, were
deposited in other places nearby, and thus the
change covered a plain with new creations of na-
ture—which have become one of the wonders
of the Valley, We can easily fall in with this
opinion, so often expressed by scientists, and
sometimes by amateur geologists, who have at
different times studied the formations of the en-
tire Valley,—and given as their solution of such
natural features and the soil strata of the Valley
as it extends northward to the Potomac. The
distinct lines are sharply drawn, as we follow
the flow of the river and smaller streams—the
general formation being Limestone. This lime-
stone formation does not extend from the Shen-
andoah flowing along the base of the Blue Ridge
to the mountain ranges to the West; but, as stat-
ed, this surface is broken by the distinct lines
mentioned. Following the course northward
from the Massanuttin cluster, we find a most
singular slate formation; in some places, several
miles wide, ending on either side of the Opeckon
Hills with the limestone formations; the soil
having but little natural fertility. This peculiar
feature is found on both sides of the Opeckon
Creek, where it flows northward into the Potomac,
upwards of forty miles away. A study of this
slate formation tempts the searchers to follow
this up to the base of its abrupt ending of the
mountains. There they discover that the base
is of slate formation, while the mass of moun-
tains, piled up in such confusion, are of the
mountain sandstone and Granite formations, that
compose the regular chain which so suddenly
terminates at this point. So they have argued,
that at some time,—may-be before our Centur-
ies began their numbers—the mountain proper
was swept from its base—possibly by a remnant
of the great flood as its waters receded to the
Ocean,—and as they swept forward,—the chain
that once rested on the slate base was washed
way,—leaving the almost barren slate bed to
mark the place where the mountains once ex-
tended northward,—leaving Old Massanuttin a
solitary sentinel to mark the spot where the
floods, and upheavals of nature, changed the for-
mations from what they must have been in the
dim past—to what they have been for ages. This
change caused a gate-way for waters of the
Upper Valley to pass out and onward forever,
under the brow of this broken mountain. While
the grandeur of these mountains impress us,
and we stand in admiration as we view their
outlines—and the Fort of Nature’s own making,
and slake our thirst from sylvan streams thread-
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ing their way through vale and dell,—perhaps
we dwell too long on the beautiful picture as
we beheld it from our perch on the Blue Moun-
tains.

Looking off to the West, we see gleaming in
the evening sunlight, many silver threads, as it
were, appearing and disappearing among the
hills and dales lying between our great boun-
daries, until with anxious rapture, we grow im-
patient to have an explanation, and with a strong
field glass find they are the mountain streams

coming on from their distant sources, to form,

the swirling river that rushes along at the base
of this mountain. The music of its torrents,
bursting over its rocky bed, is echoed far up in
the mountain; and while the eye feasts upon the
transcendent loveliness of the Valley stretching
out far away in every direction, the ear feels the
effect of the river’s song as it rushes on forever;
and so, impressed with both, lingers and solilo-
quizes, too long perhaps for the reader, who is
enquiring about the sections of most interest to
himself. Looking again westward and south-
ward from the sources of those shining streams
—Cedar Creek, coming from the Big Divide, at
least thirty miles to its mouth,—Hawks Bill,—
North River coming out of the Upper Valley from
its source near Staunton, where South River has
its source. Trout run is seen in the distance, as
a silver thread only at one point, and then emp-
ties into upper Cedar Creek. Dry River, with its
broken lines, only traceable by the dim outlines
now and then, on its course to the river. Nar-
row Passage Creekisseen with a strong glass,—
but no glass can reveal the lovely stream “Lin-
ville Creek” as it flows through Edom Valley,—
hidden from view by a range of hills, running
not far away from the Big North Mountain, West
of New Market. Only a glimpse is seen of the
beautiful valley bordering on this stream,—that
will ever have a strange interest to the writer;
for it was when charging with his Cavalry Bat-
talion, the battle line of Stoneman’s Cavalry,—
that he, with several comrades, were thrown by
the shock of battle headlong into this same
- stream, and there lay for several hours,—result-
ing in an injury felt now after a lapse of forty-
five years. Deprived of a glimpse from this
summit,—he must be content with the recollec-
tions. This digression was not intended—too
much reverie!

In looking over those shining streams, the eye
falls upon such a multitude of landscapes—that
it is difficult to make any selection to touch with
the pen, in order to give an idea of the natural
topography of the outstretched valley. In the
distance we take in the Big North and Capon

Mountains, running in broken lines southward,
to form the boundary line on the West ;—passing
through the big cove—under the shadow of
Paddy Mountain along the meanderings of Cedar
Creek, we pass through the lower rim of the
Little Cove, out upon a mountain running south-
erly to and beyond the Augusta line. Tradition,
as given from father to son, has it that Washing-
ton surveyed this boundary line, while in the
employ of Lord Fairfax prior to 1755. The
Acts of the House of Burgesses, enacted a law
in 1752, directing a survey to be made “through,”
to the Augusta line, and define the same by suit-
able monuments, etc.,”—thus verifying the state-
ment of the mountaineers that the line was run
just prior to 1755. This shows their memory
good as to dates. May it not be just as good as
to who was the surveyor? In this region for
miles in length, are to be found the most lofty
mountains East of the Alleghany Range. Some
of their summits have never been scaled, but
in their sides and their base extensive iron work-
ers have found it profitable to reduce the
rich ores. Large tanneries have used up thous-
ands of acres of fine chestnut oak bark found
throughout the mountain region. No valley is
found of any value between these mountains.
Many places of abrupt ending and broken ranges,
with independent high mountains,—seemed to
have tumbled over and closed some of the valleys
at many points; thus forming the Coves—afford-
ing good homes for the large game that has al-
ways abounded and is much hunted in these
parts. Sportsmen recount wonderful stories of
their experiences, not only of the chase for the
game—but of other strange beings found in such
mountain fastness. The mountaineer,inall the
primitive style of dress and general living habits.
These strange but necessary characters will re-
ceive fuller notice in the proper place; for they
and their ancestors did their part in the great
development of the old county.

While we endeavor to point out some of the
mountains in this northwestern section of the
county, as found within the boundary line refer-
red to,—it is well to state that in the subdivision
of Frederick, when Hampshire was formed, and
from which Hardy was formed in 1786, Dunmore
from Frederick in 1772, a grand corner was es-
tablished. In more recent surveys by the County
Surveyors of the four counties, when they fixed
well defined monuments furnished by each county,
planted them on the summit of the “highest
point of the group, locally known as the ‘Four
Knobs’” This group is often called Capon
Mountain, and we may add that residents men-
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tion it as at the head of the Big Cove, or Vance’s
Cove,—the name of a family now in this cove,—
descendants of one Samuel Vance, who has left
through family tradition, graphic accounts of the
early days. The old settler along with others
of his venturesome spirit knew of several In-
dian battles and massacres. From this group of
high points, can be seen many other mountains—
such as the “Three High Heads,”— Tea Moun-
tain—and “Cupola Mountain” of rare grandeur.
As already stated, their summits are but little
troubled by lumbermen. Fairly good, rough wag-
on roads have made these places accessible,
through the combined efforts of the furnace men,
tannery and Lumbermen, the Iron furnaces,
known as the Vanburen & Newman furnaces,
are found in this rich ore belt, (idle at this
time). Much of the brown Hematite ore is

found, and one mountain, the Cupola—has been
distinguished among this extensive group—as the
“Manganese mountain,” many predictions are
made of what this mountain and ore belt will
yield when the long expected occurs—the rail-
road that must come some day from the Coal
Fields of West Virginia to this mountain coun-
try and thence to the Virginia Seaboard. The
area comprised within the mountains referred to
in the western part of Shenandoah County extend-
ing far up the valley is an agricultural belt, al-
though broken by ridges and hills—having local
names. This belt is noted for its extensive river
plantations, studding the north branch of the
Shenandoah on either side with splendid homes.
Much wealth abounds, and the country is in a
high state of cultivation.




CHAPTER VII

Topography of Old Frederick North of the Line Between Shenandoah
and Frederick

The lower or northern portion of the old
County, is void of the mountain grandeur
found throughout the upper portion briefly
treated in the last Chapter; and this being
so evident from a glance at the territory
towards the North, we deem it best to
describe it briefly in a separate Chapter. The
reader must not be deceived by the intimation
given, that no landscape beauty presents itself as
the undulating section rolling off to the Potomac
is viewed from the same summit of the Blue
Ridge; for while we miss the great range of
mountains to the South, and northwest of this
point, and the groups of lofty and unscaled tops
of those gigantic sentinels—we still have suffi-
cient mountain scenery along the western border,
to attract the beholder. For in that steadfast,
unbroken range of the Big North unbroken, in so
far that no independent mountains appear along
this range, the seeming impenetrable fastness is
broken in several places by the waterways that
drain the contiguous sections—these breaks, or
Gaps, as they are commonly called, afford an
outlet for nature that her gushing springs de-
mand,—as their individual rivulets wind through
hill and dale to mingle with similar outpourings,
forming bold streams, to rush on through the
defiles of that apparently impenetrable mass
“THE Big North” it must be remembered is not
a dividing line all along the western border, the
line going South along its summit at a point
just East of Capon Springs; then following the
divide to the corner of the four counties men-
tioned in the last chapter. The line running
South from the summit on the Big North follows
this summit for several miles, then leaving it
to run eastwardly over the High Knobs, crossing
Paddy’s Creek twice before it first touches Cedar
Creek at a point one mile southwest from Star
Tannery, then taking the boundary of western
Shenandoah, going southwardly within the angle
formed in The Cove, within which is found the
“Half Moon Mountains,” and Paddy’s Range with
its High peaks and corners, East of Capon Springs,
the line falls away abruptly, crossing the head
spring streams of Back Creek—to find the water-
shed along the summit of Big Timber Ridge for
a few miles, to Little Timber Ridge, leaving it

at a point near, Acorn Hill P. O, then in a
straight line over Big and Little Sandy Ridges
through to the old Berkley line (Morgan), on
to the Potomac, the old northern boundary.
Flowing along the western base of the Big North
is Back Creek; and of a truth it is a back creek
—hidden from view for miles—hemmed in on
one side by the rock-ribbed mountain, on the
other by hills of many names—the foot hills, as
it were, of Big Timber Ridge. To see this moun-
tain stream in all its natural attractions, one must
follow its bed for about ten miles over the public
highway leading from Capon Springs, by Rock
Enon, out into Back Creek Valley, where the
Northwestern Turnpike Crosses this creek eleven
miles from Winchester. The public road, in
following this creek until recent years, crossed
and re-crossed it seventeen times in traveling
this nine miles. Its clear water and rocky fords,
gave the stream a peculiar interest to the many
persons coming from crowded cities, seeking the
celebrated mountain resorts found in this section.
West of this creek and tributary to the same
watershed, are Isaacs, Sleepy, and Brush Creeks.
They flow through Timber Ridge—a queer forma-
tion in many places. Sandy soil seems to be the
character of alarge area between the North Moun-
tainand the Capon Range,—suddenly running into
blue and yellow slate formations, giving a sur-
face soil for cultivation, far superior in many
respects to other slate surfaces found in the
eastern part of the county. Suddenly the blue
and grey Limestone ridges crop out, with a soil
similar to Limestone regions. Then, again, ap-
pears a red sandy loam—known as Red-lands,—
distinguishing it from all other sections. Sturdy
and prosperous people have for many years oc-
cupied and tilled this fertile section. Around
and in full view of Red-lands, are groups of moun-
tains off to the North and West, that have much
local history. It was through this section that
Braddock, Washington, Morgan and others march-
ed, who were identified with the French and
Indian Wars, and roadways made and cut —by the
soldiers of their respective commands, have kept
their individuality to this day. No modern en-
gineer ever felt he could improve a plan mapped
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out by young Washington. Tradition gives
many interesting incidents of those marchings,
and road-makings, some of which are fully sus-
tained by our old records.

Having followed the western boundary to the
point where we joined Maryland, we follow the
Potomac River to Harper’s Ferry. From Har-
pers Ferry, we follow the summit of the Blue
Ridge to the point where the two counties of
Augusta and Frederick cutthe Valley in twain.
As their boundary line was established, the line
from Harpers Ferry southward was the eastern
line of all this territory. To the East of this line
are the subdivisions of the older counties al-
ready mentioned.

We will now point and locate some of the most
prominent natural features of the old County,
seen plainly in some instances, and dimly in
others, from the same point on the Blue Ridge;
Kercheval, in his description of the surface of
the old county—says, “That from two points on
the Blue Ridge—the observer can see Harpers
Ferry—all of the northern boundary, nearly all
of the western and southern boundaries, and the
chief features distinguishing one locality from the
other, and thus have a good understanding of
the geography of the country, without visiting
the various sections, and that was proven by his
personal visits to every section embraced within
the boundaries.” The writer has enjoyed the
same experience. Some interesting features seen
from the points referred to, are the Gaps in the
Blue Ridge, as they are commonly called. The
first to the South is known as Swift Run Gap.
Other gaps appear, but of not much importance,
until we reach the region of Chesters, Thorough-
fare, and Ashby’s Gaps in the vicinity of Front
Royal. At these points, we find mountain roads
leading over and beyond, to Rappahannock and
Fauquier Counties. “Happy Creek” has found its
way through the Ashby’s-Bent Pass, and was
once the scene of the bivouac of great armies—
as well as fierce struggles at other times between
contending factions. The remembrance of those
incidents, forced the writer to conclude that its
name should be changed; but a glimpse at the
peaceful homes seen along its way, changed the
impression; and doubtless it is best to let this
stream retain its name for the distance it flows,
on its happy way through this gorge in the moun-
tains, to be swallowed in the river. The next
Gap of importance is Berry’s Ferry Gap, afford-
ing a road-way through the Blue Ridge to enter
Fauquier County. On the summit of the pass, al-
most in touch is the “Big Poplar,” the corner
of the four counties—Loudoun and Fauquier on
the East side, and Clarke and Warren on the West.

This point is on a TABLE LAND stretching far to
the North and South. Approaching from either
side, the first impression made—is, that we are
not at the summit of a mountain—but on the
ridge of some elevated plain—for around on
every side are farms, and the grazing lands for
which this section is famous. But gradually
impression changes—as we gaze around toward
every point of the compass—the great Piedmont
Country, stretching out to the East, the nearby
eastern slopes revealing many villages—partly
hidden by the broken hills of forest glens—yet
we can locate Upperville, Paris, Middleburg,
Leesburg, Aldie, and other well known towns:
Looking to the West and North, we have a com-
prehensive view of the great Valley of Virginia.
The effect of the altitude is soon felt. While
not great, it is sufficient to give a commanding
view embracing many counties, with their splen-
did population. Following the line of vision along
this Ridge are the passes or gaps. Off to the
North the first of importance is Snickers Ferry
Gap, now commonly called Castleman’s Ferry
Gap—so named from the Ferry over the Shenan-
doah, 15% miles from Winchester. The pass
then leads on through many defiles, and over the
mountain benches—until finally we emerge on to
high and extended plains—the traveller has to be
told that he has attained the summit of another
point on this Ridge—five and a half miles of climb-
ing from the Ferry. Here again he beholds the
country on either side. Many changes appear
along this route over the mountain. The de-
mands of progress required the removal of the
historic Ferryboat, and in its stead the river is
crossed at this point on the modern Steel Bridge,
erected in 1904-5. On the summit the U. S.
Government has taken advantage of this conspi-
cuous elevation, and erected during the last five
years: suitable buildings for the Weather Bureau’s
Signal Station. South from the road-way can
be seen the Bluemont Hotel, of considerable at-
tractions to guests in summer months. At the
eastern base of the mountain where the road
descends to Loudoun County, is the Village of
Bluemont, (formerly Snickersville), terminal of
the Washington and Ohio Railroad, (Old Lou-
doun and Hampshire). No other gaps appear to
the North, of sufficient importance to notice here
until we arrive at Harper’s Ferry, the point of
confluence of the two Rivers, one flowing from
the West, draining the Allegany Ranges—the
other from the South hugging the base of the
Blue Ridge in its course, draining the Upper
Valley. Both of these rivers in their approach
to this confluence, as might be supposed, become
rugged mountain rivers, coming as they do from
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opposite directions, gathering their forces from
mountain and glen—draining a vast area. It
might be supposed they would become deep,
navigable streams at their exit from such a great
valley. Not so, however. They grow broader
and more turbulent as they approach each other
for the final struggle for an outlet through the
mountains. These approaches are over the rock-
ribbed channels forming through the Centuries.
The blue limestone formations of both the upper
and lower stratas of this region offer impregna-
ble barriers to navigation—especially is this true
of the river coming from the South. In its ap-
proach to this Gap, the bed of the river at low
water, reveals a picture of the under strata of
this section wonderful to behold—ledges, tables,
cones and piles of huge limestone formations pro-
jecting themselves through the splashing, surging,
tumbling torrents, forming wonders of crea-
tion only to be found in the ending of the Shen-
andoah. While no attempt has ever been made
to convert this river into a navigable stream to
suit modern times, the author remembers dis-
tinctly—when the old log rafts found their way
from the Upper Valley in times of high water,
loaded with products of that section, to find the
markets of Georgetown and Alexandria. Some
day, however, the raft with all its cargo, would
g0 to pieces by accidentally colliding with some
submerged reef. The hopes of the owners were
dashed to ruin; and the swirl of waters some-
times swallowed up members of the venturesome
crew. These rivers, now familiarly known as
the Potomac and Shenandoah, seem to have
had many struggles in establishing their names.
For many years the Potomac was known from
this point westward as the Cohongoroota, as the
continuation of the “Quiriough,” alias “Powtow-
mack,”—to the Head Springs in the Alleghaney
Mountains (see Colonial Statutes 1736), receiv-
ing in its flow through the mountains the waters
of “Wappacomo,” the Indian name of the South
branch. The name was used in the Colonial
statutes, long before Fairfax raised his conten-
tion with Maryland regarding the boundary of
his Grant, Maryland holding that Wappacomo,
was the Cohongoroota; Fairfax holding, as did
the Colonial Government, that the Wappacomo
was the South branch of the Cohongoroota '(Po-
tomac), River which extended nearly due West
to its source in the mountains beyond Cumber-
land. This stream was sometimes designated the
North branch of Potomack. Diligent search of
old statutes,—and a full review of Reports made
to the Colonial Assembly,—as well as those sub-
sequently made up to 1832, establishes fully that
the North Branch, so called, was and has be-
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come the Potomac proper; the name Cohongoru-
ton and Cohongoruta often appears in this connec-
tion. During all these contentions, the river
from Harper’s Ferry running eastward, bore
many names which, though queer, seem prefer-
able to the Indian name Quiriough—and thus we
have Pawtaw-mak, Pot-O-Make, Po-co-moke,
Po-to-Moke, Pot-ow-moke,—and several others
too numerous to mention. Why these odd names
should be used by the Crown or the Colonial gov-
ernment to distinguish the historic stream we
know not. All must haye been happy when all
contestants settled down to Potomac, as the
name to dignify the far-famed river, on its way
from mountain to Sea—gathering from its tribu-
taries a force of waters sufficient to float many
Navies,—and a water-way for commerce from
Washington to the sea-board. The “Sherando”
also had its share of names. For instance—Ger-
ando-Gerundo, Shendo, Sherundo Shennandow—
at last we find the euphonious Shesandoah. This
Indian name, according to traditions, had its
origin with the old Iroquois tribe when they
held sway in the celebrated Hunting Grounds. A
thrilling story is told of war between “Opeck-
enough” and the Iroquois chief “Gherundo.”
The former, in one of his annual forays for
game, found a small band of warriors West of
the mountains, who proved to be part of the Iro-
quois tribe. After the hunt was over, Opeck-
enough returned to his villages on the Chicka-
hominy below Williamsburg, but left his son
Shee-Wa-a-Nee and a band of warriors to watch
the hunting grounds. It was not long until the
main body of the Iroquois returned and gave
battle, and Gherundo drove the chief East of the
mountains. Opeckenough left the lowlands as
soon as he was informed by rusmers, and within
a few days he came with a large force and fell
upon Gherundo in great fury; defeated and drove
him from his Sherando, never to return from
his home on the New York Lakes. Shee-Wa-a-
nee was left again in charge; and from that day
the Shawnee Tribe held the Sherando Valley
until driven out by white settlers. The pioneers
found the Shaw-a-nese tribe clinging to the
Opeckenough name for the Creek that has be-
come famous. The tragic ending of the old
blind Chief in his “Lowlands” is matter for gen-
eral history. Having traced the rivers from their
sources to their confluence, we should give some
special notice to their exit from the Shenandoah
Valley. As the new stream the Potomac, mages-
tically sweeps through this gap—made in the
world’s history by the pent up waters of the
great Valley lying South and West; looking up
from the river side to the jagged ends of the
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broken mountains, the head grows dizzy in the
effort to take in the points of interest. Fully
1200 feet above this point on the river—looking
to the North or South, are beheld many objects
that have attracted thousands, as they were
suddenly confronted with this grand creation of
nature. Many points of view present themselves,
—from which the sublimity of the scenery stands
out so prominently; one or two are conspicuous
above all others. From the Maryland side of
the river a stupendous rock overhangs the Po-
tomac, claimed to be a striking likeness of Wash-
ington. After much gazing, a semblance is form-
ed by the gradual development of the nose, lips
and chin, until an admirable picture is formed,
which being hard to discover, is harder to efface
from gaze or memory. While the statue is of
large proportions and magestic in its location, it
fixes an impression that you can see a mildness
of feature, so familiar to all in every picture by
the artist of the great man. The other point of
special interest is Jeffersow’s Rock on a hill over-
hanging the river. From this rock one not only
has a rapturous view of the grand scenery—but
may gather scraps of unwritten history told by
accommodating “habitants” of the Village near-
by. The top of this rock, as seen by the author
many years ago, is flat and about twelve or four-
teen feet square. Its base which does not exceed
five feet in width, rests upon the top of a larger
rock, its height not quite six feet. The whole
so well balanced, that slight effort with an ordin-
ary lever, causes it to vibrate perceptibly. On
this rock we are told there was another rock of
smooth surface which attracted the attention of
Mr. Jefferson when visiting this place, and it
was on this rock where he inscribed his name—
the writer had often heard of this incident in Mr.
Jefferson’s life, and of course was disappointed
in not finding the name; and upon enquiry, was
informed that the capstone referred to, that
bore the inscription, had at one time been hauled
from its place; and thus the name was gone.
For an explanation of this, we were told that it
was the act of some vandal,—an enemy of Jeffer-
son, who hoped to destroy the name of a states-
man that will never be forgotten while America
has a history. The name of the vandal could
not be obtained then,—but the story has been
confirmed long since,—for in a study of the legis-
lation of the new State prior to and embracing
the period of 1800, we find that the General As-
sembly was called upon by some enthusiastic
friend of Mr. Jefferson—to take some action to
show that “Virginia resented an act of discour-
tesy shown one of her sons, offered by the un-
warranted conduct of a Federal officer, by the

name of Henry.” It was then easy to find an
explanation of the incident. In the political and
exciting “presidential” campaign of 1798-9, be-
tween the Federal and Democratic parties, a Cap-
tain Henry, who was stationed at this place with
a squadron of U. S. Troops, headed a band of
his men, all being federalists, no doubt,—rolled
off this capstone that contained the inscription;
and thus put out of sight a name from his poli-
tical standpoint that was detestable,—Jefferson’s
name will never be disassociated from this rock,
and sight-seers still hunt for the name. The
fone rock on the mountain side will ever bear
his name—while the name of the “Henry,” (who
bore no trace of kin to the immortal Patrick)
would be forgotten except for this vandal act. Mr.
Jefferson so immortalized the scenery of this
break in the mountains, affording passage for
the Rivers, that we give a portion of his eloquent
description, as seen by him from a point on the
Blue Ridge overlooking the whole picture—Gap,
Rivers and Valley. We are told, as he stood
on this high point, he gave to the world his
graphic reasons for such creations. Here is
what he said: “The passage of the Potomac
through the Blue Ridge, is perhaps, one of the
most stupendous scenes in nature. You stand on
a very high point of land. On your right comes
the Shenandoah, having ranged along the foot
of a mountain a hundred miles to seek a vent.
On your left approaches the Potomac, in quest
of a passage also; in the moment of their junc-
tion, they rush together against the mountain,
rend it asunder, and pass off to the sea. The
first glance of this scene hurries our senses into
the opinion that this earth has been created in
time, that the mountains were formed first; that
the rivers began to flow afterwards; that in this
particularly, they have been dammed up by the
Blue Ridge of mountains, and have formed an
ocean which filled the whole Valley; that, con-
tinuing to rise, they have at length broken over
at this spot, and have torn the mountain down
from its summit to its base. The piles of rock
on each hand, particularly on the Shenandoah—
the evident marks of their disrupture and avul-
sion from their beds by the most powerful agents
of nature, corroborate the impression. But the
finishing which nature has given to the picture,
is of a very different character; it is a true con-
trast to the foreground; it is as placid and de-
lightful as that is wild and tremendous; for the
mountain being cloven asunder, she presents to
your eye, through the clefts, a small catch of
blue horizon, at an infinite distance in the coun-
try, inviting you, as it were. Here the eye ulti-
mately composes itself; and that way, too, the
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road happens actually to lead. You cross the
Potomac above the junction, pass along its side
through the base of the mountain for three miles,
its terrible precipices hanging in fragments over
you, and within about twenty miles, reach Fred-
erickstown, and the fine country round that. This
scene is worth a voyage across the Atlantic; yet
here, as in the neighborhood of the Natural
Bridge, are people who have passed their lives
within half dozen miles, and have never been to
survey these monuments of a war between rivers
and mountains, which has shaken the earth itself
to its center.”

The first impulse of the writer after reading and
studying this comprehensive description given us
by this great genius, who had studied works of
Nature as well as arts and sciences, is to with-
draw quietly from the scene, and leave the reader
to dwell over the rapturous picture given us;
but we are reminded that all this creation has
had its practical side,—and as we make this
effort in the direction of describing the natural
creations, it is plainly our duty to see what man
has accomplished ; though he waited long, to take
advantage of some of these natural features.
And it was thirty years after Mr. Jefferson’s visit,
before the pass was used for the great highways
of traffic now so familiar to the visitor: The
Baltimore & Ohio Railroad and the Canal hard-
by,—with the McAdamized turnpike threading its
way over the bridge and along the base of the
broken mountains struggling to maintain their
rights—all crowded to supply the demand made
by man to transport the products of a country
where nature has been so lavish in her forma-
tions, and man so boastful of what he has done
to open the store-houses of nature—and rush away
the wonders of her bosom, as well also, to give
the world an opportunity to partake of the pro-
ducts of a soil well tilled. This point will be
more fully treated under the head of Railroads,
Towns, etc. Proceeding from this point, to locate

the northern boundary—we need only follow the
course of the “Cohongoruta” westward, into the
great mountains. The Valley lying between the
Blue Ridge and the Great Mountains is cut in
twain by this river; the section to the South being
the Shenandoah Valley—that to the North, has
been known for many years as the Cumberland
Valley. The river for twenty-four miles—air
line—performs some peculiar movements across
the valley—hesitating, as it were, which course
to pursue,—whether to lop off at many points
sections for either valley ;—plunging often to the
North,—then South,—then East, making so many
changes in its tortuous course, that the distance
is about doubled, as it fixes the line between
Virginia and Maryland. And, if one takes a
position on the first mountain going West—he
will have a view of the winding river that pre-
sents a picture of apparently several rivers, run-
ning in much confusion along the eccentric bends
and turnings, are alluvial soils. The region at
some points appears as a valley, and again, a
hill country with its suggestive features, general-
ly, however, the country on either side impresses
the beholder with a wealth of agriculture. The
river in many places is broad and beautiful, giv-
ing an idea that it is a navigable stream; and,
as will be shown in this volume, was navigable,
for experiment, once.

We find on its southern banks Shepherdstown,
12 miles above Harper’s Ferry, which not only
marks the point alluded to, but also the old Mec-
lenburg crossing of the river by the first settlers.
West from this point, the river describes many
forms and shapes in its course; passing Williams-
port, we approach the mountain gorges and wind-
ing ways; reach later on, the elevations leading
past Paw-Paw,—Greenspring,—Sir Johns Run,—
crossing South Branch, and up to Cumberland—
where the altitude is very perceptible. For the
purpose of defining the northern boundary we
need go no further West.



CHAPTER VIII

Natural Points of Interest of Old Frederick County

In treating the topography of this great section
of the Lower Valley, the author may at times
make some departure from his scheme; the in-
tention being to keep separate the creations of
nature from those of man; and having disposed
of the natural features, then to take up the at-
tractive development of this wonderful surface.
We may at times find a blending of the two;
but in this chapter we hope to avoid as much
as possible any mention of the development other
than to aid in distinguishing some locality, by
mentioning the name of a town or other promi-
nent feature.

The surface of this great section is broken
by mountains, hills and bold streams. Of the
former, the Big North along the western border,
has already been mentioned as forming part of
the western boundary. This mountain is in full
view from so many points in the valley, that we
naturally conclude it is entitled to its name. Its
splendid proportions are not its chief attractions;
for it affords inexhaustible supplies of lumber
of many varieties; and has been the base of sup-
ply of the celebrated chestnut-oak bark, which
has made several large tanneries famous for
their superior products. In the early days it
afforded shelter for large game—bear, panther,
wolf and deer. Family traditions have been
given the writer to study—the hope being he
would in some way weave into his work many
exploits of the forefathers, who not only reveled
in the chase, but found much profit in gathering
pelts from these animals, which, in the early days,
was their stock-in-trade; as orders of court show
that rewards were offered and liberal prem-
iums paid for the destruction of such animals.
The pelts found sale at good prices. The fur
dealer in that day made frequent shipments of
his packs. The courts, however, required the
packs to be inspected. No explanation of this
that the writer has ever seen, but in one in-
stance. The Sheriff reported one condemsned
pack, he having discovered that “the pelts were
overlaid with the brown Tobacco leaf,” the pack
was ordered to be sold at publick auction in
front of the jail on the Publick Lotts!” The
traditions mention combats with Indian hunters,
who claimed the first right to use the trafls and
crossings. Generally these Indian hunters at

that period were peace Indians. They never
hesitated to claim their rights, and this resulted
in many sharp fights. In other pages, some ac-
count of these hunters’ battles may appear. The
writer reluctantly omits giving them further
mention here, as they abound with much to
show the character of those early mountain set-
tlers which would furnish names of many, whose
descendants have become noticeable factors in
the political history of the county. On the east-
ern slopes of the Big North, many famous springs
are found; some noted for the strength and
gush of the fountain, others for their medicinal
qualities. Among the latter, is found the cluster
of springs in the Cove section; and while in that
section, coming down the eastern slope, we
must mention The Gravel Spring, now owned by
G. Wash Pifer, Esq. This spring is truly one
of the gems of the mountain. Pembroke-
Springs, still further North are susceptible im-
provements, which should give them prominence
as a mountain resort. We pass on now to find
the head streams of a famous creek known as
Hogue Creek (pronounced Hog). In tracing the
Pioneers to their settlements on the various
streams, the origin of this name will be given.
This is a real mountain stream, drawing its sup-
plies from the East and West. Wolf Spring
away up on the slopes of the North Mountain and
numerous springs on the eastern slopes of Lit-
tle North, all wend their way to form Hogue
Creek, which, ere its ford is reached, where the
Northwestern Turnpike crosses it, six miles West
from Winchester, becomes very often a mountain
torrent with destruction in its way, not only to
fencing and growing crops, but it has swept
away within the writer’s recollection, human
lives and teams of horses. Such disasters should
encourage the authorities to erect bridges over
this and Back Creek. Certainly Frederick Coun-
ty, with all her resources, should be able to pay
for bridging the principal streams, since she has
never been called upon to expend a dollar for
this purpose in a hundred years.

Some of the springs on the eastern slope of
the Little North are found within three and half
miles of Winchester. Some flowing to the Po-
tomac via Hogue Creek, and others sending their
streams to the same river zia Opecquon Creek.
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Following the streams flowing to Hogue Creek
from the point named, the course is now fol-
lowed over the Northwestern Turnpike and
through a gap in these Little North Mountain
ranges, that from the earliest time in its history
has been known as Hoop-Petticoat Gap, so dub-
bed by reason of the “lasses” of that section
adopting the hoop skirt and making their hoops
from the hickory poles found in that section.
Some wag applied the name in jest, never dream-
ing of its duration. The hoop skirt became pop-
ular at a subsequent period, when not only the
lasses of the Gap adopted the style, but all the
social realm. The writer remembers the charms
of this style, modernized by the crinoline skirt
about 1850 and used for a considerable time
thereafter. This Gap is entitled to its old name.
Records speak of roads being opened to the Great
Road leading through Hoop-Petticoat Gap; and
deeds for land in that region describe boundaries
etc., in this Gap. Hogue Creek flows generally
in a northeasterly course, going through some
good sections. The bottom lands are narrow
and subject to overflow. Some productive farms
are seen along its banks, principally in the vicin-
ity of Pughtown. Near this point, the creek re-
ceives the waters of Indian Hollow. The coun-
try along Hogue Creek, where it empties into
Back Creek, at a point three miles East of Pugh-
town, is hilly and broken; and in some places
nature seemed inclined to make a mountain
range to fringe its banks. Returning from the
creek region to the mountain range, within four
miles West of Winchester, we find what is
locally known as Chambers Mountain, so called
as being a section of mountain land granted to
John Chambers by the Governor and Council.
Chambersville post office is named for this man.
The Gap passes along the abrupt ending of the
mountain leaving off to the northeast nearby
what was once the extension of this mountain,
a conical-shaped mountain, called Round Hill.
This spur rises majestically at the North end
of the first valley seen as you emerge from the
mountains over the Great Road leading from
the Ohio to Winchester. The traveler, so ac-
customed to mountains of every form, height,
grandeur and confusing ranges, over turbulent
creeks and rivers, has the mountain scenery and
pictures of nature so suddenly transformed by
this other work of nature, that he is brought
to a halt, impressed with this wonderful change.
Back of him are the mountains, miles upon
miles of them. At no moment in all the travel
for days, whence so ever he came or whither
he went, had he a glimpse of an open country.
Now in full view, without an effort, he beholds

the open country. Not even the lines of the
Blue Ridge are seen from this point. No, noth-
ing but table land lying under the eastern shad-
ows of the Little North, (Chambers) fringed
on the East by strips of woodland, with gently
undulating ridges of limestone, just enough to
draw distinctive features, forming a line be-
tween this and the great valley. Looking to the
South, the eye rests upon a fringe of the moun-
tain forests, extending along a slight eminence
scarcely perceptible, but sufficient to shut off
the view of the upper valley; while on the
North, rising gradually from the road-way is
old Round Hill, to shut off the northern view;
and thus the vision is confined to this sooth-
ing scene of this first open country. The area
is not great; only about two thousand acres of
land can be seen from the first point of obser-
vation. Several homes of prosperous farmers are
seen to the East and South. Directly in front
are seen two brick churches, situated on either
side of the Great Road leading to Winchester;
the one off on the green hillock in a grove of
forest trees, is the Presbyterian Church, with a
small cemetery hard-by. Off to the North, and
nestling under the shadows of Round Hill, is
the M. E. Church, South. The country store
and post office of Chambersville at the forks of
the Roads are new features, and belong to the
period known as “Since the War.” Lying off to
the South, in the midst of many acres of luxuri-
ant meadow lands a half mile away, is a promi-
nent homestead, a veritable Colonial Home, the
domain of which extends from the horizon on
the South, to the Northwestern Turnpike, from
which the traveler is taking his view, Old Re-
tirement is the name by which it has been known
since 1782, when the writer’s grand sire, Nathan-
iel Cartmell, took it as his allotment of the
large Cartmell grant. Here several generations
of this family first saw the light, the author be-
ing one of the second generation. Little North
Mountain is a range of mountains, starting in
its first distinctive formations, far up towards
the southern boundary to be broken in twain by
Cedar Creek, and again by a smaller stream,
tributary to this creek, forming Fawsett’s Gap,
in early days Carr’s, and later, as Longacre’s
Gap. From this gap no other break is made in
this range for five miles. Passing Round Hill,
the range is much broken leading northward.
Now and then are spurs and ridges, the charac-
ter so changed, that following its course, the
mountain features are so blended with the hill
country, that one would suppose that we have
a lost mountain. Soon, however, as we approach
the Potomac at a point above Martinsburg, we
find this range again taking on strong mountain
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features. Here a high point is seen, distinguish-
ed now as North Mountain Depot, a station on
the main line of the B. & O. R. R.

The country between the two mountains, may
be styled the Hill Country, broken, as it is, for
many miles. One never feels that it could be
distinguished as a valley, though it is natural
that those unacquainted with the country would
conclude that it is. Very many prosperous far-
mers are found throughout this region, giving
evidence that there is much fertility in the slate
and mountain soil, when intelligent labor is be-
stowed. Though the section is not regarded as
generally favorable to agriculture, the land not
commanding the prices found in the section
East of the Little North, much was done in
former years for the development of some of the
mineral resources found in the upper section,
such as smelting furnaces. One feature of this
section, worthy of notice is a cataract found
near the Old Fu e, near the eastern base of
the Big North vuntain, locally known as
Mountain Falls. We find this beautiful cataract
but little known to the outside world, though

only about fourteen miles southwest from Win-
chester. The Falls as they are called, are form-
ed by a beautiful little mountain stream, coming
from a large spring near the summit. The
stream grows very restless and bold, as it finds
its way through a mountain gorge and through
a glen between the mountain and Falling Ridge,
running in a northerly course for more than a
mile from the mountain spring, where it sud-
denly swings to the East for its first plunge over
a solid mountain granite rock, about one hun-
dred feet high. At this point it is about twenty
feet wide; then a second plunge is made. The
last water-fall shoots entirely free from the
perpendicular wall of granite; more than onme
hundred feet in length is the granite bed of the
stream, which falls away in slopes for a final
plunge, thence it passes with gradual descent,
and at once becomes a smooth and quiet stream,
supplying Mr. R. M. Cooper’s farm with abun-
dance of water. The mist rising from the base
of the fall and many other features, impress the
beholder. Reader, go see this Niagara in min-
iature!



CHAPTER IX

The Lower Valley—OIld Frederick in the Early Days

The observer should occupy points on the Blue
Ridge in the morning, and on the Little North in
the evening. The morning view being heighten-
ed by the early sunbeams rising over the Blue
Mountains on which he stands, and watches their
rays gradually seeking out and disclosing to view
the many little valleys, hill tops and rolling sur-
face, and marking the tiny rivulet and babbling
brook, shining like silver threads. And, as the
eye endeavors to follow their tracings,—the little
lines often lost to sight as they wind their way
along the base of some hill, showing that the sur-
face of the placid picture is broken by ridge and
dell. Though looking down upon the scene from
the mountain point, the first impression is that
the surface is smooth; but in watching the chang-
ing scene revealed by stronger rays of sunshine,
the markings become distinct. The rivulets have
found their way around the hills and through
the vales, and enter the larger streams; and as
they gather all their silver threads into the lar-
ger line, the sheen of waters is so increased,
as to be dignified with names. Some of them
have become historic for a thousand reasons.
The most prominent of these water lines has
now become so well defined by its flashing and
rushing waters, that it deserves first mention.
The Opecquon, as it is called at this writing, is
so well defined in its tortuous course, that it can
readily be traced to the Potomac; though some-
times the unpracticed eye confuses the many
broad gleams of water, and the impression is
given that several distinct streams are forming
a confluence. Not so, however; it is the same
distinct stream from head to flow. So many en-
quiries have been made of the writer as to the
source of the Opecquon Creek, that it is well to
give it at this point. And as the source has
always been familiar to him, he may be pardoned
for giving the location so plainly, that no ques-
tion need arise hereafter to cast a doubt. The
head springs forming this creek, are found at
the base of the Little North Mountain, about
four miles (air line) southwest from Winchester.
Off in the vale below this base, are many springs
within a radius of five hundred yards; and this
cluster of springs was for many years regarded
as the head springs, and were designated as the
Cartmell and Glass Springs; thus called by rea-
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son of their grants of land lying on either side
of the stream which embraced all these springs.
The stream formed a line between their grants
for a mile of its eastern course. These springs
afforded such water power, that the stone mill,
only a few hundred yards below (still standing),
was erected by Mr. Glass. Following the early
period, it was claimed that the large springs
were on the side of the smaller stream coming
from the mountain. To set at rest the point
so often raised, it was found that other springs
above were entitled to recognition. These were
embraced in the grant also, and owned in the
early days by same owners. They were for many
years known as the Cartmell and Tavenner
Springs, more recently the property of Levi G.
Miller and John H. Cochran. But even above
these springs, is found one other, and the only
one. It is noted for its cold and delightful wa-
ter, and is owned by the author.

The Opecquon from its source, for three miles
flows due East, and continually receives the
waters given out by the wealth of springs in its
course; so that it becomes a formidable stream
'ere it passes from the limestone belt into the
slate section at Bartonsville, six miles South of
Winchester, where the Valley Turnpike crosses
it on, or rather through, an old historic wooden
bridge. The creek from this point runs through
the slate belt, which extends from the Massa-
nutten to the Potomac, and finds so many ob-
stacles in the strongly-marked slate ridges and
deep veins, that many changes occur in its course.
Sometimes we trace it flowing South; then sud-
denly curving one of the ridges, it flows north-
ward; then, as suddenly, due East; then north-
east. By this time it has made the point where it
was once marked by a large mill (Parkins),
where the Front Royal Turnpike crosses, five
miles from Winchester. From this point, it
plunges boldly into a thickly wooded country,
called the Pine Hills. The growth, generally
stunted, here gives evidence of weaker soils than
the alluvial limestone lands found along its first
three miles. Its devious way through these hills
is interesting to behold, so many difficulties are
encountered in its apparent struggle to reach
the Potomac. The writer has often wondered
why this creek did not find an outlet to the
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Shenandoah, which seemed to be the natural out-
let for all this water; and how it should have
turned from what seemed its natural course, to
seek an outlet to the Potomac many miles away,
breaking through those formidable slate ridges,
was a mystery only to be explained by the de-
mands of Nature. When we, however, find that
this bold creek heads for the Potomac in a more
northerly course, the problem is partly solved.
Some such water-way was required to drain and
water this peculiar slate section, otherwise it
would have been a glaring waste, extending far
through this rich Valley. Without it much of
the Lower Valley would never have received its
grandeur. Nature’s formation of this great slate
belt, separating these two limestone sections,
must have been no accident. At any rate, the
once barren slate belt has been transformed.
Whether it will ever become as fertile as its
limestone neighbors, is doubtful. But the trans-
formation has ever offered attractions to those
who have followed its course, seeming to pre-
fer them to others on either side. This creek,
where it starts on its northerly course, is cross-
ed again by the Millwood Turnpike, six miles
from Winchester. Later on, it is crossed by the

Berryville Turnpike, at a point known as Spout.

Springs. This spring is on the eastern bank,
where the traveler from Winchester to Berry-
ville slakes his thirst, and watches the movements
of the hydraulic ram, sending a goodly supply of
cold water to the home of Mr. Daniel T. Wood
on the West side, where his large flour mill is
situated on Redbud. This stream, one of the
three tributaries of the Opecquon, flows from the
West. Abrams Creek and Ash Hollow Run,
form their junction near this mill, emptying into
the Opecquon just below this Spout Spring Ford
and Redbud Run—a strong stream flowing from
its head springs along the base of Applepie Ridge,
and finding its way into the Opecquon below
this ford. Redbud has become historical in the
part she played when armies lined its banks
awaiting the shock of battle.

The Opecquon for several miles from a point
below the Parkins Mills, forms the boundary of
Clarke County, and continues as such to the three
Counties of Frederick, Clarke and Jefferson. From
this Spout Spring Ford, the creek takes as its
general course a northeast direction, picking up
on its way the small streams coming from either
side—those from the West being Lick Run, flow-
ing through the grounds of the Jordan White
Sulphur Springs; Littler’s Run and Turkey Run
flowing through Brucetown.

The Opecquon has here become quite a majestic
little river; many places presenting rugged scen-
ery, as she rushes through overhanging cliffs; then

falling away into broad, placid basins, where her
bosom grows broader, and presents the idea of
miniature lakes; then, as if longing to get away
and reach the Potomac, the swirls again appear,
and a turbulent creek is seen forcing its way
through many formidable slate ridges. The Old
Charlestown Road, often called the old Baltimore
Road, crosses this creek northeast from Winches-
ter. In tracing the meanderings of this stream,
the reader will observe that at none of the road-
crossings mentioned, do we find the Opecquon at
a distance exceeding six miles from Winchester.
In its tortuous course, every point of the com-
pass seems to woo its waters;—describing in
these courses, a crescent around Winchester, from
whence all of her great roads leading out in
every direction, except due West, must, within
six miles, cross this historic stream.

In tracing the Opecquon from source to flow,
mention is made of Abrams Creek. This stream
is entitled to fuller description, while treating of
the waterways of the County. The creek, doubt-
less, is entitled to the name tradition has given it.
One of the first settlers of this section was
Abram Hollingsworth, who located himself at
a large spring southeast from the original site
of the Borough of Winchester, but some time
before it was thus known. The spring has ever
been known as Hollingsworth Spring; and at
this writing, in part the property of the family
of that name and the City of Winchester. Why
this family should have preferred naming the
stream Abram rather than the family name,
might raise some question for speculation. This
stream comes from springs West of the City of
Winchester, the most notable being, of course,
what is known as the Town Spring near the sub-
urbs, and on the roadside of the Northwest
Turnpike. From this spring, Winchester drew
her water supply for more than a century. Still
to the southwest, about a mile distant, is the
cluster of springs on the properties now owned
by James B. Russell and Jacob E. Baker, on the
main course of the creek. Still further to the
northwest are found three other springs, imme-
diately on the dfvide of the watershed between
Hogue Creek and Opecquon. The first is at the
home of Dr. John S. Lupton, two miles from
Winchester on the northwest side of the Turn-
pike; the others are near the eastern base of the
Round Hill—one of them on the very summit of
the divide, on the property owned for many
years by the Hodgson family. From this spring
can be seen the stream flowing westward to form
Hogue Creek—all within three miles of the first
cluster mentioned; and from that point on, it is
known as Abrams Creek,—a stream noted for
its splendid mill sites, where factories and mills
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were erected in the early part of the Nineteenth
Century. The first was the large stone mill
erected by Isaac Hollingsworth in 1827 near the
Valley Turnpike, one mile South from the Court-
house. A short distance below on the East side of
the Pike, was the Nathan Parkins Mill. Below
this and in full view are three other mills—the
first for many years the property of Jonathan
Smith ;—next the Kern's Mill; then the Swartz
Mill, near the South side of the Front Royal
Turnpike, now the William Brothers’ Woolen
Mill. Up to this point, the course of this stream
was first southeast; then East; then due South
for a short distance; then due East to the last
named mill. At this point, it abruptly turns its
course North for a quarter of a mile, where it
meets the town run near the Abram Hollings-
worth Spting, where David Hollingsworth for
many years maintained a prosperous mill. In
after years, about 1870, it became the property
of Ober & Sons, who used it as a phosphate, or
fertilizer, factory under the management of U. L.
Dorsey. Then in 1884, it was used as a creamery
or dairy plant for the manufacture of butter—
E. R. Thatcher and John V. Tavenner proprietors.
Falling into disuse in a few years, it became the
property of the City of Winchester, to form a
basis for additional water supply. Below this
point, the stream flows northeast through a hill

country. Other mills appear. The first was the
property of James McCallister, but was abandon-
ed many years ago. One other, just below, was
also the property of the McCallister family, who
gave it the name of Greenwood Mills.

The reader will see that Abrams Creek is en-
titled to distinction, as an important factor in the
interests of Winchester, and for the country many
miles around. It should be mentioned here, that
the Winchester Paper Mill Company became the
owners of the Jonathan Smith Mill property in
1874, erecting large and suitable buildings for
the manufacture of strawboard paper. The en-
terprise was successful. It is now owned by the
American Strawboard Company—known as the
Trust. The plant is operated now to its fullest
capacity. The subject of mills and factories will
be treated under their own particular head and
not continued here. The digression made in the
case of Abrams Creek, was deemed necessary to
give it some prominence, owing to its relation
to the old county seat. Having pointed out the
course of the Opecquon and some of its tributar-
ies, further mention of the waterways of the
country will be postponed for the present; and
some of the highways that have been made as
the country developed, will be treated in the next
chapter.



CHAPTER X

Old County Roads and Turnpikes—Their Charters, &c.

The author has bestowed much time and labor
in his endeavor to give some intelligent under-
standing of the important highways of the Coun-
ty, showing their markings in such way, that
the reader may trace them to and from the
many settlements; and even beyond the boundary
lines, where such roads enter adjoining counties.
Much of this matter was given in the chapter on
the organization of the first courts, as the court
orders related to the petitions presented to the
court, asking for the right to open roads through
the county; so some repetition may occur.

A careful description is given in Chapter I,
of the important roadways opened by order
of court for the first two years, the orders of
court being copied in full.

Several roads from the Valley passed through
gaps in the Blue Ridge over to Orange Court-
house, and other points East of the Blue Ridge;
others from the settlements of the “Bullskin” and
Cohongoroota, and from settlements on the Opec-
quon near Shepherdstown to the county seat, and
‘then along Great Capon, and along Pattersons
Creek, do not require mention here. As the
settlements were made in many sections and
population rapidly increased, a demand was made
for roads at every monthly term; and the courts
were very prompt in complying with the requests
of the petitioners. Very soon the settlements had
ways of intercourse, and also roads to attend
monthly courts as litigants, jurors or witnesses.

In order that the reader may see briefly what
progress the new settlers were making along
this line, the author will give a list of many of
the roads laid out in the county, embracing every
section within its boundaries; giving names of
many persons, and suggesting localities that, if
he cares to do so, he may examine the old order
books of the court for the first ten years, even
before the town of Winchester was established
by law in 1752,—and he will find much of interest
in every order. But let him take warning, lest
some important matter escape his attention. For
be it known, that those old courts, through their
clerk being more economical with the space in
their books than with language employed to ex-
press their meaning, much is so closely written
and interspersed with other minutes of the terms;
and not being indexed, are only found after care-

ful reading of every page. The writer has spent

many hours and even days, to make it possible

to place before the reader the following list.

We take them in their order:

From the Courthouse to Morgan Morgans.

the meeting house at the Gap of the Moun-

tain above Hugh Paul’'s to Warm Spring.

Courthouse to Littler’s old place.

“ Smith’s to John Littler’s.

“ Parkin’s Mill to Jones’ Plantation.

“ Sturman’s Run to Johnson's Mill.

“ John Milton’s to John Sturman’s.

“ Cunningham’s Chapel to the River.

“ Hite’s Mill to Chrisman’s Spring.
Camp Meeting Ground).

“ the County Road to the Chapel and to Mc-
Coy's Spring (McKay).

“ Opecquon to the Courthouse.

“ Cedar Creek to McCoy’s Run.

“ Spout Run to John Sturman’s.

Opecquon to Sherando River.

“ Geddings’ plantation to Littler’s Mill, (later

Wood’s mill).

Hite's mill to Nation’s run.

“ Mill Creek to Littler’s old place. (Old Tav-
ern stand).

“ TFerry to the County Road.

“ Stephen’s Mill to McCoy’s Chapel.

“  Wm. Hughes plantation to Jeremiah Smith’s.

“ Simon Linder’s to Old Lloyd.

“ Branson’s Mill to Gregory Ford.—(Shenan-
doah County).

“ Cunningham’s to Borden Springs.

“ Capt. Rutherford’s to Potomac.

“ “ to John McCormick.

“ Howel's Ford to the top of the ridge.

* David Lloyd’s to top of Blue Ridge at Ves-

(Old

tal Gap.

“ lower part of Patterson’s Creek to the
wagon road.

“ the mouth of Patterson’s Creek to Jobe
Pearsell’s.

“ Watkins Ferry to Falling Waters.

“ Hite’s Spring to Middle of Swamp in Smith
Marsh.

Gap on Little Mountain to Kersey’s Ferry.

Littler’s old place to Opequon.

stone bridge to Parker’s on the North River
of Cap Capon.
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From Richard Sturman’s to Cunningham’s Chapel.
“ the Courthouse to Ballinger’s plantation.
“ Funk's Mill to Cedar Creek.

“ Funk’s Mill to the Augusta line—(route of

the Valley Turnpike).

the town to Dr. Briscoe’s (evidently Steph-
ensburg).

bridge near Lindsey’s to
Chapel.

“ Stover’s Mill to Gabriel Jones’ plantation.

“ Frederick Town to mouth of South Branch.

*“ Long Marsh to Vestal's Iron Works.

“ Wm. Frosts’ to John Frosts’ Mill.

“ Hoop Peticoat Gap to Hite Mill.

“ Branson’s Mill to Hite’s Mill.

Ross’s Fence by the great road to Opequon.

Johnson’s house to road to Fairfax County.

Caton’s house to Jacob Hite’s.

Watkinson's Ferry to Vestal’s Gap.

“ John Ratchlies to John Fossetts.

“ Stephens Mill to Mary Littler’s.

“ Chester’s to Branson’s Mill.

“ North River to Great Capon.

Cunningham’s Chapel to Neill’'s Ford.

“ Cedar Creek to Cross Roads at John Duck-
worth’s.

John McCormick to main road to town.

On the river side from Long Marsh to Ves-
tal’s.

Sleepy Creek to Widow Paul’s.

Morgan’s Chapel to Opequon.

Lloyd’s crossing at the river to top of Ridge.

Burwell’s Mill to Fox Trap point.

“ Kersey’s to the Ferry Road of Sherando.

river at Edge’s Ford to Francis Carney.

the head of the pond in Sherando to Worm-
ley Quarter.

bridge to head of great pond on Sherando.

Sturman’s Bridge to Burwell’s Mill.

Nation’s Run to Capt. Hite’s.

“ Town to the Opecquon.

“ head spring of Stribling’s to Cunningham’s

Chapel

“ Mark Harman’s Mill

worth.

Many of the roads mentioned in the foregoing
list are worthy of more extended notice than
others; and referring to the first chapters of
this work, will be seen sufficient description of
the important Highways to readily locate their
route, and also give the names of the landowners
through which the proposed road passes. If any
should desire to follow the description more
fully; they would do well to select the names
of the land owners and resort to the deed books
of that period, for the deeds for the lands in the
section;—and they will find satisfactory evidence

"

Cunningham’s

to Isaac Hollings-

to verify all statements briefly made as to the
location, etc.

One of the roads mentioned in the foregoing
list was destined to become famous;—but in the
order of court receives the usual attention: no
mention made for the necessity for the highway
other than to afford communication between out-
laying settlements and the county seat. The peti-
tions simply ask for the cutting out and open a
way “from Frederick Town the county seat, to
the Mouth of the South Branch.” This evident-
ly was the first direct road opened from the coun-
ty seat to the settlements beyond the great Moun-
tains ;—though on several occasions the settlers
on the South Branch had petitioned the court
for roads in their section. Same in the case of
Great Capon and Patterson’s Creek. Some came
to court from those sections. Processes had been
served on the inhabitants of all those “outlying
settlements”—and the attendances at court show
that they found some route to travel,—but no
evidence given to locate the way of their coming.
Those outlying settlements were not off-shoots
from the Shenandoah Valley Settlements, but
were independent settlements,—made by persons
and families following the course of the Cohon-
goroota, seeking a valley no doubt which would
equal the Shenandoah. And as they found the
upper Potomac unpromising for settlement, ow-
ing to the rugged country along its course—they
eagerly looked for some better country;—and in
the Valley extending up the Great Capon and
South Branch and Patterson’s Creek they en-
tered upon what they called the “Tomahawk” or
“Squatters Right,” and began to settle up those
promising sections; and lived by their own com-
munity laws. They, however, were soon discov-
ered;—and “hunters and trappers” gave glowing
accounts of the new country and new people.
They were within the jurisdiction of the Freder-
ick County government; and we find them often
at the county seat, asking for aid to build
“Forts,” open roads, and for appointment of
Dep. Sheriffs, etc. This new roadway to those
settlements is easily traced from the Courthouse
in a northwest direction to the head of “Indian
Creek” (“Indian Hollow”) to “Hog Creek,” then
out to the “Sand Mountains”—along “any acces-
sible Valley to the Gap in the great mountain,”
and beyond this to the mouth of Great Capon—
No mention is made of any landowner after
leaving Back Creek, until the route touches the
entrance to Capon Valley. From the Courthouse
to Back Creek, the names of land owners are
given, so that the route is easily located. From
Great Capon westward, no name appears. But
mention is made of certain settlements through
which the route is to take,—to end at the mouth

.
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of South Branch, where it passes through the
lands of Garret, Reese and others, to where the
road leaves the river ford (meaning the Poto-
mac) going out to the southwest. Having thus
briefly touched the general direction of this new
road,—we may add that this direction was fol-
lowed by those who opened the way for better
communication between the lower valley and
those sections West of the Great mountains. By
reference to the minutes of the Courts subse-
quent to the first order made to open this road—
we find within three years the report from the
Commissioners shows the road opened, and al-
lowances made in Tobacco to the Commissioners
and other persons for their services. No land-
owner coming for damages. It appears this new
road was of such use when opened, that its fame
as an important highway was soon established.
We find that George Washington was in Win-
chester 1753, on his way to the French Authori-
ties along our western boundaries,—enquiring for
a way to reach the vicinity of “Will’s Creek,”
that would be more direct than the route North
of the Cohongoroota. Fortunately the youthful
Washington was much given to writing notes—
not only of surveys he made—but of himself and
the many incidents occurring on such expeditions
he was then making. Throughout his eventful
life, he was ever ready with his pen to note much
that has become historically interesting. Wash-
ington’s “Journal” fixes the date of his arrival
in Winchester on the occasion of the incident
mentioned; and from it the author will collect
much to explain the object of his seeking. The
Journal of the Governor’s Council, and Acts of
the old General Assembly of that period,—afford
much more information on the necessity of this
expedition. As mentioned in a former Chapter,
the English Government claimed the country
from the Atlantic to the Pacific;—and Virginia
claimed within her boundaries the territory West
of the Potomac; and Old Frederick claimed a
large portion of the western country. The Jour-
nal of the Council shows that many persons ask-
ed for an incorporation of the “Ohio Company”
authorizing them to locate on lands West of the
Ohio. The petition was denied;—but a grant
was secured from the Crown for the location of
settlements on any lands between the Ohio and
Mississippi River not to exceed 700,000 acres; as
settlers were located, same to be reported to the
General Council at Williamsburg, where proper
record was made in what we to-day would call
the Land Office. The “Statutes at Large” refer
to these grants, and mention Acts of the Assem-
bly creating laws for their government. Prior to
this period, it was well known that the French
from their seat of Colonial Government in Louis-

iana, were pushing up the Mississippi Valley, and
making treaties with the notable Indian tribes,
enabling them to fix strong outposts at St. Louis
and along the Lake region. England began to
resent these encroachments of the French; and
empowered the Governor of Virginia (Dinwid-
die) in 1752, to take the proper course through
the Councils of the Virginia Colony, to notify
the French settlers and commandants of their
outposts if found, within her boundaries,—that
England’s claim had not been surrendered to
any of the territory in question; and such settlers
would be subjected to the laws of the Colony of
Virginia; and that all armed forces must im-
mediately withdraw, together with all Indian al-
lies,—excepting such tribes as chose to make peace
Treaty with the Governor and his Council,—sub-
ject to approval of his Majesty King of Eng-
land, etc. So we find the General Assembly of
Virginia diligently at work in the next session,
considering plans to protect the frontier people.
The fur traders filed complaints of depredations
of the French and Indians on the Virginia set-
tlement. The Assembly promptly authorized the
Governor to send by proper persons, formal no-
tice to the French outposts, of the Acts of the
Assembly. The governor entrusted this import-
ant work to young George Washington, who held
a commission as Major of Militia in the Virginia
lines. To Major Washington's Journal, we are
indebted for informatian of dates, etc. “We
started from Williamsburg the last day of Oct,
1753, came to Alexandria and thence to Win-
chester where horses were supplied and baggage
and other needs were packed.” This was con-
sidered at that period the “outposts” of the Vir-
ginia villages. The Redman still held out for
his rights in mountain regions to the West; and
it was natural that the youthful Envoy should
enquire of those who might know, the easiest
and safest route leading from Winchester to
Will's Creek Station, then a trappers fort or
Lodge. We find the expedition fully made up
at Winchester, and ready for their start on this
hazardous work. This entry is made in the
Journal;— “On Ye 17th day of Ye Month of
Novemo,—the party consists of one guide and
packer, one Indian interpeter, one French inter-
peter, and four gentlemen.” Strange to say no
mention in this entry in his Journal appears of
the names of any of this party. Later on, be-
fore the completion of this expedition, he men-
tions frequently—“Gist, and “Van-braam” as the
guide and French “interpeter,” while he was at
the French fort holding Council with the Com-
mandant “M.de St. Pierre.” This Mr. Gist was
the guide certainly at the French fort, and on his
return down the river to Venango after six days
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hardships, and further on to the Alleghany River,
must have been the guide from start to finish,
Who composed the expedition no mention is
made. Tradition has it, that young Dan Morgan
had just arrived in town from the western set-
tlement on the South Branch—as a driver of a
pack for the fur mem offered his services to
Washington as a guide, and was accepted,—and
it was on this perilous journey that the future
Generals saw in each other the traits that made
strong ties between them when they encountered
more perilous times. The author will postpone
further mention of the expedition for succeeding
Chapters. He only presents the aforesaid inci-
dents, to show the wisdom of those who selected
the route to the outlying settlements. Washing-
ton frequently mentioned certain points seen on
his way to the mouth of the South Branch, and
the easy crossings of the Sandy Mountains, and
safe fords over the mountain streams. He was
pleased to note in his Journal that “the skill of
the engineer manifested itself along the entire
route.” He makes a note in his Journal while
at Will’s Creek Station, “that a goodly number
of very sturdy settlers are building houses at
this point, and that this should be encouraged
by better protection in the erection of a fort
with stockades; as Indian tribes were crossing
this way from the ‘Susqeuhannas’ to the Hunt-
ing grounds on the upper waters, and in case
they would attack the settlements without this
protection they would have no means of escape,
and must suffer massacres.” Fort Cumberland
was erected at this point within the following
year, through the joint efforts of Maryland and
Virginia. This road became useful in transport-
ing supplies to the Militia who occupied this
fort. The Companies being made up at Win-
chester, marched over this road, which later on
was known as Braddock’s Road, by reason of
his army taking their line of march to meet the
foe, and returning by the same road after their
disaster on the Monongalia. This road was in-
tersected by the Pack Horse Road, just before
its entrance of the Gap leading to Great Capon,
and known at this writing as Bloomery Gap,
Pack Horse Road is still pointed out, and became
what was afterwards called the Old Baltimore
Road. The Old Braddock Road in time had its
general course changed somewhat by the con-
struction of the North Frederick Turnpike, which
was Chartered in 1854, one of the principal chang-
es being near Winchester, where the new route
abandoned the “Indian Hollow Route to Hog
Creek”—to afford facilities of access to the mar-
kets of the better and more thickly settled sec-
tion. Thus we find historic Indian Hollow as
sparsely settled at this writing, as it was one

hundred and fifty years ago; and very few of
the good dwellers of that section ever think of
the stirring events that one time made the place
more famous than any other section.

The author has given this roadway more prom-
inence than can be given to many others. It
seems appropriate, however, to mention another
roadway—leading from the county seat to the
southwestward. At the March term, 1745, an
order was entered, appointing Samuel Glass, Na-
thaniel Cartmell, Vance Marks, Paul Froman
and others “to lay out the best and nearest route
to the County seat, and mark the way through
the big timbers, said road to commence at Fro-
man’s Run on Cedar Creek, pass by the Cartmell
Springs at the head of Opequon,—and thence to
the County seat.” At a subsequent term, the re-
port from the Commissioners was confirmed.
This report mentions a road being made “on
the Trail from the head of Cedar Creek across
the mountains to the heads of the South Branch;”
and recommends that a juncture should be made
between the two, the Court makes no minute but
the simple order confirming the report. Whether
this juncture was formed then is not known; but
in after years the two sections were connected
by these roads; and armies marched over them
as they did over the road to the mouth of the
South Branch. The fact is established by the
language of the Commissioners in reports in both
cases, that settlers at both ends of the South
Branch were seeking a way through the moun-
tains to the county seat of the old County about
the same period. The old road established by
the order 1745, leading from Winchester to the
upper Cedar Creek Country, was for many years
called the Cartmell Road. It never became a
highway noted for its smooth surface; but had
some renown for its long stretches through shady
forests and over clear streams coming from the
nearby mountain springs. In 1851 the Cedar
Creek Turnpike Company was chartered, grant-
ing them the right to construct a turnpike from
a point on the Valley Turnpike two miles South
of Winchester, to Cedar Creek. Their engineers
followed very closely the old route laid out in
1745,—thus showing that the early settlers pos-
sessed considerable knowledge for locating roads.
This applies to hundreds of other roads, many
of the best public roads travelled to-day are over
the very routes laid out one hundred and fifty
years ago. For instance, the roads leading from
the center valley to the gaps in the Blue Ridge,
can be traced over the exact old route for miles.
As the population increased, there was demand
for more roads; and as they became so numerous,
—the author will group them, giving name of
new road—and in some cases names of overseers.
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of old roads. These references can be followed
up easily by those who may look into the route
taken from localities named, and may thus identi-
fy some that have peculiar interest. As will be
seen in the grouping of these roads, the spirit
of improvement prevailed to a great extent.
The list shows the number of roads opened in
the early part of the Eighteenth Century to have
been very great; and then in the latter part of
the same century, beginning with the period
of the trying time of the Revolutionary War, and
during the reconstruction period thereafter, the
same spirit is seen. Beginning at the March term
1788, closing Oct. 1789—a little over eighteen
months, about fifty new and difficult roads were
opened and put in condition for travel, and no
complaint of high taxes or burdens. This is in
marked contrast with this period where we have
not an average of two new roads in any year;
and there seems to be more discussion, and ef-
fort made to keep the roads in repair, than the
fathers spent in the Eighteenth Century to con-
struct them in the first instance. They had no
road plows, stone crushers, or any other road
machinery. They had to hew their way through
the virgin forests, make fords over difficult
streams—sometimes erecting rude bridges. They
knew nothing of the vast resources enjoyed by
the succeeding generations. We will see later
on that the fathers not only excelled in making
roads to open communication with all the set-
tlements, but they developed the country along
other great lines. While studying the question
of roads of the Eighteenth Century it may be
well at this point to mention another class of
roads made in the early part of the Nineteenth
Century. Two great thoroughfares are shown
in this class, both of which are replete with his-
toric interest, both applying for charters about
the same time, 1830-31; the one sweeping through
the great valley with its McAdamized track,—
forming a cemented bed, the limestone on either
side throughout its entire length of one hundred
miles, furnishing material for the concrete. This
was called the Valley Turnpike. However, this
road was shut off, as will be seen, and required
to wait for several years. Its name has gone
into every Hamlet in every State in this broad
land. This was the way the Southrons came,
when their army was organizing at Harper’s
Ferry in 1861. Battalions and army corps,
marched and counter marched along this great
highway, until its name became familiar in a
million homes. This Turnpike was not author-
ized by law until March 24th, 1838, though the
charter for its right to construct the road was
in the batch of public improvements when the
charter was granted the N. W. T. P. March 17,

1831; so we find this Charter slept for seven
years in the dusty files of bills and petitions in
the Secretary’s office.

The long preamble accompanying the petition
sent to the General Assembly recites, “that the
proposed route for the Pike would take the gen-
eral course of a great Stage Road running from
Winchester via Staunton to the Tennessee Roads.
This “Big Road,” having been the travel way
for a great many years for the wagon line of
commerce from Baltimore to Knoxville and other
points in Tennessee,” previous to the Valley
Turnpike period, this “Big Road” as it was gen-
erally called, had local names for its long stretch-
es. The first, from Winchester, ended at Stover's
or Funkstown (latterly Strasburg), crossing the
Opecquon at Col. John Hite’s plantation ;—cross-
ing Cedar Creek at Major Briscoe’s lower ford,
and the Shenando River at the ford to Funk's
Mill, and was called the Briscoe Road. (Let the
reader look for further explanation at old Court
orders to find who the tihtables were along this
road,—who were required to work four days dur-
ing the year to keep up repairs. There he will
find names of land owners who peopled this sec-
tion and will also be able to follow the exact
route.)

From the Stoverstown point, the old road was
called the Funkstown and Branson’s Mill Road,
and the overseer for eleven miles was George
Bowman, who held his important office for many
years. From Woodstock the old roadway held
to the high ground; and from the best informa-
tion obtained on this point, old residents claim
that the Pike followed the old route to'Mt. Jack-
son. At this point, some material changes were
made to gratify the owners of the celebrated
river bottom land. Information on this point may
be obtained by examination of the records of
Shenandoah County. All the way to this river
point, the roadway has held to the most fertile
part of the Valley, bridging streams from the
Opecquon—over Cedar Creek—winding its way
along the river and over “Fisher’s Hill,” through
the “Narrow Passage.” The whole route affords
interest to the traveler. Tourists from other
States have enjoyed the traverse of this far-
famed road since the war period; and at this
writing no summer day passes that the Automo-
bile is not seen on this Pike, whirling along—
passing the front gate of the author’s home,.

The other great thoroughfare, is the highway
leading from Winchester, northwesterly to the
Ohio River. It secured a Charter March 19,
1831, after many years had been frittered away
in efforts to defeat this measure. The first effort
to secure a Charter was made in 1819, when a
general law was enacted de<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>